



**California State Board of Pharmacy**  
400 R Street, Suite 4070, Sacramento, CA 95814  
Phone (916) 445-5014  
Fax (916) 327-6308

STATE AND CONSUMER SERVICES AGENCY  
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS  
ARNOLD SCHWARZENEGGER, GOVERNOR

Contact Person: Paul Riches (916) 445-5014

## **LEGISLATION & REGULATION COMMITTEE**

**March 30, 2004**  
**Department of Consumer Affairs**  
**400 R Street, Suite 4070**  
**Sacramento, CA 95814**  
**10:30 a.m. – 1:30 p.m.**

This committee meeting is open to the public and is held in a barrier-free facility in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act. Any person with a disability who requires a disability-related modification or accommodation in order to participate in the public meeting may make a request for such modification or accommodation by contacting Candy Place at telephone number (916) 445-5014, at least 5 business days prior to the meeting.

Opportunities are provided to the public to address the committee on each agenda item. Board members who are not on the committee may be attending and may comment on the committee's agenda.

- 
- A. Call to Order** **10:30 a.m.**
  - B. Review of 2004 Legislation Impacting the Practice of Pharmacy for Action by the Board.**
  - C. Regulation Update.**
  - D. Public Suggestions for Future Regulation Changes.**
  - E. Review of the Committee's Strategic Plan Update.**
  - F. Comments from the Public on Items Not on the Agenda.**
  - G. Setting next meeting date.**

**Adjournment** **1:30 p.m.**

**Meeting materials will be posted on the board's website on or before March 26, 2004.**

**Blank**

**Memorandum**

To: Legislation and Regulation Committee

Date: March 24, 2004

From: Paul Riches  
Chief of Legislation and Regulation

Subject: Legislation Update

**BOARD SPONSORED LEGISLATION**

**Senate Bill 1307 (Figueroa)**

This bill is sponsored by the board to improve the licensing of wholesalers and the safety of wholesale transactions. The board approved draft legislation at its January 2004 meeting with the following principal elements:

- Require pedigrees on all wholesale transactions effective January 1, 2007.
- Restrict the wholesale transactions that can be made by a pharmacy.
- Establish per occurrence cite and fine authority for specified wholesale violations.
- Create a designation for closed pharmacy.
- Require wholesalers to post a \$100,000 surety bond to secure fines and penalties.
- Require all non-resident wholesalers to be licensed by the board.
- Prohibit the common ownership of a wholesaler and a closed pharmacy.

Staff and the author have been in active discussions with wholesale industry representatives and have conceptual agreement on the major issues. Industry representatives have focused on extending the implementation date for the pedigree requirement and eliminating the prohibition on common ownership of a wholesaler and a closed pharmacy. Language will be added to the bill to allow the board to extend implementation of the pedigree requirement for up to one year if needed to allow full implementation of an RFID system for pedigrees. This timeline matches the expected rollout of the RFID system in the drug wholesale industry. There is conceptual agreement to replace the ownership prohibition with strict transaction restrictions for closed pharmacies and stiffer penalties for their violation. These provisions will be supplemented by provisions requiring wholesalers to perform reasonable “due diligence” to ensure that their closed pharmacy customers are engaged in legitimate business. The bill will be amended with such intent language for its next hearing while the details are negotiated and language can be drafted. Attached to this memo is a set of amendments that will be added to the bill for its next legislative hearing.

### **Senate Bill 1913 (Business and Professions Committee)**

This bill contains numerous provisions sponsored by the board to make technical and non-controversial changes to pharmacy law. A copy of the bill is attached for your reference.

### **2004 LEGISLATION RELATED TO PHARMACY**

The committee will be considering numerous bills introduced in the 2004 legislative session at this meeting. Copies of the staff analysis and the bills are included in this packet for your reference during those deliberations. Also included is a chart with the bills of interest that have been introduced. Those bills in shaded rows were analyzed by staff for consideration by the board. The other bills listed are potentially of interest to the pharmacy community.

**Board of Pharmacy**  
**Amendments to SB 1307 (As Introduced)**  
**March 22, 2004**

Add Section 4021.5 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4021.5. (a) "Closed Pharmacy" means a pharmacy that purchases dangerous drugs for a limited patient population and is not open for dispensing dangerous drugs to the general population.  
(b) The Legislature intends to enact reasonable "due diligence" requirements for wholesalers supplying a closed pharmacy.

Add Section 4034 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4034. (a) "Pedigree" means a record, in written or electronic form, containing information regarding each transaction involving a given dangerous drug, from sale by a manufacturer, through acquisition and sale by any wholesaler, until final sale to a pharmacy or other person furnishing, administering or dispensing the dangerous drug. A pedigree shall include:  
(1) The source of the dangerous drug, including the name, the state license number (including a California license number, if available), and principal address of the source.  
(2) The amount of the dangerous drug, its dosage form and strength, the date of the transaction, the invoice number, container size, number of containers, expiration date(s), and lot number(s) of the dangerous drug.  
(3) The business name, address and, if appropriate, the state license number (including a California license number, if available) of each owner of the dangerous drug, its shipping information, including the name and address of each person certifying delivery or receipt of the dangerous drug;  
(4) A certification, under penalty of perjury, from the a responsible party of the source of the dangerous drug that the information contained in the pedigree is true and accurate.  
(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2007.

Amend Section 4043 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4043. "Wholesaler" means and includes every person who acts as a wholesale, non-resident wholesaler, merchant, broker, jobber, customs broker, reverse distributor, or agent, who sells for resale, or negotiates for distribution, or takes possession of, any drug or device included in Section 4022. Unless otherwise authorized by law, a wholesaler may not store, warehouse, or authorize the storage or warehousing of drugs with any person or at any location not licensed by the board.

Add Section 4126.5 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4126.5. (a) A pharmacy may only furnish dangerous drugs as follows:  
(1) To the wholesaler or manufacturer from whom the dangerous drugs were purchased.  
(2) To a licensed reverse distributor.  
(3) To another pharmacy or wholesaler to alleviate temporary shortages that could result in the denial of healthcare.  
(4) To a patient.  
(5) To a provider of health care authorized to purchase dangerous drugs that is not a pharmacy.  
(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a violation of this section by either a closed pharmacy or a person engaged in a prohibited transaction with a closed pharmacy may subject

the persons who committed the violation to a fine not to exceed the amount specified in Section 125.9 for each occurrence pursuant to a citation issued by the board.

(c) For notifications made on and after January 1, 2005, the Franchise Tax Board, upon notification by the board of a final judgment in an action brought under this section, shall subtract the amount of the fine from any tax refunds or lottery winnings due to the person who is a defendant in the action using the offset authority under Section 12419.5 of the Government Code, as delegated by the Controller, and the processes as established by the Franchise Tax Board for this purpose. That amount shall be forwarded to the board for deposit in the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund.

Amend Section 4160 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4160. (a) No person shall act as a wholesaler of any dangerous drug or dangerous device unless he or she has obtained a license from the board.

(b) Upon approval by the board and the payment of the required fee, the board shall issue a license to the applicant.

~~(b) No selling or distribution outlet, located in this state, of any out-of-state manufacturer, that has not obtained a license from the board, that sells or distributes only the dangerous drugs or the dangerous devices of that manufacturer, shall sell or distribute any dangerous drug or dangerous device in this state without obtaining a wholesaler's license from the board.~~

(c) A separate license shall be required for each place of business owned or operated by a wholesaler. Each license shall be renewed annually and shall not be transferable.

(d) The board shall not issue or renew a wholesaler license until the wholesaler designates an exemptee-in-charge and notifies the board in writing of the identity and license number of that exemptee. The exemptee-in-charge shall be responsible for the wholesaler's compliance with state and federal laws governing wholesalers. Each wholesaler shall designate, and notify the board of, a new exemptee-in-charge within 30 days of the date that the prior exemptee-in-charge ceases to be exemptee-in-charge. A pharmacist may be designated as the exemptee-in-charge.

(e) For purposes of this section, "exemptee-in-charge" means a person granted a certificate of exemption pursuant to Section 4053, or a registered pharmacist, who is the supervisor or manager of the facility.

(f) A drug manufacturer licensed pursuant to Section 111615 of the Health and Safety Code that only ships dangerous drugs of its own manufacture is exempt from this section.

Repeal Section 4161 of the Business and Professions Code:

~~4161. (a) No person shall act as an out-of-state manufacturer or wholesaler of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices doing business in this state who has not obtained an out-of-state dangerous drug or dangerous device distributor's license from the board. Persons not located in this state selling or distributing dangerous drugs or dangerous devices in this state only through a licensed wholesaler are not required to be licensed as an out-of-state manufacturer or wholesaler or have an out-of-state dangerous drug or dangerous device distributor's license.~~

~~(b) Applications for an out-of-state dangerous drug or dangerous device distributor's license shall be made on a form furnished by the board. The board may require any information as the board deems is reasonably necessary to carry out the purposes of the section. The license shall be renewed annually.~~

~~(c) The Legislature, by enacting this section, does not intend a license issued to any out-of-state manufacturer or wholesaler pursuant to this section to change or affect the tax liability imposed by Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 23501) of Part 11 of Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code on any out-of-state manufacturer or wholesaler.~~

~~(d) The Legislature, by enacting this section, does not intend a license issued to any out of state manufacturer or wholesaler pursuant to this section to serve as any evidence that the out of state manufacturer or wholesaler is doing business within this state.~~

Add Section 4161 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4161. (a) Any person located outside this state that ships, mails, or delivers dangerous drugs or dangerous devices into this state shall be considered a nonresident wholesaler.

(b) All nonresident wholesalers shall be licensed by the board.

(c) A separate license shall be required for each place of business owned or operated by a nonresident wholesaler. Each license shall be renewed annually and shall not be transferable.

(d) An applicant for a nonresident wholesaler license shall disclose to the board the location, names, and titles of:

(1) Its agent for service of process in this state.

(2) Principal corporate officers as specified by the board, if any.

(3) General partners as specified by the board, if any..

(4) Its owner(s) if the applicant is not a corporation or partnership.

(e) A report containing the information required in subdivision (d) shall be made within 30 days of any change of ownership, office, corporate officer, or partner.

(f) All nonresident wholesalers shall comply with all directions and requests for information from the regulatory or licensing agency of the state in which it is licensed as well as with all requests for information made by the board.

(g) All nonresident wholesalers shall maintain records of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices sold, traded or transferred to persons in this state so that the records are in a readily retrievable form.

(h) The nonresident wholesaler shall maintain, at all times, a valid unexpired license, permit, or registration to conduct the wholesaler in compliance with the laws of the state in which it is a resident. Applications for a nonresident wholesaler license shall include a license verification from the licensing authority in the applicant's state of residence.

(i) The board shall not issue or renew a nonresident wholesaler license until the nonresident wholesaler designates an exemptee-in-charge and notifies the board in writing of the identity and license number of that exemptee.

(j) The exemptee-in-charge shall be responsible for the nonresident wholesaler's compliance with state and federal laws governing wholesalers. Each nonresident wholesaler shall designate, and notify the board of, a new exemptee-in-charge within 30 days of the date that the prior exemptee-in-charge ceases to be exemptee-in-charge.

(k) For purposes of this section, "exemptee-in-charge" means a person granted a certificate of exemption pursuant to Section 4053 or a registered pharmacist who is the supervisor or manager of the facility.

(l) The registration fee shall be the fee specified in subdivision (f) of Section 4400.

Repeal Section 4162 of the Business and Professions Code:

~~4162. (a) No person acting as principal or agent for any out of state manufacturer, wholesaler, or pharmacy who has not obtained a license from the board, and who sells or distributes dangerous drugs or dangerous devices in this state that are not obtained through a wholesaler who has obtained a license, pursuant to this chapter, or that are not obtained through a selling or distribution outlet of an out of state manufacturer that is licensed as a wholesaler, pursuant to this chapter, shall conduct the business of selling or distributing dangerous drugs or dangerous devices within this state without registering with the board.~~

~~(b) Registration of persons under this section shall be made on a form furnished by the board. The board may require any information as the board deems reasonably necessary to carry out the purposes of this section, including, but not limited to, the name and address of the registrant and the name and address of the manufacturer whose dangerous drugs or dangerous devices he or she is selling or distributing.~~

~~(c) The board may deny, revoke, or suspend the person's registration for any violation of this chapter or for any violation of Part 5 (commencing with Section 109875) of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code. The board may deny, revoke, or suspend the person's registration if the manufacturer, whose dangerous drugs or dangerous devices he or she is selling or distributing, violates any provision of this chapter or any provision of Part 5 (commencing with Section 109875) of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code. The registration shall be renewed annually.~~

Add Section 4162 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

(a) A wholesaler that applies to the board for a wholesaler license or the renewal of a wholesaler license must submit a surety bond of \$100,000 for each site to be licensed, or other equivalent means of security acceptable to the board, such as an irrevocable letter of credit, or a deposit in a trust account or financial institution, payable to the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund. The purpose of the surety bond is to secure payment of any administrative fine imposed by the board and any cost recovery ordered pursuant to Section 125.3.

(b) The board may make a claim against the bond if the licensee fails to pay a fine within 30 days of the issuance of the fine or costs become final. The board may make a claim against such bond or security until 1 year after the license ceases to be valid or until 60 days after any administrative or legal proceeding authorized which involves the licensee is concluded, including any appeal, whichever occurs later.

Amend Section 4163 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4163. (a) No manufacturer or wholesaler shall furnish any dangerous drugs or dangerous devices to any unauthorized persons.

(b) Dangerous drugs or dangerous devices shall be acquired from a person authorized by law to possess or furnish dangerous drugs or dangerous devices.

(c) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2007, and, as of January 1, 2007, is repealed.

4163. (a) No manufacturer or wholesaler shall furnish any dangerous drugs or dangerous devices to any unauthorized persons.

(b) Dangerous drugs or dangerous devices shall be acquired from a person authorized by law to possess or furnish dangerous drugs or dangerous devices.

(c) No person shall sell, trade, or transfer a dangerous drug or dangerous device without providing a pedigree.

(d) No person shall acquire a dangerous drug or dangerous device without receiving a pedigree.

(e) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2007.

Add Section 4163.5 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4163.5 The board may extend the date for compliance with the requirement for a pedigree as required by Section 4163 until January 1, 2008 if it determines that manufacturers, wholesalers, or pharmacies require additional time to implement electronic technologies to track the distribution of dangerous drugs within the state. A determination by the board to extend the

deadline for providing pedigrees shall not be subject to the requirements of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of the Government Code.

Amend Section 4164 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4164. All wholesalers licensed by the board ~~and all manufacturers who~~ that distribute controlled substances, dangerous drugs, or dangerous devices within or into this state shall report to the board all sales of dangerous drugs and controlled substances that are subject to abuse, as determined by the board.

Amend Section 4165 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4165. ~~(a) Any manufacturer wholesaler licensed by the board who sells or transfers any dangerous drug or dangerous device into this state or who receives, by sale or otherwise, any dangerous drug or dangerous device from any person in this state shall, on request, furnish an authorized officer of the law with all records or other documentation of that sale or transfer. (b) Any manufacturer who fails within a reasonable time, or refuses, to comply with subdivision (a), shall be subject to citation and a fine, an order of abatement, or both, pursuant to Section 125.9 and any regulations adopted by the board, in addition to any other remedy provided by law.~~

Amend Section 4166 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4166. (a) Any wholesaler ~~or other distributor~~ that uses the services of any carrier, including, but not limited to, the United States Postal Service or any common carrier, shall be liable for the security and integrity of any dangerous drugs or dangerous devices through that carrier until the drugs or devices are delivered to the transferee at its board-licensed premises.  
(b) Nothing in this section is intended to affect the liability of a wholesaler or other distributor for dangerous drugs or dangerous devices after their delivery to the transferee.

Add section 4168 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4168. A county or municipality shall not issue a business license for any establishment that requires a wholesaler license unless the establishment possesses a current wholesaler license issued by the board. For the purposes of this section, an "establishment" is defined as the licensee's physical location in the state of California.

Add Section 4169 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4169. (a) No person or entity shall:  
(1) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs in violation of Section 4163.  
(2) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs that the person knew or reasonably should have known were adulterated as defined in Health and Safety Code Division 104, Part 5, Chapter 6, Article 2.  
(3) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs that the person knew or reasonably should have known were misbranded as defined in Health and Safety Code Division 104, Part 5, Chapter 6, Article 3.  
(3) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs or dangerous devices after the beyond use date on the label.  
(4) Fail to maintain records of the acquisition or disposition of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices for at least three years.

- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a violation of this section may subject the person or entity that has committed the violation to a fine not to exceed the amount specified in Section 125.9 for each occurrence pursuant to a citation issued by the board.
- (c) For notifications made on and after January 1, 2005, the Franchise Tax Board, upon notification by the board of a final judgment in an action brought under this section, shall subtract the amount of the fine from any tax refunds or lottery winnings due to the person who is a defendant in the action using the offset authority under Section 12419.5 of the Government Code, as delegated by the Controller, and the processes as established by the Franchise Tax Board for this purpose. That amount shall be forwarded to the board for deposit in the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund.
- (d) This section shall become inoperative on January 1, 2007, and as of January 1, 2007 is repealed.

Add Section 4169 to the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4169. (a) No person or entity shall:
- (1) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs or dangerous devices at wholesale with a person or entity that is not licensed with the board as a wholesaler or pharmacy.
  - (2) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs that the person knew or reasonably should have known were adulterated as defined in Health and Safety Code Division 104, Part 5, Chapter 6, Article 2.
  - (3) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs that the person knew or reasonably should have known were misbranded as defined in Health and Safety Code Division 104, Part 5, Chapter 6, Article 3.
  - (3) Purchase, trade, sell or transfer dangerous drugs or dangerous devices after the beyond use date on the label.
  - (4) Fail to maintain records of the acquisition or disposition of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices for at least three years.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a violation of this section or of Section 4163 subdivisions (c) and (d) may subject the person or entity that has committed the violation to a fine not to exceed the amount specified in Section 125.9 for each occurrence pursuant to a citation issued by the board.
- (c) For notifications made on and after January 1, 2005, the Franchise Tax Board, upon notification by the board of a final judgment in an action brought under this section, shall subtract the amount of the fine from any tax refunds or lottery winnings due to the person who is a defendant in the action using the offset authority under Section 12419.5 of the Government Code, as delegated by the Controller, and the processes as established by the Franchise Tax Board for this purpose. That amount shall be forwarded to the board for deposit in the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund.
- (d) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2007.

Amend Section 4400 of the Business and Professions Code, to read:

4400. The amount of fees and penalties prescribed by this chapter, except as otherwise provided, is that fixed by the board according to the following schedule:
- (a) The fee for a nongovernmental pharmacy license shall be three hundred forty dollars (\$340) and may be increased to four hundred dollars (\$400).
  - (b) The fee for a nongovernmental pharmacy ~~or medical device retailer~~ annual renewal shall be one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175) and may be increased to two hundred fifty dollars (\$250).

- (c) The fee for the pharmacist application and examination shall be one hundred fifty-five dollars (\$155) and may be increased to one hundred eighty-five dollars (\$185).
- (d) The fee for regrading an examination shall be seventy-five dollars (\$75) and may be increased to eighty-five dollars (\$85). If an error in grading is found and the applicant passes the examination, the regrading fee shall be refunded.
- (e) The fee for a pharmacist license and biennial renewal shall be one hundred fifteen dollars (\$115) and may be increased to one hundred fifty dollars (\$150).
- (f) The fee for a wholesaler license and annual renewal shall be five hundred fifty dollars (\$550) and may be increased to six hundred dollars (\$600).
- (g) The fee for a hypodermic license and renewal shall be ninety dollars (\$90) and may be increased to one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125).
- (h) The fee for application and investigation for an exemptee license under Section 4053 shall be seventy-five dollars (\$75) and may be increased to one hundred dollars (\$100), except for a veterinary food-animal drug retailer exemptee, for whom the fee shall be one hundred dollars (\$100).
- (i) The fee for an exemptee license and annual renewal under Section 4053 shall be one hundred ten dollars (\$110) and may be increased to one hundred fifty dollars (\$150), except that the fee for the issuance of a veterinary food-animal drug retailer exemptee license shall be one hundred fifty dollars (\$150), for renewal one hundred ten dollars (\$110), which may be increased to one hundred fifty dollars (\$150), and for filing a late renewal fifty-five dollars (\$55).
- (j) The fee for a nonresident wholesaler's ~~an out-of-state drug distributor's~~ license and annual renewal issued pursuant to Section 4120 shall be five hundred fifty dollars (\$550) and may be increased to six hundred dollars (\$600).
- (k) The fee for registration and annual renewal of providers of continuing education shall be one hundred dollars (\$100) and may be increased to one hundred thirty dollars (\$130).
- (l) The fee for evaluation of continuing education courses for accreditation shall be set by the board at an amount not to exceed forty dollars (\$40) per course hour.
- (m) The fee for evaluation of applications submitted by graduates of foreign colleges of pharmacy or colleges of pharmacy not recognized by the board shall be one hundred sixty-five dollars (\$165) and may be increased to one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175).
- (n) The fee for an intern license or extension shall be sixty-five dollars (\$65) and may be increased to seventy-five dollars (\$75). The fee for transfer of intern hours or verification of licensure to another state shall be fixed by the board not to exceed twenty dollars (\$20).
- (o) The board may, by regulation, provide for the waiver or refund of the additional fee for the issuance of a certificate where the certificate is issued less than 45 days before the next succeeding regular renewal date.
- (p) The fee for the reissuance of any license, or renewal thereof, that has been lost or destroyed or reissued due to a name change is thirty dollars (\$30).
- (q) The fee for the reissuance of any license, or renewal thereof, that must be reissued because of a change in the information, is sixty dollars (\$60) and may be increased to one hundred dollars (\$100).
- (r) It is the intent of the Legislature that, in setting fees pursuant to this section, the board shall seek to maintain a reserve in the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund equal to approximately one year's operating expenditures.
- (s) The fee for any applicant for a clinic permit is three hundred forty dollars (\$340) and may be increased to four hundred dollars (\$400) for each permit. The annual fee for renewal of the permit is one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175) and may be increased to two hundred fifty dollars (\$250) for each permit.
- (t) The board shall charge a fee for the processing and issuance of a registration to a pharmacy technician and a separate fee for the biennial renewal of the registration. The registration fee

shall be twenty-five dollars (\$25) and may be increased to fifty dollars (\$50). The biennial renewal fee shall be twenty-five dollars (\$25) and may be increased to fifty dollars (\$50).

(u) The fee for a veterinary food-animal drug retailer license shall be four hundred dollars (\$400). The annual renewal fee for a veterinary food-animal drug retailer shall be two hundred fifty dollars (\$250).

(v) The fee for issuance of a retired license pursuant to Section 4200.5 shall be thirty dollars (\$30).

**Introduced by Committee on Business and Professions (Senators Figueroa (Chair), Brulte, Cedillo, Machado, Murray, and Vincent)**

March 17, 2004

---

---

An act to amend Sections 28, 1274, 2041, 2462, 2470.14, 2902, 2915.7, 2936, 4005, 4030, 4059.5, 4076, 4081, 4101, 4114, 4200, 4409, 4980.395, 4990.4, 4995.26, 4996.18, and 4996.20 of, and to add Sections 4026.5, 4107, 4208, and 4209 to, the Business and Professions Code, and to amend Sections 11159.1, 11207, and 111625 of the Health and Safety Code, relating to professions.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 1913, as introduced, Committee on Business and Professions. Professions.

(1) Existing law provides for the licensing and regulation of psychologists, clinical social workers, and marriage and family therapists. Existing law requires a person applying for licensure as a psychologist, clinical social worker, or marriage and family therapist on and after January 1, 1987, to have completed specified coursework or training in child abuse assessment and reporting from certain types of institutions.

This bill would revise the types of educational institutions from which the training may be obtained.

(2) Existing law provides for the regulation of clinical laboratories. Existing law requires a clinical laboratory to send to persons submitting cytological samples for evaluation information letters on all cases of dysplasia, and requires that, when a clinical lab determines that an abnormality of dysplasia has been identified for a patient for whom the



1 ~~www.psychboard.ca.gov, by calling (insert appropriate regional~~  
2 ~~number) or (insert appropriate telephone number)~~  
3 ~~1-866-503-3221, or by writing to the following address:~~

4  
5 Board of Psychology  
6 1422 Howe Avenue, ~~Ste.~~ Suite 22  
7 Sacramento, California 95825-3236”  
8

9 *A licensee shall post the Notice to Consumers in English as well*  
10 *as in any other language(s) spoken by their patients during*  
11 *therapy.*

12 SEC. 9. Section 4005 of the Business and Professions Code  
13 is amended to read:

14 4005. (a) The board may adopt rules and regulations, not  
15 inconsistent with the laws of this state, as may be necessary for the  
16 protection of the public. Included therein shall be the right to adopt  
17 rules and regulations as follows: for the proper and more effective  
18 enforcement and administration of this chapter; pertaining to the  
19 practice of pharmacy; relating to the sanitation of persons and  
20 establishments licensed under this chapter; pertaining to  
21 establishments wherein any drug or device is compounded,  
22 prepared, furnished, or dispensed; providing for standards of  
23 minimum equipment for establishments licensed under this  
24 chapter; ~~and~~ pertaining to the sale of drugs by or through any  
25 mechanical device; *and relating to pharmacy practice experience*  
26 *necessary for licensure as a pharmacist.*

27 (b) Notwithstanding any provision of this chapter to the  
28 contrary, the board may adopt regulations permitting the  
29 dispensing of drugs or devices in emergency situations, and  
30 permitting dispensing of drugs or devices pursuant to a  
31 prescription of a person licensed to prescribe in a state other than  
32 California where the person, if licensed in California in the same  
33 licensure classification would, under California law, be permitted  
34 to prescribe drugs or devices and where the pharmacist has first  
35 interviewed the patient to determine the authenticity of the  
36 prescription.

37 (c) The board may, by rule or regulation, adopt, amend, or  
38 repeal rules of professional conduct appropriate to the  
39 establishment and maintenance of a high standard of integrity and  
40 dignity in the profession. Every person who holds a license issued



1 by the board shall be governed and controlled by the rules of  
2 professional conduct adopted by the board.

3 (d) The adoption, amendment, or repeal by the board of these  
4 or any other board rules or regulations shall be in accordance with  
5 Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of  
6 Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.

7 SEC. 10. Section 4026.5 is added to the Business and  
8 Professions Code, to read:

9 4026.5. “Good standing” means a license issued by the board  
10 that is unrestricted by disciplinary action taken pursuant to Chapter  
11 5 (commencing with Section 11500) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title  
12 2 of the Government Code.

13 SEC. 11. Section 4030 of the Business and Professions Code  
14 is amended to read:

15 4030. “Intern pharmacist” means a person ~~registered with the~~  
16 ~~board pursuant to Section 4200 who shall have completed the~~  
17 ~~educational requirements as determined by the board~~ *issued a*  
18 *license pursuant to Section 4208.*

19 SEC. 12. Section 4059.5 of the Business and Professions  
20 Code is amended to read:

21 4059.5. (a) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter,  
22 dangerous drugs or dangerous devices may only be ordered by an  
23 entity licensed by the board and ~~must~~ *shall* be delivered to the  
24 licensed premises and signed for and received by ~~the~~  
25 ~~pharmacist in charge or, in his or her absence, another pharmacist~~  
26 ~~designated by the pharmacist in charge~~ *a pharmacist*. Where a  
27 licensee is permitted to operate through an exemptee, the  
28 exemptee may sign for and receive the delivery.

29 (b) A dangerous drug or dangerous device transferred, sold, or  
30 delivered to ~~any~~ *a* person within this state shall be transferred,  
31 sold, or delivered only to an entity licensed by the board, to a  
32 manufacturer, or to an ultimate user or the ultimate user’s agent.

33 (c) Notwithstanding subdivisions (a) and (b), deliveries to a  
34 hospital pharmacy may be made to a central receiving location  
35 within the hospital. However, the dangerous drugs or dangerous  
36 devices shall be delivered to the licensed pharmacy premises  
37 within one working day following receipt by the hospital, and the  
38 pharmacist on duty at that time shall immediately inventory the  
39 drugs or devices.



1 (d) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a dangerous  
2 drug or dangerous device may be ordered by and provided to a  
3 manufacturer, physician, dentist, podiatrist, optometrist,  
4 veterinarian, or laboratory, or a physical therapist acting within the  
5 scope of his or her license. ~~Any~~ A person or entity receiving  
6 delivery of ~~any a dangerous drugs or devices~~ *drug or device*, or  
7 a duly authorized representative of the person or entity, shall sign  
8 for the receipt of the dangerous ~~drugs~~ *drug* or dangerous ~~devices~~  
9 *device*.

10 (e) A dangerous drug or dangerous device shall not be  
11 transferred, sold, or delivered to ~~any~~ a person outside this state,  
12 whether foreign or domestic, unless the transferor, seller, or  
13 deliverer does so in compliance with the laws of this state and of  
14 the United States and of the state or country to which the drugs or  
15 devices are to be transferred, sold, or delivered. Compliance with  
16 the laws of this state and the United States and of the state or  
17 country to which the drugs or devices are to be delivered shall  
18 include, but not be limited to, determining that the recipient of the  
19 drugs or devices is authorized by law to receive the drugs or  
20 devices.

21 (f) *Notwithstanding subdivision (a), a pharmacy may take*  
22 *delivery of dangerous drugs and dangerous devices when the*  
23 *pharmacy is closed and no pharmacist is on duty if all of the*  
24 *following requirements are met:*

25 (1) *The drugs are placed in a secure storage facility in the same*  
26 *building as the pharmacy.*

27 (2) *Only the pharmacist-in-charge or a pharmacist designated*  
28 *by the pharmacist-in-charge has access to the secure storage*  
29 *facility after dangerous drugs or dangerous devices have been*  
30 *delivered.*

31 (3) *The secure storage facility has a means of indicating*  
32 *whether it has been entered after dangerous drugs or dangerous*  
33 *devices have been delivered.*

34 (4) *The pharmacy maintains written policies and procedures*  
35 *for the delivery of dangerous drugs and dangerous devices to a*  
36 *secure storage facility.*

37 (5) *The agent delivering dangerous drugs and dangerous*  
38 *devices pursuant to this subdivision leaves documents indicating*  
39 *the name and amount of each dangerous drug or dangerous device*  
40 *delivered in the secure storage facility.*



1 *The pharmacy shall be responsible for the dangerous drugs and*  
2 *dangerous devices delivered to the secure storage facility. The*  
3 *pharmacy shall also be responsible for obtaining and maintaining*  
4 *records relating to the delivery of dangerous drugs and dangerous*  
5 *devices to a secure storage facility.*

6 SEC. 13. Section 4076 of the Business and Professions Code  
7 is amended to read:

8 4076. (a) A pharmacist—~~shall~~ *may* not dispense any  
9 prescription except in a container that meets the requirements of  
10 state and federal law and is correctly labeled with all of the  
11 following:

12 (1) Except where the prescriber or the certified nurse-midwife  
13 who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure or protocol  
14 described in Section 2746.51, the nurse practitioner who functions  
15 pursuant to a standardized procedure described in Section 2836.1,  
16 or protocol, or the physician assistant who functions pursuant to  
17 Section 3502.1 orders otherwise, either the manufacturer's trade  
18 name of the drug or the generic name and the name of the  
19 manufacturer. Commonly used abbreviations may be used.  
20 Preparations containing two or more active ingredients may be  
21 identified by the manufacturer's trade name or the commonly used  
22 name or the principal active ingredients.

23 (2) The directions for the use of the drug.

24 (3) The name of the patient or patients.

25 (4) The name of the prescriber—~~and~~ *or*, if applicable, the  
26 certified nurse-midwife who functions pursuant to a standardized  
27 procedure or protocol described in Section 2746.51, the nurse  
28 practitioner who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure  
29 described in Section 2836.1, or protocol, *a pharmacist who*  
30 *functions under a protocol as described in Section 4052*, or the  
31 physician assistant who functions pursuant to Section 3502.1.

32 (5) The date of issue.

33 (6) The name and address of the pharmacy, and prescription  
34 number or other means of identifying the prescription.

35 (7) The strength of the drug or drugs dispensed.

36 (8) The quantity of the drug or drugs dispensed.

37 (9) The expiration date of the effectiveness of the drug  
38 dispensed.



1 (10) The condition for which the drug was prescribed if  
2 requested by the patient and the condition is indicated on the  
3 prescription.

4 (11) (A) Commencing January 1, 2006, the physical  
5 description of the dispensed medication, including its color, shape,  
6 and any identification code that appears on the tablets or capsules,  
7 except as follows:

8 (i) Prescriptions dispensed by a veterinarian.

9 (ii) An exemption from the requirements of this paragraph  
10 shall be granted to a new drug for the first 120 days that the drug  
11 is on the market and for the 90 days during which the national  
12 reference file has no description on file.

13 (iii) Dispensed medications for which no physical description  
14 exists in any commercially available database.

15 (B) This paragraph applies to outpatient pharmacies only.

16 (C) The information required by this paragraph may be printed  
17 on an auxiliary label that is affixed to the prescription container.

18 (D) This paragraph shall not become operative if the board,  
19 prior to January 1, 2006, adopts regulations that mandate the same  
20 labeling requirements set forth in this paragraph.

21 (b) If a pharmacist dispenses a prescribed drug by means of a  
22 unit dose medication system, as defined by administrative  
23 regulation, for a patient in a skilled nursing, intermediate care, or  
24 other health care facility, the requirements of this section will be  
25 satisfied if the unit dose medication system contains the  
26 aforementioned information or the information is otherwise  
27 readily available at the time of drug administration.

28 (c) If a pharmacist dispenses a dangerous drug or device in a  
29 facility licensed pursuant to Section 1250 of the Health and Safety  
30 Code, it is not necessary to include on individual unit dose  
31 containers for a specific patient, the name of the certified  
32 nurse-midwife who functions pursuant to a standardized  
33 procedure or protocol described in Section 2746.51, the nurse  
34 practitioner who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure  
35 described in Section 2836.1, or protocol, *a pharmacist who*  
36 *functions under a protocol as described in Section 4052*, or the  
37 physician assistant who functions pursuant to Section 3502.1.

38 (d) If a pharmacist dispenses a prescription drug for use in a  
39 facility licensed pursuant to Section 1250 of the Health and Safety  
40 Code, it is not necessary to include the information required in



1 paragraph (11) of subdivision (a) when the prescription drug is  
2 administered to a patient by a person licensed under the Medical  
3 Practice Act (Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 2000)), the  
4 Nursing Practice Act (Chapter 6 (commencing with Section  
5 2700)), or the Vocational Nursing Practice Act (Chapter 6.5  
6 (commencing with Section 2840)), who is acting within his or her  
7 scope of practice.

8 SEC. 14. Section 4081 of the Business and Professions Code  
9 is amended to read:

10 4081. (a) All records of manufacture and of sale, acquisition,  
11 or disposition of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices shall be at  
12 all times during business hours open to inspection by authorized  
13 officers of the law, and shall be preserved for at least three years  
14 from the date of making. A current inventory shall be kept by every  
15 manufacturer, wholesaler, pharmacy, veterinary food-animal drug  
16 retailer, physician, dentist, podiatrist, veterinarian, laboratory,  
17 clinic, hospital, institution, or establishment holding a currently  
18 valid and unrevoked certificate, license, permit, registration, or  
19 exemption under Division 2 (commencing with Section 1200) of  
20 the Health and Safety Code or under Part 4 (commencing with  
21 Section 16000) of Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code  
22 who maintains a stock of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices.

23 (b) The owner, officer, and partner of any pharmacy,  
24 wholesaler, or veterinary food-animal drug retailer shall be jointly  
25 responsible, with the pharmacist-in-charge or ~~exemptee~~  
26 *exemptee-in-charge*, for maintaining the records and inventory  
27 described in this section.

28 (c) The pharmacist-in-charge or ~~exemptee~~ *exemptee-in-charge*  
29 shall not be criminally responsible for acts of the owner, officer,  
30 partner, or employee that violate this section and of which the  
31 pharmacist-in-charge or ~~exemptee~~ *exemptee-in-charge* had no  
32 knowledge, or in which he or she did not knowingly participate.

33 ~~(d) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2001.~~

34 SEC. 15. Section 4101 of the Business and Professions Code  
35 is amended to read:

36 4101. (a) ~~Any~~ A pharmacist who takes charge of, or acts as  
37 pharmacist-in-charge of a pharmacy or other entity licensed by the  
38 board, who terminates his or her employment at the pharmacy or  
39 other entity, shall notify the board within 30 days of the  
40 termination of employment.



1 (b) ~~Any exemptee who takes charge of, or acts as manager of,~~  
2 ~~An exemptee-in-charge of~~ a wholesaler or veterinary food-drug  
3 ~~animal food drug-animal~~ retailer, who terminates his or her  
4 employment at that entity shall notify the board within 30 days of  
5 the termination of employment.

6 ~~(c) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2001.~~

7 SEC. 16. Section 4107 is added to the Business and  
8 Professions Code, to read:

9 4107. (a) The board may not issue or, effective July 1, 2005,  
10 renew a site license, including, but not limited to, a license to  
11 conduct a wholesaler, pharmacy, veterinary food-animal drug  
12 retailer, to a facility located in a personal residence.

13 (b) The board may not issue more than one site license to a  
14 single premises except to issue a veterinary food-animal drug  
15 retailer license to a wholesaler or to issue a license to compound  
16 sterile injectable drugs to a pharmacy. For the purposes of this  
17 subdivision, “premises” means a location with its own address  
18 and an independent means of ingress and egress.

19 SEC. 17. Section 4114 of the Business and Professions Code  
20 is amended to read:

21 4114. (a) An intern pharmacist may perform ~~any activities~~  
22 ~~pertaining to the practice of pharmacy as the board may determine~~  
23 ~~by regulation. Whenever in this chapter the performance of an act~~  
24 ~~is restricted to a pharmacist, the act may be performed by an intern~~  
25 ~~pharmacist under the supervision of a pharmacist. The pharmacist~~  
26 ~~shall not supervise more than one intern pharmacist all functions~~  
27 ~~of a pharmacist at the discretion of and under the supervision of~~  
28 ~~a pharmacist whose license is in good standing with the board.~~

29 (b) A pharmacist may not supervise more than two intern  
30 pharmacists at any one time.

31 SEC. 18. Section 4200 of the Business and Professions Code  
32 is amended to read:

33 4200. (a) The board ~~shall~~ may license as a pharmacist, ~~and~~  
34 ~~issue a certificate to~~, any applicant who meets all the following  
35 requirements:

36 (1) Is at least 18 years of age.

37 (2) (A) Has graduated from a college of pharmacy or  
38 department of pharmacy of a university recognized by the board;  
39 or



1 (B) If the applicant graduated from a foreign pharmacy school,  
2 the *foreign-educated* applicant has ~~received a grade satisfactory to~~  
3 ~~the board on an examination designed to measure the equivalency~~  
4 ~~of foreign pharmacy education with that required of domestic~~  
5 ~~graduates been certified by the Foreign Pharmacy Graduate~~  
6 ~~Examination Committee.~~

7 (3) Has completed at least 150 semester units of collegiate  
8 study in the United States, or the equivalent thereof in a foreign  
9 country. No less than 90 of those semester units shall have been  
10 completed while in resident attendance at a school or college of  
11 pharmacy.

12 (4) Has earned at least a baccalaureate degree in a course of  
13 study devoted to the practice of pharmacy.

14 (5) Has ~~had carried~~ 1,500 hours of ~~pharmaceutical~~ *pharmacy*  
15 *practice* experience *or the equivalent* in accordance with  
16 ~~regulations adopted by the board Section 4209.~~

17 (A) ~~“Pharmaceutical experience,” constitutes service and~~  
18 ~~experience in a pharmacy under the personal supervision of a~~  
19 ~~pharmacist, and consists of service and experience predominantly~~  
20 ~~related to the selling of drugs, compounding physician’s~~  
21 ~~prescriptions, preparing pharmaceutical preparations, and keeping~~  
22 ~~records and making reports required under state and federal~~  
23 ~~statutes.~~

24 (B) ~~To be credited to the total number of hours required by this~~  
25 ~~subdivision, this experience shall have been obtained in~~  
26 ~~pharmacies and under conditions set forth by rule or regulation of~~  
27 ~~the board.~~

28 (6) Has passed a written and practical examination given by the  
29 board prior to December 31, 2003, or has passed the North  
30 American Pharmacist Licensure Examination and the Multi-State  
31 Pharmacy Jurisprudence Examination for California on or after  
32 January 1, 2004.

33 (b) Proof of the qualifications of an applicant for licensure as  
34 a pharmacist, shall be made to the satisfaction of the board and  
35 shall be substantiated by affidavits or other evidence as may be  
36 required by the board.

37 (c) Each person, upon application for licensure as a pharmacist  
38 under this chapter, shall pay to the executive officer of the board,  
39 the fees provided by this chapter. The fees shall be compensation  
40 to the board for investigation or examination of the applicant.



1 SEC. 19. Section 4208 is added to the Business and  
2 Professions Code, to read:

3 4208. (a) At the discretion of the board, an intern pharmacist  
4 license may be issued for a period of:

5 (1) One to six years to a person who is currently enrolled in a  
6 school of pharmacy recognized by the board.

7 (2) Two years to a person who is a graduate of a school of  
8 pharmacy recognized by the board and who has applied to become  
9 licensed as a pharmacist in California.

10 (3) Two years to a foreign graduate who has met educational  
11 requirements described in paragraphs (1) to (4), inclusive, of  
12 subdivision (a) of Section 4200.

13 (4) One year to a person who has failed the pharmacist  
14 licensure examination four times and has reenrolled in a school of  
15 pharmacy to satisfy the requirements of Section 4200.1.

16 (b) The board may issue an intern pharmacist license to an  
17 individual for the period of time specified in a decision of  
18 reinstatement adopted by the board.

19 (c) An intern pharmacist shall notify the board within 30 days  
20 of any change of address.

21 (d) An intern pharmacist whose license has been issued  
22 pursuant to paragraph (1) or paragraph (4) of subdivision (a) shall  
23 return his or her license, by registered mail, within 30 days of no  
24 longer being enrolled in a school of pharmacy. The intern  
25 pharmacist license will be cancelled by the board.  
26 Notwithstanding subdivision (c), an intern pharmacist license may  
27 be reinstated if the student re-enrolls in a school of pharmacy  
28 recognized by the board to fulfill the education requirements of  
29 paragraphs (1) to (4), inclusive, of subdivision (a) of Section 4200.

30 SEC. 20. Section 4209 is added to the Business and  
31 Professions Code, to read:

32 4209. (a) An intern pharmacist shall complete 1,500 hours of  
33 pharmaceutical experience before applying for the pharmacist  
34 licensure examination.

35 (1) This pharmaceutical experience shall comply with the  
36 Standards of Curriculum established by the Accreditation Council  
37 for Pharmacy Education or with regulations adopted by the board.

38 (b) An intern pharmacist shall submit proof of his or her  
39 experience on board-approved affidavits, which shall be certified  
40 under penalty of perjury by a pharmacist under whose supervision



1 such experience was obtained or by the pharmacist-in-charge at  
2 the pharmacy while the pharmacist intern obtained the experience.

3 (c) An applicant for the examination who has been licensed as  
4 a pharmacist in any state for at least one year, as certified by the  
5 licensing agency of that state, shall be exempt from subdivision  
6 (a). Certification of an applicant's licensure in another state shall  
7 be submitted in writing and signed, under oath, by a duly  
8 authorized official of the state in which the license is held.

9 SEC. 21. Section 4409 of the Business and Professions Code  
10 is amended to read:

11 4409. At the time a pharmacy license is renewed pursuant to  
12 subdivision (a) of Section 4110 or a pharmacist license is renewed  
13 pursuant to Section 4401, the pharmacy or pharmacist may make  
14 a ~~twenty-five dollar (\$25)~~ contribution *of at least twenty-five*  
15 *dollars (\$25)*, to be submitted to the board, for the sole purpose of  
16 funding the California Pharmacist Scholarship and Loan  
17 Repayment Program established pursuant to Article 2  
18 (commencing with Section 129198) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of  
19 Division 107 of the Health and Safety Code. The contribution  
20 submitted pursuant to this section shall be paid into the State  
21 Treasury and credited to the California Pharmacist Scholarship  
22 and Loan Repayment Program Fund established pursuant to  
23 ~~Section 129198.5~~ *128198.5* of the Health and Safety Code.

24 SEC. 22. Section 4980.395 of the Business and Professions  
25 Code is amended to read:

26 4980.395. (a) ~~Effective January 1, 2005, as a condition of the~~  
27 ~~first renewal of a person's license pursuant to this chapter, any~~  
28 ~~person~~ *A licensee* who began graduate study prior to January 1,  
29 2004, shall complete a three-hour continuing education course in  
30 aging and long-term care *during his or her first renewal period*  
31 *after the operative date of this section* and shall submit to the board  
32 evidence, acceptable to the board, of the person's satisfactory  
33 completion of the course.

34 (b) The course ~~could~~ *shall* include, but is not limited to, the  
35 biological, social, and psychological aspects of aging.

36 (c) ~~Any~~ *A* person seeking the first renewal of his or her license  
37 ~~pursuant to this chapter~~ *to meet the requirements of subdivision (a)*  
38 *of this section* may submit to the board a certificate evidencing  
39 completion of equivalent courses in aging and long-term care  
40 taken prior to the operative date of this section, or proof of



1 SEC. 26. Section 4996.26 of the Business and Professions  
2 Code is amended to read:

3 4996.26. (a) ~~Effective January 1, 2005, as a condition of the~~  
4 ~~first renewal of a person's license pursuant to this chapter, any~~  
5 ~~person~~ A licensee who began graduate study prior to January 1,  
6 2004, shall complete a three-hour continuing education course in  
7 aging and long-term care *during his or her first renewal period*  
8 *after the operative date of this section*, and shall submit to the  
9 board evidence acceptable to the board of the person's satisfactory  
10 completion of the course.

11 (b) The course ~~could~~ shall include, but is not limited to, the  
12 biological, social, and psychological aspects of aging.

13 (c) Any person seeking ~~the first renewal of his or her license~~  
14 ~~pursuant to this chapter to meet the requirements of subdivision (a)~~  
15 *of this section* may submit to the board a certificate evidencing  
16 completion of equivalent courses in aging and long-term care  
17 taken prior to the operative date of this section, or proof of  
18 equivalent teaching or practice experience. The board, in its  
19 discretion, may accept that certification as meeting the  
20 requirements of this section.

21 (d) The board shall ~~may~~ not renew an applicant's license ~~upon~~  
22 ~~the applicant's application for the first renewal of his or her license~~  
23 until the applicant has met the requirements of this section.

24 (e) *Continuing education courses taken pursuant to this section*  
25 *shall be applied to the 36 hours of approved continuing education*  
26 *required in Section 4996.22.*

27 (f) *This section shall become operative on January 1, 2005.*

28 SEC. 27. Section 11159.1 of the Health and Safety Code is  
29 amended to read:

30 11159.1. An order for controlled substances furnished to a  
31 patient in a clinic which has a permit issued pursuant to Article ~~3-5~~  
32 ~~13~~ (commencing with Section ~~4063~~ 4180) of Chapter 9 of  
33 Division 2 of the Business and Professions Code, except an order  
34 for a Schedule II controlled substance, shall be exempt from the  
35 prescription requirements of this article ~~but~~ and shall be in writing  
36 on the patient's record, signed by the prescriber, dated, and shall  
37 state the name and quantity of the controlled substance ordered and  
38 the quantity actually furnished. The record of the order shall be  
39 maintained as a clinic record for a minimum of seven years. This  
40 section shall apply only to a clinic that has obtained a permit under



1 the provisions of Article ~~3.5~~ 13 (commencing with Section ~~4063~~)  
2 4180) of Chapter 9 of Division 2 of the Business and Professions  
3 Code.

4 Clinics that furnish controlled substances shall be required to  
5 keep a separate record of the furnishing of those drugs which shall  
6 be available for review and inspection by all properly authorized  
7 personnel.

8 SEC. 28. Section 11207 of the Health and Safety Code is  
9 amended to read:

10 11207. (a) No person other than a ~~registered~~ pharmacist  
11 ~~under the laws of this state as defined in Section 4036 of the~~  
12 *Business and Professions Code* or an intern pharmacist, as defined  
13 in Section ~~4038.1~~ 4030 of the Business and Professions Code, who  
14 is under the personal supervision of a pharmacist, shall compound,  
15 prepare, fill or dispense a prescription for a controlled substance.

16 (b) *Notwithstanding subdivision (a), a pharmacy technician*  
17 *may perform those tasks permitted by Section 4115 of the Business*  
18 *and Professions Code when assisting a pharmacist dispensing a*  
19 *prescription for a controlled substance.*

20 SEC. 29. Section 111625 of the Health and Safety Code is  
21 amended to read:

22 111625. (a) A license application shall be completed  
23 annually and accompanied by an application fee as prescribed in  
24 Section 111630. This fee is not refundable if the license is refused.

25 (b) *A manufacturer licensed pursuant to this article may not*  
26 *operate without employing sufficient, qualified supervision to*  
27 *adequately safeguard and protect the public health. Either a*  
28 *pharmacist licensed pursuant to Section 4200 of the Business and*  
29 *Professions Code or an individual issued a certificate of exemption*  
30 *pursuant to Section 4053 of the Business and Professions Code*  
31 *shall be deemed qualified to provide sufficient, qualified*  
32 *supervision, as required by this subdivision.*

33 SEC. 30. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant  
34 to Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution  
35 because the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or  
36 school district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime  
37 or infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the  
38 penalty for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section  
39 17556 of the Government Code, or changes the definition of a



**Blank**



# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 320**

**VERSION: AS AMENDED MARCH 16, 2004**

**AUTHOR: CORREA**

**SPONSOR: AUTHOR**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: SUPPORT**

**SUBJECT: GAG CLAUSES**

---

### Existing Law:

Permits the board to take enforcement action against a licensee for unprofessional conduct or other violations of the Pharmacy Law.

### This Bill:

- 1) Prohibits a licensee of a board, bureau or program within the Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) or an entity acting on behalf of a licensee from including a provision in a civil settlement that prohibits the other party from contacting, filing a complaint with, or cooperating with the DCA, or a board, bureau, or program. (B&P 143.5)
- 2) Prohibits a licensee of a board, bureau, or program within the DCA from including a provision in a settlement for a civil action that requires the other party to withdraw a complaint from the DCA, or a board, bureau, or program. (B&P 143.5)
- 3) Declares that such provisions (i.e., "gag clauses") to be void as against public policy. (B&P 143.5)
- 4) Specifies that a licensee who includes or permits a "gag clause" to be included in a settlement agreement is subject to disciplinary action by a board, bureau, or program. (B&P 143.5)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** According to the author, current law allows licensees to use regulatory gag clauses to keep their misconduct secret and avoid appropriate oversight to the detriment of the public: "Even when such conduct is brought to the attention of the regulator through a third party, gag clauses can delay investigation and discipline by months because investigators must spend additional time and money trying to void such clauses and convince injured parties to cooperate. This bill will help ensure that regulatory agencies have unrestricted access to the information they need to effectively enforce the law and protect the public. It will also safeguard a consumer's right to inform their government when they are harmed or treated unprofessionally without jeopardizing their right to seek civil redress." The full extent to which gag clauses are used by DCA licensees is unknown because they are, by definition, secret.

**2) Medical Board.** According to a preliminary investigation recently released by MBC, such gag clauses have stymied a number of investigations, many of which involved

allegations of sexual misconduct. The most common result of such clauses seems to be delay: cases can be slowed by several months or even years because of fear on the part of patients who sometimes require a court order before they will cooperate. The legal burden of overcoming gag clauses can also add thousands of dollars in additional legal costs for the state.

**3) Gag Clauses.** This bill is intended to close a loophole in current law that allows a licensee under the supervision of DCA to prohibit a consumer who settles a civil suit from also filing a complaint or otherwise cooperating with a regulator. Such an agreement is known as a regulatory "gag clause." A regulatory gag clause requires a plaintiff to agree, as a condition of a malpractice or misconduct settlement with the licensee, to the inclusion of a provision prohibiting the plaintiff from contacting or cooperating with the defendant's regulator (or requiring the plaintiff to withdraw a pending complaint before that regulator.)

As an example, under current law, a physician who settles a malpractice complaint with an injured patient might require, as a condition of receiving the settlement payment, that the consumer not report the malpractice to the Medical Board of California (MBC) or otherwise speak regarding the case, even if the patient is contacted by DCA investigators or private attorneys who are looking into separate complaints against the physician.

**4) Attorneys.** This bill is modeled on an existing statute that prohibits attorneys from including such clauses in legal malpractice settlements, and is in line with a number of court decisions that describe a compelling public interest in voiding regulatory gag clauses so that the regulator can best protect the public from harm.

### **5) Support and Opposition.**

Support:

California Public Interest Research Group  
Center for Public Interest Law  
Consumer Attorneys of California  
Consumers for Auto Reliability and Safety  
Consumers Union  
California Medical Board

Opposition:

None on file.

### **6) History.**

2004

Mar. 16 From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to committee. Read second time, amended, and re-referred to Com. on B. & P.

Mar. 1 In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.

Feb. 17 Referred to Coms. on B. & P. and JUD.

Jan. 28 In Senate. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment.

Jan. 26 Read third time, passed, and to Senate. (Ayes 76. Noes 0. Page 4359.)

Jan. 22 From committee: Do pass. (Ayes 23. Noes 0.) (January 21). Read second time. To third reading.

Jan. 13 From committee: Do pass, and re-refer to Com. on APPR. Re-referred. (Ayes 12. Noes 0.) (January 13).

2003

May 8 Re-referred to Com. on B. & P.  
May 7 From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to Com. on B. & P. Read second time and amended.  
May 6 In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.  
Apr. 29 In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.  
Apr. 23 Re-referred to Com. on B. & P.  
Apr. 22 Re-referred to Com. on B. & P. From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to Com. on B. & P. Read second time and amended.  
Apr. 21 From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to Com. on B. & P. Read second time and amended.  
Feb. 18 Referred to Com. on B. & P.  
Feb. 11 From printer. May be heard in committee March 13.  
Feb. 7 Read first time. To print.

**Blank**

AMENDED IN SENATE MARCH 16, 2004

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY MAY 7, 2003

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY APRIL 22, 2003

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY APRIL 21, 2003

CALIFORNIA LEGISLATURE—2003–04 REGULAR SESSION

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 320**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Member Correa**

*(Coauthors: Assembly Members Bermudez, Shirley Horton, Koretz,  
Leno, Reyes, Vargas, and Wyland)*

February 7, 2003

---

---

An act to add Section 143.5 to the Business and Professions Code, relating to professions and vocations.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 320, as amended, Correa. Professions and vocations: licensees: settlement agreements.

Existing law provides that it is a cause for suspension, disbarment, or other discipline for an attorney to agree or seek agreement that the professional misconduct or the terms of a settlement of a claim for professional misconduct is not to be reported to the professional's disciplinary agency, or to agree or seek agreement that the plaintiff shall withdraw a disciplinary complaint or not cooperate with an investigation or prosecution conducted by the disciplinary agency. These provisions apply to an attorney who is a party or who is acting as an attorney for a party.

This bill would prohibit a licensee of a profession or vocation, or an entity acting on behalf of a licensee, which licensee is regulated by the Department of Consumer Affairs or various boards, bureaus, or programs from including, or permitting to be included, a provision in an agreement to settle a civil dispute that prohibits the other party in that dispute from contacting, filing a complaint with, or cooperating with the department, board, bureau, or program or that requires the other party to withdraw a complaint from the department, board, bureau, or program. A licensee in violation of these provisions would be subject to disciplinary action by the board, bureau, or program.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: no.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Section 143.5 is added to the Business and  
2 Professions Code, to read:  
3 143.5. (a) ~~A~~ No licensee of a profession or vocation, and no  
4 entity acting on behalf of a licensee, which licensee is regulated by  
5 a board, bureau, or program within the Department of Consumer  
6 Affairs, shall ~~not~~ include or permit to be included a provision in  
7 an agreement to settle a civil dispute, whether the agreement is  
8 made before or after the commencement of a civil action, that  
9 prohibits the other party in that dispute from contacting, filing a  
10 complaint with, or cooperating with the department, board,  
11 bureau, or program or that requires the other party to withdraw a  
12 complaint from the department, board, bureau, or program. A  
13 provision of that nature is void as against public policy, and any  
14 licensee who includes or permits to be included a provision of that  
15 nature in a settlement agreement is subject to disciplinary action  
16 by the board, bureau, or program.  
17 (b) As used in this section, “board” shall have the same  
18 meaning as defined in Section 22, and “licensee” means a person  
19 that has been granted a license, as that term ~~is~~ defined in Section  
20 23.7.

O





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 1826**

**VERSION: AS AMENDED MARCH 18, 2004**

**AUTHOR: BOGH**

**SPONSOR: RIVERSIDE COUNTY DA**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: SUPPORT**

**SUBJECT: FRAUDULENT USE OF A LICENSE**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Requires pharmacists, pharmacies, and wholesalers to be licensed by the board.
- 2) Prohibits the acquisition and use of another individual's "personal identifying information" without their consent (identity theft). (Penal Code 530)
- 3) Establishes penalties of up to one year in jail and a fine of up to \$10,000 for identity theft. (Penal Code 530.5)
- 4) Establishes a penalty of up to 50 days in jail and/or a fine of up to \$5,000 for impersonating a pharmacist. (B&P 4322)
- 5) Permits licensing boards to establish citation and fine punishments for unlicensed activity. (B&P 148)

### This Bill:

- 1) Adds a professional license number to the definition of "personal identifying information." (Penal Code 530.5)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The author has introduced this bill to create significant penalties for the theft and misuse of a professional or occupational license number. The bill was motivated by a case where the Medical Board of California received a consumer complaint regarding an individual who was falsely impersonating a licensed psychotherapist and charging patients for services. The Medical Board referred the case to the Riverside County District Attorney who sought to prosecute the individual under existing identity theft statutes. However, these statutes do not address the theft of a professional or occupational license. Subsequently, the Riverside County District Attorney has received a similar case from the Contractors State License Board.

**2) Unlicensed Activity.** There are existing penalties that a board may use to prosecute unlicensed activity. Most commonly, boards may issue citations and fines for up to \$5,000 for unlicensed activity. In addition the Pharmacy Law (B&P Code Section 4322) of up to 50 days in jail and/or a fine of up to \$5,000 for impersonating a licensee.

Unlicensed activity of this sort is one of the most serious violations of any licensing act. The principal purpose of any licensing act is to ensure public protection by requiring

demonstrated competence prior to entering practice. Individuals who falsely represent themselves as being licensed present a direct threat to public safety and undermine the public's confidence in the affected profession or occupation.

#### **5) History.**

Mar. 22	Re-referred to Com. on PUB. S.
Mar. 18	From committee chair, with author's amendments: Amend, and re-refer to Com. on PUB. S. Read second time and amended.
Mar. 15	In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.
Feb. 2	Referred to Com. on PUB. S.
Jan. 21	From printer. May be heard in committee February 20.
Jan. 20	Read first time. To print.

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY MARCH 18, 2004

CALIFORNIA LEGISLATURE—2003–04 REGULAR SESSION

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 1826**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Member Bogh**

January 20, 2004

---

---

An act to amend Section 530.5 of the Penal Code, relating to professional and trade licenses.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 1826, as amended, Bogh. Professional and trade licenses.

Existing law provides that every person who obtains personal identifying information of another person, and uses that information for any unlawful purpose, including to obtain, or attempt to obtain, credit, goods, services, or medical information in the name of the other person without the consent of that person, is guilty of a public offense punishable by either imprisonment in a county jail not to exceed one year, a fine not to exceed \$1,000, or both that imprisonment and fine, or by imprisonment in the state prison, a fine not to exceed \$10,000, or both that imprisonment and fine.

This bill would ~~provide that it is a public offense punishable by either imprisonment in a county jail for a period not to exceed one year, a fine not exceeding \$1,000, or by both that imprisonment and fine, or by imprisonment in the state prison for 2, 3, or 4 years, a fine not exceeding \$10,000, or by both that imprisonment and fine, to obtain the~~ *expand the definition of personal identifying information to include a professional or trade license number, as defined, of another person and to use it for any unlawful purpose, including to obtain credit, goods, services, or medical information, or to provide, or to attempt to provide*

~~professional services in the name of that person without his or her consent.~~

~~Because this bill would create a new crime, change the definition of a crime and require local agencies to perform additional services, this bill would impose a state-mandated local program.~~

~~The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.~~

~~This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.~~

~~The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement, including the creation of a State Mandates Claims Fund to pay the costs of mandates that do not exceed \$1,000,000 statewide and other procedures for claims whose statewide costs exceed \$1,000,000.~~

~~This bill would provide that with regard to certain mandates no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.~~

~~With regard to any other mandates, this bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that the bill contains costs so mandated by the state, reimbursement for those costs shall be made pursuant to the statutory provisions noted above.~~

~~Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: yes.~~

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Section 530.5 of the Penal Code is amended to  
2 read:  
3 530.5. (a) Every person who willfully obtains personal  
4 identifying information, as defined in subdivision (b), of another  
5 person, and uses that information for any unlawful purpose,  
6 including to obtain, or attempt to obtain, credit, goods, services,  
7 or medical information in the name of the other person without the  
8 consent of that person, is guilty of a public offense, and upon  
9 conviction therefor, shall be punished either by imprisonment in  
10 a county jail not to exceed one year, a fine not to exceed one  
11 thousand dollars (\$1,000), or both that imprisonment and fine, or



1 by imprisonment in the state prison, a fine not to exceed ten  
2 thousand dollars (\$10,000), or both that imprisonment and fine.

3 (b) “Personal identifying information,” as used in this section,  
4 means the name, address, telephone number, health insurance  
5 identification number, taxpayer identification number, school  
6 identification number, state or federal driver’s license number, or  
7 identification number, *professional or trade license number*, social  
8 security number, place of employment, employee identification  
9 number, mother’s maiden name, demand deposit account number,  
10 savings account number, checking account number, PIN (personal  
11 identification number) or password, alien registration number,  
12 government passport number, date of birth, unique biometric data  
13 including fingerprint, facial scan identifiers, voice print, retina or  
14 iris image, or other unique physical representation, unique  
15 electronic data including identification number, address, or  
16 routing code, telecommunication identifying information or  
17 access device, information contained in a birth or death certificate,  
18 or credit card number of an individual person.

19 (c) In any case in which a person willfully obtains personal  
20 identifying information of another person, uses that information  
21 to commit a crime in addition to a violation of subdivision (a), and  
22 is convicted of that crime, the court records shall reflect that the  
23 person whose identity was falsely used to commit the crime did not  
24 commit the crime.

25 (d) Every person who, with the intent to defraud, acquires,  
26 transfers, or retains possession of the personal identifying  
27 information, as defined in subdivision (b), of another person is  
28 guilty of a public offense, and upon conviction therefor, shall be  
29 punished by imprisonment in a county jail not to exceed one year,  
30 or a fine not to exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or by both  
31 that imprisonment and fine.

32 ~~(e) Every person who willfully obtains the professional or trade~~  
33 ~~license number issued by any state within the United States, or by~~  
34 ~~the United States, as defined in subdivision (f), of another person,~~  
35 ~~and uses that number for any unlawful purpose, including to~~  
36 ~~obtain, or attempt to obtain credit, goods, services, or medical~~  
37 ~~information, or to provide, or attempt to provide, professional~~  
38 ~~services in the name of the person without the consent of that~~  
39 ~~person, is guilty of a public offense, and upon conviction therefor,~~  
40 ~~shall be punished either by imprisonment in a county jail for a~~



1 ~~period not to exceed one year, a fine not to exceed one thousand~~  
2 ~~dollars (\$1,000), or both that imprisonment and fine, or by~~  
3 ~~imprisonment in the state prison for two, three, or four years, a fine~~  
4 ~~not to exceed ten thousand dollars (\$10,000), or both that~~  
5 ~~imprisonment and fine.~~

6 ~~(f)~~—As used in this section, “professional or trade license  
7 number” means the unique number issued to a natural person by  
8 any *state or federal* governmental agency, board, organization, or  
9 ~~other~~ licensing authority required for the purpose of lawfully  
10 practicing a profession or trade.

11 ~~SEC. 2. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to~~  
12 ~~Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because~~  
13 ~~the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school~~  
14 ~~district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or~~  
15 ~~infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty~~  
16 ~~for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of~~  
17 ~~the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within~~  
18 ~~the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California~~  
19 ~~Constitution.~~

20 *SEC. 2. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to*  
21 *Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution for*  
22 *certain costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school*  
23 *district because in that regard this act creates a new crime or*  
24 *infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty*  
25 *for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of*  
26 *the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within*  
27 *the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California*  
28 *Constitution.*

29 *However, notwithstanding Section 17610 of the Government*  
30 *Code, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that this*  
31 *act contains other costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to*  
32 *local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made*  
33 *pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division*  
34 *4 of Title 2 of the Government Code. If the statewide cost of the*  
35 *claim for reimbursement does not exceed one million dollars*  
36 *(\$1,000,000), reimbursement shall be made from the State*  
37 *Mandates Claims Fund.*

O





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 1957**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: FROMMER ET AL.**

**SPONSOR: AUTHOR**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: NONE**

**SUBJECT: DRUG IMPORTATION**

---

### **Existing Law:**

- 1) Requires non-resident pharmacies to be licensed by the board. (B&P 4112)
- 2) Prohibits the importation of prescription drugs except by a drug manufacturer. (21CFR 381)

### **This Bill:**

- 1) Requires the board to establish a Web site on or before July 1, 2005 that will facilitate the safe purchase of prescription drugs from Canadian pharmacies. (B&P 4430)
- 2) Requires this Web site to include price comparisons between typical pharmacy prices and Canadian pharmacy prices for the 50 most commonly prescribed drugs. (B&P 4430)
- 3) Requires this Web site to include links to "certified" Canadian pharmacies. (B&P 4430)
- 4) Establishes the requirements that must be met for the board to "certify" a Canadian pharmacy to include:
  - a. Verification of licensure by the appropriate Canadian province.
  - b. Compliance with the requirements that must be met by non-resident pharmacies.
  - c. Meets standards for safety, access and affordability established by the board.
  - d. Requires a prescription from the patient's personal physician.
  - e. Requires a patient medical history.
  - f. Requires a signed patient agreement.
  - g. Requires prescriptions to be mailed in original packaging.
  - h. Requires physical address and phone number for the pharmacy on the pharmacy Web site.
- 5) Requires the Department of General Services to review the purchasing of drugs by other state agencies and determine if significant cost savings would result from the purchase of Canadian drugs by these agencies. (Government Code 14892)
- 6) Permits the Department of General Services to purchase Canadian drugs if it can obtain appropriate waivers from federal law. (Government Code 14893)

## Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The authors state, "California needs to take significant steps to remedy a situation that is literally forcing taxpayers to break the law in order to preserve their health and is recklessly driving health care costs up to unprecedented levels... Prescription drug costs continue to skyrocket, making life-saving drugs increasingly unaffordable for individuals, employers, local governments and the state. Individuals without health coverage and seniors, who require more medications on average than younger Californians, are especially hard hit. As a result, many Californians are forced to turn to Web sites that offer prescription drugs from Canadian pharmacies at deeply discounted prices...In 2002, United States consumers paid \$48.6 billion in out-of-pocket costs for prescription drugs, an increase of 15.3% over the previous year. Over the three prior years, prescription drug spending increased an average of 17.3% each year. On average, United States residents spend \$654 on drugs, while a resident in Britain only pays \$197, according to a recent *TIME* magazine article. For that reason, news reports estimate that more than a million Americans spent \$800 million last year on prescription drugs from Canada, where drugs are, on average, 40% cheaper."

**2) Importation.** Existing federal law generally restricts the importation of prescription drugs to drug manufacturers. Federal law can permit the importation of prescription drugs by drug wholesalers and pharmacies if the Secretary of Health and Human Services (Secretary) issues a finding that such a practice would be safe. Such a finding has not been issued by the Secretary.

The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has for many years allowed individuals to purchase drugs abroad in limited amounts and bring them into the United States for personal use. Recent statements by FDA officials have reinforced that the FDA does not intend to prosecute individuals who import drugs for their own use. However, the FDA has taken legal action against some storefronts that assist consumers in ordering drugs from Canadian pharmacies at lower prices. The FDA has also taken legal action against entities that serve as middlemen between Canadian drug suppliers and those state and local governments that have sought to purchase Canadian drugs for their beneficiaries.

**3) Price Controls.** Consumers seek to purchase drugs from Canadian pharmacies to save money. Drug prices are lower in Canada because the Canadian government has a system to control drug prices. [For your information, attached is a recent article from the journal *Health Affairs* describes the price control methods used in Canada.] **Branded** drugs can commonly be purchased from Canadian pharmacies at substantial discounts. However, US prices are generally lower for **generic** drugs.

**4) Affordability.** The board is sympathetic to the difficulty of those without drug insurance have affording the drugs they need and the impact of drug pricing on the affordability of insurance coverage for those who have it.

Much of the public debate regarding the importation of drugs from Canada has focused on the safety of imported drugs. This debate on safety masks the more basic affordability problem that underlies importation. Consumers are seeking Canadian drugs because of lower prices not because of problems with drug availability or because of the convenience of the Canadian pharmacies. In this circumstance, importation is an indirect method of imposing price controls on drugs. Despite this reality, little if any consideration has been articulated regarding the establishment of direct price controls. While proposing direct price controls would be politically challenging, such a debate would present a more straightforward discussion regarding the cost of and accessibility to prescription drugs. The board is not advocating any particular action in this respect, but rather encouraging a full and honest debate regarding the essential issue of drug pricing.

**4) “Certified” Pharmacies.** The bill requires the board to “certify” Canadian pharmacies based the criteria for non-resident pharmacies and any other criteria developed by the board to protect the consumer. California law requires that pharmacies (both resident and non-resident) to be licensed by the board to protect the consumer. Those licenses are issued for a fixed term to help ensure ongoing compliance with California law and are subject to the full spectrum of enforcement actions for violations of California law.

It would be untenable for the board to issue any official “certification” of a Canadian pharmacy other than a full pharmacy license. The license mechanism provides the board with both the financial and legal resources required to conduct a license issuance process that would be absent in the “certification” process proposed by this bill. In addition, the board would have no ability to take enforcement action against the “certification” should a “certified” pharmacy fall out of compliance with the certification standards or violate California law.

**5) Licensing Foreign Locations.** It is unclear if the board has the requisite legal authority to issue a license to a pharmacy located in Canada. The licensure of non-resident pharmacies is premised on the relative consistency of pharmacy standards among the different states in the US and the ability of the appropriate licensing agency in each of those states to be the primary enforcer of those standards. The board does not currently have the knowledge and expertise to judge the nature and extent of pharmacy regulation by either the Canadian national government or the relevant provincial governments. The board would have to acquire that knowledge and expertise before making a judgment whether it is appropriate to license a Canadian pharmacy as a non-resident pharmacy.

**6) Resources.** The bill requires the board to take on a number of additional responsibilities for which it does not have the resources. The certification program would have to be developed from scratch as a new quasi-licensing program and the collection and regular update of prescription drug pricing information would be an entirely new activity. Drug pricing is notoriously variable based on the purchaser and the timing of the purchase, and the board would have to develop a methodology for establishing actual market prices. Both of these activities would require additional staff. Given the board’s existing challenges meeting existing statutory obligations because of recent staff and budgetary cutbacks, additional personnel would be required. It is unlikely that such additional resources would be provided in the present fiscal environment.

**7) Minnesota.** The Web site provisions of this bill largely duplicate existing efforts made by the state of Minnesota. As indicated above, the bill would require the board to expend additional resources to duplicate an existing web page. Linking to the Minnesota Rx Connect Web site would be a faster and less expensive approach to providing California consumers this information.

**8) History.**

Mar. 18	Referred to Coms. on HEALTH and B. & P.
Feb. 19	(Corrected February 17.)
Feb. 13	From printer. May be heard in committee March 14.
Feb. 12	Read first time. To print.

**Blank**

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 1957**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Members Frommer, Chu, Pavley, and  
Ridley-Thomas**

February 12, 2004

---

---

An act to add Article 25 (commencing with Section 4430) to Chapter 9 of Division 2 of the Business and Professions Code, and to add Sections 14982 and 14983 to the Government Code, relating to prescription drugs, and making an appropriation therefor.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 1957, as introduced, Frommer. Prescription drugs.

Existing law establishes, within the Department of Consumer Affairs, the California State Board of Pharmacy, which has licensing, regulatory, and disciplinary functions relating to pharmacists, pharmacies, and prescription drugs and devices. Existing law requires the board to impose upon pharmacists and pharmacies fees to fund these functions. The fees are paid into the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund which is continuously appropriated for the expenses of the board. Existing law provides for the registration and licensure of a nonresident pharmacy and establishes the fee for an out-of-state drug distributor's license and annual renewal issued pursuant to those provisions.

This bill would require the board to establish a Web site on or before July 1, 2005, to facilitate the safe purchase by California residents of prescription drugs at reduced prices. The bill would require the Web site to include price comparisons of prescription drugs, including prices charged by licensed pharmacies in the state and Canadian pharmacies that provide mail order service to the United States that meet certification requirements established under the bill.

Because the bill would result in increased expenditures from funds that are continuously appropriated to the board by requiring the board to establish a Web site and administer the certification of Canadian pharmacies under the bill, the bill would make an appropriation.

Existing law authorizes the Department of General Services to administer a coordinated prescription drug bulk purchasing program under which the department may enter into contracts on a bid or negotiated basis with manufacturers and suppliers of single-source or multisource drugs and obtain from them discounts, rebates, and refunds as permissible under federal law. Existing law requires certain state agencies to participate in the program and authorizes any other state, local, and public agency governmental entity to elect to participate in the program.

This bill would require the department to review state departments and agencies that purchase prescription drugs to determine which state programs may save significant state funds by purchasing from Canadian sources. The bill would require the department to report to the Legislature and recommend options to facilitate prescription drug importation. The bill would authorize the department to establish pilot programs under which purchases of prescription drugs from Canada would be made at reduced prices for purposes of state departments and agencies.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: yes. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: no.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Article 25 (commencing with Section 4430) is  
2 added to Chapter 9 of Division 2 of the Business and Professions  
3 Code, to read:

4

5

Article 25. Prescription Drugs

6

7 4430. (a) The board shall establish a Web site on or before  
8 July 1, 2005, that will facilitate the safe purchase by California  
9 residents of prescription drugs at reduced prices.

10 (b) (1) The Web site shall include price comparisons of the 50  
11 most commonly prescribed brand name prescription drugs,  
12 including typical prices charged by licensed pharmacies in the



1 state and by certified Canadian pharmacies that provide mail order  
2 service to the United States.

3 (2) (A) The Web site shall establish electronic links to certified  
4 Canadian pharmacies.

5 (B) The Web site may establish electronic links to other  
6 appropriate Web sites to allow California residents to safely  
7 purchase prescription drugs at reduced prices, including links to  
8 Web sites of health plans and health insurers regarding their  
9 prescription drug formularies.

10 (c) For purposes of this section, “certified Canadian  
11 pharmacy” means a pharmacy that is located in Canada and meets  
12 all of the following requirements as determined by the board:

13 (1) Is licensed by the province in which it is located.

14 (2) Complies with all of the requirements of a nonresident  
15 pharmacy as specified in Section 4112.

16 (3) Meets the safety, access, and affordability standards  
17 established by the board for a certified Canadian pharmacy. These  
18 standards established by the board shall require, at a minimum,  
19 that only a Canadian pharmacy that complies with all of the  
20 following may be certified:

21 (A) Requires a prescription from a patient’s personal  
22 physician.

23 (B) Requires a patient medical history.

24 (C) Requires a signed patient agreement.

25 (D) Ships prescriptions in tamper proof original manufacturer  
26 containers to individuals in the United States.

27 (E) Includes a physical address and pharmacy license number  
28 on its company Web site.

29 SEC. 2. Section 14982 is added to the Government Code, to  
30 read:

31 14982. (a) The department shall coordinate a review of state  
32 departments and agencies that purchase prescription drugs to  
33 determine which state programs may save significant state funds  
34 by purchasing from Canadian sources. State departments to be  
35 reviewed shall include, but not be limited to, all of the following:

36 (1) The State Department of Health Services.

37 (2) The Managed Risk Medical Insurance Board.

38 (3) The Department of General Services.

39 (4) The California Public Employees’ Retirement System  
40 (CalPERS).



1 (b) The department shall report its findings based on the review  
 2 required under subdivision (a) to the Legislature and shall  
 3 recommend options to the Legislature, including conducting pilot  
 4 programs, to facilitate prescription drug importation. The  
 5 recommendations shall include a determination of the need to seek  
 6 any federal approvals or waivers.

7 SEC. 3. Section 14983 is added to the Government Code, to  
 8 read:

9 14983. (a) The department may establish pilot programs  
 10 under which purchases of prescription drugs from Canada are  
 11 made at reduced prices for purposes of state departments and  
 12 agencies.

13 (b) As a condition of implementing any pilot program under  
 14 this section, the department shall seek and obtain all appropriate  
 15 federal waivers and approvals necessary for the implementation of  
 16 that pilot program.

17 \_\_\_\_\_

18 CORRECTIONS

19 **Heading — Authors.**

20 \_\_\_\_\_

21





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 1960**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: PAVLEY**

**SPONSOR: AUTHOR**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: OPPOSE UNLESS AMENDED**

**SUBJECT: PHARMACY BENEFIT MANAGERS**

---

### Existing Law:

Provides for the regulation of HMOs and the benefits they provide by the Department of Managed Health Care.

### This Bill:

1) Defines "pharmacy benefits management" as the purchase of prescription drugs on behalf of an entity that provides a healthcare benefit including:

- a. Mail order pharmacy services.
- b. Claims processing.
- c. Obtaining and administering rebate agreements.
- d. Therapeutic intervention and generic substitution programs.
- e. Disease management programs.

(B&P 4130)

2) Defines "pharmacy benefits manager" (PBM) as an entity that performs "pharmacy benefits management" as defined. (B&P 4131)

3) Specifies that a pharmacy benefits manager owes its client a fiduciary duty. (B&P 4132)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** According to the author, prescription drug prices in this country are set through a complicated process of rebates and other secret special deals that may or may not result in large purchasers, such as the state of California, getting the best price possible. It is imperative that we open up this process, bringing a critical level of transparency to the system to ensure that the Legislature knows that the state and other large purchasers, such as businesses, are getting maximum value for each dollar spent.

**2) Fiduciary Duty.** Black's Law Dictionary defines fiduciary duty as, "A duty to act for someone else's benefit, while subordinating one's personal interests to that of the other person." The state of Maine enacted a law in 2003 specifying that a PBM owes a fiduciary duty to its client.

**3) Amendments.** This legislation addresses the provision of pharmacy benefits and would more appropriately be placed in the jurisdiction of the Department of Managed

Health Care (DMHC). DMHC is the state agency charged with the regulation of health care service plans and has statutory authority over the benefits provided by those plans. As such they have the expertise and subject matter jurisdiction to most effectively enforce the provisions of this bill.

To the extent PBM services fall within the existing practice of pharmacy, PBMs would remain within the board's jurisdiction. Aspects of the PBM definition (mail order pharmacy, generic and therapeutic substitution programs, and some disease management programs) are currently regulated by the board and would need to continue being regulated by the board as a professional practice.

**Suggested Amendment:** the author should move the provisions from the Pharmacy Law to the Knox-Keene Act which governs health care service plans.

The definition of "pharmacy benefits management" is unclear. The bill needs to be amended to clarify if the performance of any of the specified activities is sufficient to define an entity as a PBM or if an entity must perform all of the specified activity before being defined as a PBM. Staff cannot recommend specific language without a clarification of the author's intent.

**4) Task Force.** The board convened a task force on PBM regulation in 2003. The task force conducted a thorough evaluation of PBM practices to determine whether establishing state regulation of PBMs was necessary. The task force was unable to identify a clear need for regulation of PBMs. The task force was unable to define an existing or potential consumer harm that could be remedied by the regulation of PBMs. The areas of greatest potential concern, as expressed by participants, were related to the business and contractual relationships between PBMs and their clients (health plans, employers, trust funds, etc.) that would be best resolved by those parties in their negotiations.

**5) ERISA.** As this bill affects the provision of a healthcare benefit, it may be subject to pre-emption by ERISA. ERISA is a federal statute governing the provision of employment benefits and its provisions can result in state regulation of benefits being invalidated. Pre-emption issues with ERISA are complex and this legislation should be reviewed by an individual with expertise in ERISA pre-emption case law to determine if it is likely to be overturned by a federal court.

#### **6) History.**

Mar. 18	Referred to Coms. on HEALTH and B. & P.
Feb. 19	(Corrected February 17. )
Feb. 13	From printer. May be heard in committee March 14.
Feb. 12	Read first time. To print.

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 1960**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Members Pavley and Frommer  
(Coauthors: Assembly Members Chu, and Ridley-Thomas)**

February 12, 2004

---

---

An act to add Article 8 (commencing with Section 4130) to Chapter 9 of Division 2 of the Business and Professions Code, relating to pharmacy benefits management.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 1960, as introduced, Pavley. Pharmacy benefits management.

Existing law, the Pharmacy Law, creates the California State Board of Pharmacy and makes it responsible for the regulation and licensure of persons engaged in pharmacy practices relating to the furnishing of dangerous drugs, as defined. Under existing law, a violation of the provisions of the Pharmacy Law is a crime.

This bill would define the term “pharmacy benefits management” as negotiating the purchase of dangerous drugs on behalf of specified entities and administering or managing the prescription drug benefit programs of those entities. The bill would also define the term “pharmacy benefits manager” as an entity that performs pharmacy benefits management. The bill would impose on that entity a fiduciary duty to the person employing or contracting with the entity.

Because the bill would specify an additional requirement under the Pharmacy Law, a violation of which would be a crime, it would impose a state-mandated local program.

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state.

Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: yes.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Article 8 (commencing with Section 4130) is  
2 added to Chapter 9 of Division 2 of the Business and Professions  
3 Code, to read:

4  
5 Article 8. Pharmacy Benefits Management  
6

7 4130. “Pharmacy benefits management” means negotiating  
8 the purchase of dangerous drugs on behalf of an entity that  
9 provides health care services, including a health care service plan  
10 or a health insurer, or an entity that purchases those services and  
11 administering or managing the prescription drug benefit program  
12 provided or purchased by those entities. The administration or  
13 management of a prescription drug benefit program includes all of  
14 the following:

- 15 (a) Providing mail pharmacy services.
- 16 (b) Claims processing, managing a retail network, and paying  
17 claims to a pharmacy for dangerous drugs dispensed to an enrollee  
18 or insured.
- 19 (c) Rebate contracting and administering the rebates.
- 20 (d) Therapeutic intervention and generic substitution  
21 programs.
- 22 (e) Disease management programs.

23 4131. A “pharmacy benefits manager” means an entity that  
24 performs pharmacy benefits management and includes a person or  
25 entity acting for a pharmacy benefits manager in a contractual or  
26 employment relationship in the performance of pharmacy benefits  
27 management.

28 4132. A pharmacy benefits manager owes a fiduciary duty to  
29 the person who contracts with, or employs, the pharmacy benefits  
30 manager.



1 SEC. 2. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to  
2 Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because  
3 the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school  
4 district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or  
5 infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty  
6 for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of  
7 the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within  
8 the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California  
9 Constitution.

10 \_\_\_\_\_

11 CORRECTIONS  
12 **Heading — Authors.**

13 \_\_\_\_\_

14

O



**Blank**



# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 2125**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: LEVINE**

**SPONSOR: SENIOR LEGISLATURE**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: NONE**

**SUBJECT: PRESCRIBING PRACTICES**

---

### Existing Law:

Requires pharmacists to include a diagnosis on the prescription label if the patient requests it. (B&P 4076)

### This Bill:

- 1) Requires physicians to include write the patient's diagnosis on each prescription unless the patient objects. (B&P 2242.2)
- 2) Requires pharmacists to include the patient's diagnosis on each prescription label unless the patient objects. (B&P 4076)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The author intends to increase patient compliance with prescribed drug therapy. Compliance is particularly important among older persons taking numerous medications. Without indications on the label of each prescription, it is difficult for many patients to know which drug is taken for which condition. This is particularly so for those whose care is entrusted to a caregiver or family member.

**2) Compliance.** Patient compliance with drug therapy is a substantial problem in the health care system. In studies of patient behavior, only about half of patients who leave a physician's office with a prescription take the drug as directed. The most common reason given for noncompliance is forgetfulness, which may be more appropriately described as denial of illness; having to take a drug is a constant reminder of illness. Compliance is worse with chronic diseases requiring complex, long-term treatment. Older persons may take several drugs; the regimen may be complex and hard to remember and to follow, thereby increasing the likelihood of an adverse drug interaction According to an estimate from the Office of the U.S. Inspector General, noncompliance results in 125,000 deaths from cardiovascular disease each year. If patients took their drugs as directed, up to 23% of nursing home admissions, 10% of hospital admissions, many physician visits, many diagnostic tests, and many unnecessary treatments could be avoided.

### **3) History.**

- |         |   |
|---------|---|
| Mar. 18 | Referred to Com. on HEALTH.                       |
| Feb. 19 | From printer. May be heard in committee March 20. |

Feb. 18 Read first time. To print.

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 2125**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Member Levine**

February 18, 2004

---

---

An act to amend Section 4076 of, and to add Section 2242.2 to, the Business and Professions Code, relating to the healing arts.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2125, as introduced, Levine. Prescriptions: requisite information.

Existing law, the Medical Practice Act, provides for the licensure and regulation of physicians and surgeons by the Medical Board of California. Under the act, a physician and surgeon is generally required to examine a patient prior to prescribing, dispensing, or furnishing a dangerous drug to him or her. The act makes a failure to comply with this requirement unprofessional conduct. Under the act, the board through its Division of Medical Quality, is required to take disciplinary action against a physician and surgeon for unprofessional conduct, which includes a violation of the act's regulatory provisions. The act also makes a violation of those provisions punishable as a crime. Existing law, the Pharmacy Law, provides for the licensure and regulation of pharmacy practices by the California State Board of Pharmacy. Under that law, a pharmacist is required to include specified information on the container label before dispensing a prescription including, if requested by the patient, the condition for which the drug was prescribed.

This bill would require a physician and surgeon, unless directed otherwise by the patient, to indicate the patient's diagnosis on each prescription. The bill would also require a pharmacist to include this

information on the container’s label, unless directed otherwise by the patient.

Because the bill would specify an additional regulatory requirement under the Medical Practice Act, the violation of which would be a crime, it would impose a state-mandated local program.

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: yes.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Section 2242.2 is added to the Business and  
2 Professions Code, to read:

3 2242.2. A physician and surgeon shall indicate the patient’s  
4 diagnosis on each prescription that he or she issues for a dangerous  
5 drug, unless the patient directs the physician and surgeon not to  
6 include this information on his or her prescription.

7 SEC. 2. Section 4076 of the Business and Professions Code  
8 is amended to read:

9 4076. (a) A pharmacist shall not dispense any prescription  
10 except in a container that meets the requirements of state and  
11 federal law and is correctly labeled with all of the following:

12 (1) Except where the prescriber or the certified nurse-midwife  
13 who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure or protocol  
14 described in Section 2746.51, the nurse practitioner who functions  
15 pursuant to a standardized procedure described in Section 2836.1,  
16 or protocol, or the physician assistant who functions pursuant to  
17 Section 3502.1 orders otherwise, either the manufacturer’s trade  
18 name of the drug or the generic name and the name of the  
19 manufacturer. Commonly used abbreviations may be used.  
20 Preparations containing two or more active ingredients may be  
21 identified by the manufacturer’s trade name or the commonly used  
22 name or the principal active ingredients.

23 (2) The directions for the use of the drug.

24 (3) The name of the patient or patients.



1 (4) The name of the prescriber and, if applicable, the certified  
2 nurse-midwife who functions pursuant to a standardized  
3 procedure or protocol described in Section 2746.51, the nurse  
4 practitioner who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure  
5 described in Section 2836.1, or protocol, or the physician assistant  
6 who functions pursuant to Section 3502.1.

7 (5) The date of issue.

8 (6) The name and address of the pharmacy; and prescription  
9 number or other means of identifying the prescription.

10 (7) The strength of the drug or drugs dispensed.

11 (8) The quantity of the drug or drugs dispensed.

12 (9) The expiration date of the effectiveness of the drug  
13 dispensed.

14 (10) The condition for which the drug was prescribed if  
15 ~~requested by the patient~~ and the condition is indicated on the  
16 prescription, *unless the patient directs the pharmacist not to*  
17 *include this information on the label.*

18 (11) (A) Commencing January 1, 2006, the physical  
19 description of the dispensed medication, including its color, shape,  
20 and any identification code that appears on the tablets or capsules,  
21 except as follows:

22 (i) Prescriptions dispensed by a veterinarian.

23 (ii) An exemption from the requirements of this paragraph  
24 shall be granted to a new drug for the first 120 days that the drug  
25 is on the market and for the 90 days during which the national  
26 reference file has no description on file.

27 (iii) Dispensed medications for which no physical description  
28 exists in any commercially available database.

29 (B) This paragraph applies to outpatient pharmacies only.

30 (C) The information required by this paragraph may be printed  
31 on an auxiliary label that is affixed to the prescription container.

32 (D) This paragraph shall not become operative if the board,  
33 prior to January 1, 2006, adopts regulations that mandate the same  
34 labeling requirements set forth in this paragraph.

35 (b) If a pharmacist dispenses a prescribed drug by means of a  
36 unit dose medication system, as defined by administrative  
37 regulation, for a patient in a skilled nursing, intermediate care, or  
38 other health care facility, the requirements of this section will be  
39 satisfied if the unit dose medication system contains the



1 aforementioned information or the information is otherwise  
2 readily available at the time of drug administration.

3 (c) If a pharmacist dispenses a dangerous drug or device in a  
4 facility licensed pursuant to Section 1250 of the Health and Safety  
5 Code, it is not necessary to include on individual unit dose  
6 containers for a specific patient, the name of the certified  
7 nurse-midwife who functions pursuant to a standardized  
8 procedure or protocol described in Section 2746.51, the nurse  
9 practitioner who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure  
10 described in Section 2836.1, or protocol, or the physician assistant  
11 who functions pursuant to Section 3502.1.

12 (d) If a pharmacist dispenses a prescription drug for use in a  
13 facility licensed pursuant to Section 1250 of the Health and Safety  
14 Code, it is not necessary to include the information required in  
15 paragraph (11) of subdivision (a) ~~when~~ if the prescription drug is  
16 administered to a patient by a person licensed under the Medical  
17 Practice Act (Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 2000)), the  
18 Nursing Practice Act (Chapter 6 (commencing with Section  
19 2700)), or the Vocational Nursing Practice Act (Chapter 6.5  
20 (commencing with Section 2840)), who is acting within his or her  
21 scope of practice.

22 SEC. 3. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to  
23 Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because  
24 the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school  
25 district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or  
26 infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty  
27 for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of  
28 the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within  
29 the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California  
30 Constitution.





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 2184**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: PLESCIA**

**SPONSOR: CARDINAL HEALTH**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: OPPOSE**

**SUBJECT: AUTOMATED DISPENSING DEVICES**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Permits licensed health care facilities to employ an automated drug delivery system to provide drugs to patients before the next scheduled delivery by a pharmacy or for no more than 72 hours. (H&S 1261.6)
- 2) Permits the use of automated drug delivery systems in non-profit clinics licensed by the board under specified circumstances. (B&P 4186)

### This Bill:

- 1) Permits the board to license an automated drug delivery system (ADDS) if the system is operated by a pharmacy in either a skilled nursing facility or an intermediate care facility. (B&P 4119.1)
- 2) Specifies that drugs stored in the ADDS are part of the pharmacy's inventory and shall be considered to be dispensed from the pharmacy when removed from the ADDS. (B&P 4119.1)
- 3) Requires the board to, in consultation with the Department of Health Services (DHS), set a "reasonable" fee for issuing a license to an ADDS and that fee shall include the costs of enforcement related to the ADDS. (B&P 4119.1)
- 4) Permits the board to establish an agreement with DHS to share ADDS fee revenue and to have DHS provide inspection of the ADDS devices licensed by the board. (B&P 4119.1)
- 5) Requires the ADDS device to be under the supervision of a pharmacist who need not be physically present. (B&P 4119.1)
- 6) Requires that drugs removed from the ADDS must be in "properly labeled units of administration." (H&S 1261.6)
- 7) Requires that a pharmacist approves each order prior to the drug being removed from the ADDS. (H&S 1261.6)
- 8) Requires the pharmacy holding the ADDS license to control access to the ADDS. (H&S 1261.6)

9) Requires user access to the ADDS to be controlled and tracked using either a password or biosensor. (H&S 1261.6)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The sponsor is seeking to expand the use of automated dispensing devices in skilled nursing and intermediate care environments. In addition, the sponsor is seeking to obtain formal recognition of these devices by the Board of Pharmacy to satisfy DEA requirements for issuing DEA registration numbers that would allow the devices to contain controlled substances.

**2) Automated Dispensing.** Current law permits skilled nursing and intermediate care facilities to employ automated dispensing devices for limited purposes. The law requires that drugs from the devices may only be used to provide drugs to a patient until those drugs can be provided by the pharmacy. The law requires that orders for drugs dispensed from the device must be evaluated by a pharmacist. The devices may also be used as emergency pharmaceutical supply containers that are also permitted by existing law. The devices are not licensed by the board.

**3) Regulatory Model.** The bill would permit replacement of a substantial amount of pharmacy services provided to patients in these settings with a tele-pharmacy model. In this instance, tele-pharmacy would be implemented through automated devices that are owned and operated by an existing pharmacy. As such, the devices would require a formal process to license, certify or approve them as proposed in the bill. At present, the board does not have a mechanism for issuing such a license and tying it to an underlying pharmacy license.

The bill, as introduced, has a number of structural problems that would require substantial staff time to correct. The bill authorizes full scope tele-pharmacy in these two care settings and the board does not have an appropriate regulatory model for this activity. Numerous issues would remain to be resolved. Such as:

Does each device require its own pharmacist-in-charge (PIC) or can the PIC of the underlying pharmacy act as PIC for each of the devices licensed through that pharmacy?

If so, is there a limit on the number of devices that can be supervised by a pharmacy and any individual PIC?

If a violation occurs with one of the devices, does that violation and any attendant enforcement action go on record against the underlying pharmacy?

If a license for one of the devices were revoked what action if any would apply to other devices operated by the pharmacy and the underlying pharmacy itself?

These are just few issues that would need to be resolved to effectively implement such a regulatory model and these (and many other) details are not adequately addressed in the current draft of the legislation.

**4) Dual Jurisdiction.** The bill proposes a sharing of jurisdiction over the automated dispensing devices between the board and the Department of Health Services (DHS). If the devices are to be licensed by the board the enforcement authority should be exercised by the board alone. DHS should continue to exercise its authority over the licensed care facilities, but as a pharmacy, the devices should be the responsibility of the board.

**5) Definitions.** The bill refers to these dispensing devices providing "pharmacy services" but the bill does not define that term. The bill also does not clearly define the process by which pharmacists review drug orders prior to dispensing (i.e., does the pharmacist approve the initial order and all subsequent doses administered are automatically released, or does the pharmacist have to individually release each dose? The bill

indicates that the device need not be located in the pharmacy to provide services to a licensed facility but it does not require that the device be located in the licensed facility.

**6) Prior Legislation.** In 2001 the board sponsored legislation (Assembly Bill 809) which proposed a general model for licensing remote pharmacies and allow tele-pharmacy to be generally available in California. That legislation received substantial opposition and eventually was amended to allow that model to be employed in non-profit clinics. The bill was signed by the Governor. A copy of that legislation (as introduced) is attached for your reference.

**7) History.**

Mar. 18	Referred to Coms. on HEALTH and B. & P.
Feb. 19	From printer. May be heard in committee March 20.
Feb. 18	Read first time. To print.

**Blank**

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 2184**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Member Plescia**

February 18, 2004

---

---

An act to add Section 4119.1 to the Business and Professions Code, and to amend Sections 1261.5 and 1261.6 of the Health and Safety Code, relating to health facilities, and making an appropriation therefor.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2184, as introduced, Plescia. Health facilities: pharmacy services: automated drug delivery systems.

Existing law provides for the licensing and regulation by the State Department of Health Services of health facilities, including skilled nursing facilities and intermediate care facilities.

The Pharmacy Law, which provides for the licensing and regulation of the practice of pharmacy, is under the jurisdiction of the California State Board of Pharmacy. The Pharmacy Law prescribes requirements for the dispensing of drugs. Under existing law, anyone who knowingly violates the Pharmacy Law is guilty of a misdemeanor.

Existing law authorizes a pharmacy to furnish dangerous drugs or dangerous devices to a licensed health care facility for storage in a secured emergency pharmaceutical supplies container that is maintained within the facility in accordance with regulations of the department. Existing law establishes circumstances under which drugs may be removed from an automated drug delivery system at a skilled nursing facility or intermediate care facility. Existing law defines an automated drug delivery system as a mechanical system that performs operations and activities, other than compounding or administration, relative to the storage, dispensing, or distribution of drugs.

This bill would provide that a pharmacy may provide services to a skilled nursing facility or intermediate care facility through the use of an automated drug delivery system that meets certain requirements and the automated drug delivery system need not be located at the same location as the pharmacy. The bill would require that this automated drug delivery system be under the supervision of a licensed pharmacist, would not require that the pharmacist be physically present at the site, and would permit the pharmacist to supervise the system electronically. Because the bill would specify additional requirements under the Pharmacy Law and health facility laws, a violation of which is a crime, the bill would impose a state-mandated local program.

Existing law requires the board to collect licensing fees and penalties and fines, which are paid into the State Treasury and credited to the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund. This fund is a continuously appropriated fund that is used to pay the expenses, and for the use, of the board.

This bill would require, that the board issue a separate license, permit, or other authorization to the pharmacy to permit the storage of drugs in the automated drug delivery system at the address of a facility and would authorize the board to establish fees to reimburse activities associated with this authorization. Because this bill would increase the moneys credited to and expended from the continuously appropriated Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund, it would make an appropriation.

The bill would also correct an erroneous cross-reference.

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: yes. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: yes.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

- 1 SECTION 1. Section 4119.1 is added to the Business and
- 2 Professions Code, to read:
- 3 4119.1. (a) A pharmacy may provide pharmacy services to a
- 4 health facility licensed pursuant to subdivision (c), (d), or both, of
- 5 Section 1250 of the Health and Safety Code, through the use of an



1 automated drug delivery system that need not be located at the  
2 same location as the pharmacy.

3 (b) Drugs stored in an automated drug delivery system shall be  
4 part of the inventory of the pharmacy providing pharmacy services  
5 to that facility, and drugs dispensed from the pharmacy system  
6 shall be considered to have been dispensed by that pharmacy.

7 (c) (1) To permit the storage of drugs in the automated drug  
8 delivery system at a facility, the board shall issue a separate  
9 license, permit, or other authorization to the pharmacy providing  
10 pharmacy services using an automated drug delivery system for  
11 the address at the facility, and for each automated drug delivery  
12 system if more than one is operating in different locations in the  
13 facility.

14 (2) The board, in consultation with the State Department of  
15 Health Services if appropriate for purposes of paragraph (3), shall  
16 establish a reasonable fee for processing and issuing a license,  
17 permit, or other authorization under this subdivision, as well as for  
18 enforcing the requirements of this section and subdivision (f) of  
19 Section 1261.6 of the Health and Safety Code, including  
20 applicable inspections.

21 (3) The board, pursuant to an agreement, may provide for the  
22 inspection of automated drug delivery systems at health facilities  
23 by the State Department of Health Services and provide for the  
24 transfer of a portion of the proceeds of fee amounts to the State  
25 Department of Health Services to reimburse those inspection  
26 costs.

27 (d) The operation of the automated drug delivery system shall  
28 be under the supervision of a licensed pharmacist. To qualify as a  
29 supervisor for an automated drug delivery system, the pharmacist  
30 need not be physically present at the site of the automated drug  
31 delivery system and may supervise the system electronically.

32 SEC. 2. Section 1261.5 of the Health and Safety Code is  
33 amended to read:

34 1261.5. (a) The number of oral dosage form or suppository  
35 form drugs provided by a pharmacy to a health facility licensed  
36 pursuant to subdivision (c) or (d), or both (c) and (d), of Section  
37 1250 for storage in a secured emergency supplies container,  
38 pursuant to Section ~~4035~~ 4119 of the Business and Professions  
39 Code, shall be limited to 24. The State Department of Health  
40 Services may limit the number of doses of each drug available to



1 not more than four doses of any separate drug dosage form in each  
2 emergency supply.

3 (b) Any limitations established pursuant to subdivision (a) on  
4 the number and quantity of oral dosage or suppository form drugs  
5 provided by a pharmacy to a health facility licensed pursuant to  
6 subdivision (c), (d), or both (c) and (d), of Section 1250 for storage  
7 in a secured emergency supplies container shall not apply to an  
8 automated drug delivery system, as defined in Section 1261.6,  
9 when a pharmacist controls access to the drugs. This subdivision  
10 shall become operative on July 1, 1999.

11 SEC. 3. Section 1261.6 of the Health and Safety Code is  
12 amended to read:

13 1261.6. (a) (1) For purposes of this section and Section  
14 1261.5, an “automated drug delivery system” means a mechanical  
15 system that performs operations or activities, other than  
16 compounding or administration, relative to the storage,  
17 dispensing, or distribution of drugs. An automated drug delivery  
18 system shall collect, control, and maintain all transaction  
19 information to accurately track the movement of drugs into and out  
20 of the system for security, accuracy, and accountability.

21 (2) *For purposes of this section, “facility” means a health*  
22 *facility licensed pursuant to subdivision (c), (d), or both, of Section*  
23 *1250 that has an automated drug delivery system provided by a*  
24 *pharmacy.*

25 (b) Transaction information shall be made readily available in  
26 a written format for review and inspection by individuals  
27 authorized by law. These records shall be maintained in the facility  
28 for a minimum of three years.

29 (c) Individualized and specific access to automated drug  
30 delivery systems shall be limited to facility and contract personnel  
31 authorized by law to administer drugs.

32 (d) (1) The facility and the pharmacy shall develop and  
33 implement written policies and procedures to ensure safety,  
34 accuracy, accountability, security, patient confidentiality, and  
35 maintenance of the quality, potency, and purity of stored drugs.  
36 Policies and procedures shall define access to the automated drug  
37 delivery system and limits to access to equipment and drugs.

38 (2) All policies and procedures shall be maintained at the  
39 location where the automated drug delivery system is being used.



1 (e) ~~Drugs~~—*When used as an emergency pharmaceutical*  
2 *supplies container, drugs* removed from the automated drug  
3 delivery system shall be limited to the following:

4 (1) A new drug order given by a prescriber for a patient of the  
5 facility for administration prior to the next scheduled delivery  
6 from the pharmacy, or 72 hours, whichever is less. The drugs shall  
7 be retrieved only upon authorization by a pharmacist and after the  
8 pharmacist has reviewed the prescriber’s order and the patient’s  
9 profile for potential contraindications and adverse drug reactions.

10 (2) Drugs that a prescriber has ordered for a patient on an  
11 as-needed basis, if the utilization and retrieval of those drugs are  
12 subject to ongoing review by a pharmacist.

13 (3) Drugs designed by the patient care policy committee or  
14 pharmaceutical service committee of the facility as emergency  
15 drugs or acute onset drugs. These drugs may be retrieved from an  
16 automated drug delivery system pursuant to the order of a  
17 prescriber for emergency or immediate administration to a patient  
18 of the facility. Within 48 hours after retrieval under this paragraph,  
19 the case shall be reviewed by a pharmacist.

20 (f) *When used to provide pharmacy services pursuant to*  
21 *Section 4119.1 of the Business and Professions Code, the*  
22 *automated drug delivery system shall be subject to all of the*  
23 *following requirements:*

24 (1) *Drugs removed from the system for administration to a*  
25 *patient shall be in properly labeled units of administration*  
26 *containers or packages.*

27 (2) *A pharmacist shall review and approve all orders prior to*  
28 *a drug being removed from the system for administration to a*  
29 *patient.*

30 (3) *The pharmacy providing services to the facility pursuant to*  
31 *Section 4119.1 of the Business and Professions Code shall control*  
32 *user access to the drugs stored in the automated drug delivery*  
33 *system.*

34 (4) *User access to the system shall be controlled and tracked*  
35 *using an identification or password system or biosensor.*

36 (5) *The system shall make a complete and accurate record of all*  
37 *users accessing the system and all drugs removed from the system.*

38 (g) The stocking of an automated drug delivery system shall be  
39 performed by a pharmacist. If the automated drug delivery system  
40 utilizes removable pockets or drawers, or similar technology, the



1 stocking system may be done outside of the facility and be  
2 delivered to the facility if all of the following conditions are met:

3 (1) The task of placing drugs into the removable pockets or  
4 drawers is performed by a pharmacist or by an intern pharmacist  
5 or a pharmacy technician working under the direct supervision of  
6 a pharmacist.

7 (2) The removable pockets or drawers are transported between  
8 the pharmacy and the facility in a secure tamper-evident container.

9 (3) The facility, in conjunction with the pharmacy, has  
10 developed policies and procedures to ensure that the pockets or  
11 drawers are properly placed into the automated drug delivery  
12 system.

13 ~~(g)~~

14 (h) Review of the drugs contained within, and the operation and  
15 maintenance of, the automated drug delivery system shall be done  
16 in accordance with law and shall be the responsibility of the  
17 pharmacy. The review shall be conducted on a monthly basis by  
18 a pharmacist and shall include a physical inspection of the drugs  
19 in the automated drug delivery system, an inspection of the  
20 automated drug delivery system machine for cleanliness, and a  
21 review of all transaction records in order to verify the security and  
22 accountability of the system.

23 ~~(h)~~

24 (i) Drugs dispensed from an automated drug delivery system  
25 that meets the requirements of this section shall not be subject to  
26 the labeling requirements of Section 4076 of the Business and  
27 Professions Code or Section 111480 of this code if the drugs to be  
28 placed into the automated drug delivery system are in unit dose  
29 packaging or unit of use and if the information required by Section  
30 4076 of the Business and Professions Code and Section 111480 of  
31 this code is readily available at the time of drug administration.

32 ~~(i)~~

33 (j) This section shall become operative on July 1, 1999.

34 SEC. 4. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to  
35 Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because  
36 the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school  
37 district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or  
38 infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty  
39 for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of  
40 the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within



1 the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California  
2 Constitution.

O



**Blank**



# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 2660**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: LENO**

**SPONSOR: KAISER PERMANENTE**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: SUPPORT IF AMENDED**

**SUBJECT: PHARMACIST DEA REGISTRATION**

---

### Existing Law:

1) Specifies those practitioners authorized to sign a prescription for a dangerous drug or dangerous device. (B&P 4040)

2) Permits pharmacists to initiate or adjust the drug regimen of a patient under a protocol. (B&P 4052)

3) Prohibits the possession of a controlled substance except when possessed pursuant to a prescription. (B&P 4060)

4) Permits the following specified practitioners to request and receive complementary drug samples:

physician  
dentist  
podiatrist  
optometrist  
veterinarian  
certified nurse midwife  
nurse practitioner  
physician assistant

(B&P 4061)

5) Specifies the contents of the label affixed to dispensed prescriptions including the name of the practitioner ordering the drug or device. (B&P 4076)

6) Specifies those practitioners who may prescribe controlled substances. (H&S 11150)

### This Bill:

1) Permits pharmacists to sign orders for dangerous drugs when initiating or adjusting drug regimens under protocol. (B&P 4040)

2) Requires pharmacists to obtain a DEA registration number if they are authorized to initiate or adjust drug therapy under protocol. (B&P 4052)

3) Permits the possession of a controlled substance dispensed pursuant to a drug order signed by a pharmacist. (B&P 4060)

- 4) Permits a pharmacist working under protocol to request and receive drug samples. (B&P 4061)
- 5) Requires a prescription label to include the name of the practitioner, including a pharmacist, who ordered the drug. (B&P 4076)
- 6) Permits pharmacists to order controlled substances pursuant to a protocol. (H&S 11150)

### **Comment:**

**1) Author's Intent.** The author and sponsor are seeking to ensure that pharmacists working under protocol can obtain DEA registration numbers that are required to order controlled substances. The sponsor reports that the DEA has refused to issue DEA registration numbers to pharmacists because state law is not sufficiently clear in granting authority to pharmacists to order controlled substances. The sponsor also indicated a desire to allow pharmacists to order and receive drug samples for use when exercising their authority to initiate or adjust drug regimens.

**2) Samples.** The bill proposes allowing drug samples to be requested and received by a pharmacist acting under protocol. The presence of drug samples in a pharmacy could easily lead to the illegal resale of those samples or mixing of those samples with other pharmacy inventory. The sponsor contends that pharmacists should be able to use samples in the same manner as a nurse practitioner or a physician assistant when acting according to a protocol. However, federal law (21CFR203.30 and 203.31) restricts the delivery of samples to prescribers. Pharmacists are not "prescribers" under California law. Defining pharmacists as a prescriber would bar pharmacists from owning pharmacies due to the prohibition in California law regarding prescriber ownership of a pharmacy.

**Suggested Amendment:** The bill should be amended to eliminate the provision permitting pharmacists to request and receive complimentary drug samples.

**3) Technical Amendment.** The bill amends Section 4052 to include subdivision (c) which specifies that a pharmacist "initiating or adjusting drugs or devices" is an act of ordering drugs. This is inconsistent with other provisions of 4052 which allow pharmacists to "initiate and adjust drug regimens." The proposed amendment to this section also references "pharmaceutical agent" which is not defined in the Pharmacy Law.

**Suggested Amendment:** The bill should be amended to make the language regarding a pharmacist's authority consistent with other provisions in Section 4052 regarding the initiation and adjustment of drug regimen under protocol and it should replace "pharmaceutical agent" with "drug" which is defined in the Pharmacy Law and appears to have the intended meaning.

**4) Other Legislation.** The board has proposed amendments to Section 4076 in the annual omnibus bill that are substantially the same as those proposed in this bill. This duplication should be resolved by removing the provision from one of the bills. This would avoid the logistical difficulty involved in having such similar amendments in two bills.

### **5) History.**

Mar. 18	Referred to Coms. on HEALTH and B. & P.
Feb. 22	From printer. May be heard in committee March 23.
Feb. 20	Read first time. To print.

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 2660**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Member Leno**

February 20, 2004

---

---

An act to amend Sections 4040, 4052, 4060, 4061, and 4076 of the Business and Professions Code, and to amend Section 11150 of the Health and Safety Code, relating to pharmaceuticals.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2660, as introduced, Leno. Prescriptions: issuance by a pharmacist.

Existing law, the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, authorizes a pharmacist in specified circumstances to write or issue a prescription. The Pharmacy Law, which provides for the licensure and regulation by the California State Board of Pharmacy of pharmacy practices, defines a prescription, in part, as being issued by designated healing arts practitioners, not including a pharmacist. The Pharmacy Law prohibits distribution of a complimentary sample of a dangerous drug or dangerous device, as defined, without the written request of designated healing arts practitioners. A knowing violation of the Pharmacy Law is punishable as a misdemeanor offense.

This bill would revise the definition of “prescription” to include a pharmacist, as specified, among those practitioners who are authorized issuers. The bill would also authorize a pharmacist, as specified, to request and sign for the receipt of a complimentary sample of a dangerous drug or a dangerous device.

Because the bill would specify additional requirements under the Pharmacy Law, the violation of which would be a crime, it would impose a state-mandated local program.

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: yes.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Section 4040 of the Business and Professions  
2 Code is amended to read:  
3 4040. (a) "Prescription" means an oral, written, or  
4 electronic transmission order that is both of the following:  
5 (1) Given individually for the person or persons for whom  
6 ordered that includes all of the following:  
7 (A) The name or names and address of the patient or patients.  
8 (B) The name and quantity of the drug or device prescribed and  
9 the directions for use.  
10 (C) The date of issue.  
11 (D) Either rubber stamped, typed, or printed by hand or typeset,  
12 the name, address, and telephone number of the prescriber, his or  
13 her license classification, and his or her federal registry number,  
14 if a controlled substance is prescribed.  
15 (E) A legible, clear notice of the condition for which the drug  
16 is being prescribed, if requested by the patient or patients.  
17 (F) If in writing, signed by the prescriber issuing the order, or  
18 the certified nurse-midwife, nurse practitioner, ~~or~~ physician  
19 assistant, *or pharmacist* who issues a drug order pursuant to  
20 Section 2746.51, 2836.1, ~~or~~ 3502.1, *or 4052, respectively.*  
21 (2) Issued by a physician, dentist, optometrist, podiatrist, or  
22 veterinarian or, if a drug order is issued pursuant to Section  
23 2746.51, 2836.1, ~~or~~ 3502.1, *or 4052*, by a certified nurse-midwife,  
24 nurse practitioner, or physician assistant, *or pharmacist* licensed  
25 in this state.  
26 (b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), a written order of the  
27 prescriber for a dangerous drug, except for any Schedule II  
28 controlled substance, that contains at least the name and signature  
29 of the prescriber, the name and address of the patient in a manner



1 consistent with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 11164  
2 of the Health and Safety Code, the name and quantity of the drug  
3 prescribed, directions for use, and the date of issue may be treated  
4 as a prescription by the dispensing pharmacist as long as any  
5 additional information required by subdivision (a) is readily  
6 retrievable in the pharmacy. In the event of a conflict between this  
7 subdivision and Section 11164 of the Health and Safety Code,  
8 Section 11164 of the Health and Safety Code shall prevail.

9 (c) “Electronic transmission prescription” includes both  
10 image and data prescriptions. “Electronic image transmission  
11 prescription” means any prescription order for which a facsimile  
12 of the order is received by a pharmacy from a licensed prescriber.  
13 “Electronic data transmission prescription” means any  
14 prescription order, other than an electronic image transmission  
15 prescription, that is electronically transmitted from a licensed  
16 prescriber to a pharmacy.

17 (d) The use of commonly used abbreviations shall not  
18 invalidate an otherwise valid prescription.

19 (e) Nothing in the amendments made to this section (formerly  
20 Section 4036) at the 1969 Regular Session of the Legislature shall  
21 be construed as expanding or limiting the right that a chiropractor,  
22 while acting within the scope of his or her license, may have to  
23 prescribe a device.

24 SEC. 2. Section 4052 of the Business and Professions Code  
25 is amended to read:

26 4052. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a  
27 pharmacist may:

28 (1) Furnish a reasonable quantity of compounded medication  
29 to a prescriber for office use by the prescriber.

30 (2) Transmit a valid prescription to another pharmacist.

31 (3) Administer, orally or topically, drugs and biologicals  
32 pursuant to a prescriber’s order.

33 (4) Perform the following procedures or functions in a licensed  
34 health care facility in accordance with policies, procedures, or  
35 protocols developed by health professionals, including physicians,  
36 pharmacists, and registered nurses, with the concurrence of the  
37 facility administrator:

38 (A) Ordering or performing routine drug therapy-related  
39 patient assessment procedures including temperature, pulse, and  
40 respiration.



- 1 (B) Ordering drug therapy-related laboratory tests.
- 2 (C) Administering drugs and biologicals by injection pursuant
- 3 to a prescriber's order (the administration of immunizations under
- 4 the supervision of a prescriber may also be performed outside of
- 5 a licensed health care facility).
- 6 (D) Initiating or adjusting the drug regimen of a patient
- 7 pursuant to an order or authorization made by the patient's
- 8 prescriber and in accordance with the policies, procedures, or
- 9 protocols of the licensed health care facility.
- 10 (5) (A) Perform the following procedures or functions as part
- 11 of the care provided by a health care facility, a licensed home
- 12 health agency, a licensed clinic in which there is a physician
- 13 oversight, a provider who contracts with a licensed health care
- 14 service plan with regard to the care or services provided to the
- 15 enrollees of that health care service plan, or a physician, in
- 16 accordance, as applicable, with policies, procedures, or protocols
- 17 of that facility, the home health agency, the licensed clinic, the
- 18 health care service plan, or that physician, in accordance with
- 19 subparagraph (C):
- 20 (i) Ordering or performing routine drug therapy-related patient
- 21 assessment procedures including temperature, pulse, and
- 22 respiration.
- 23 (ii) Ordering drug therapy-related laboratory tests.
- 24 (iii) Administering drugs and biologicals by injection pursuant
- 25 to a prescriber's order (the administration of immunizations under
- 26 the supervision of a prescriber may also be performed outside of
- 27 a licensed health care facility).
- 28 (iv) Initiating or adjusting the drug regimen of a patient
- 29 pursuant to a specific written order or authorization made by the
- 30 patient's prescriber for the individual patient, and in accordance
- 31 with the policies, procedures, or protocols of the health care
- 32 facility, home health agency, licensed clinic, health care service
- 33 plan, or physician. Adjusting the drug regimen does not include
- 34 substituting or selecting a different drug, except as authorized by
- 35 the protocol. The pharmacist shall provide written notification to
- 36 the patient's prescriber, or enter the appropriate information in an
- 37 electronic patient record system shared by the prescriber, of any
- 38 drug regimen initiated pursuant to this clause within 24 hours.



1 (B) A patient’s prescriber may prohibit, by written instruction,  
2 any adjustment or change in the patient’s drug regimen by the  
3 pharmacist.

4 (C) The policies, procedures, or protocols referred to in this  
5 paragraph shall be developed by health care professionals,  
6 including physicians, pharmacists, and registered nurses, and, at  
7 a minimum, meet all of the following requirements:

8 (i) Require that the pharmacist function as part of a  
9 multidisciplinary group that includes physicians and direct care  
10 registered nurses. The multidisciplinary group shall determine the  
11 appropriate participation of the pharmacist and the direct care  
12 registered nurse.

13 (ii) Require that the medical records of the patient be available  
14 to both the patient’s prescriber and the pharmacist.

15 (iii) Require that the procedures to be performed by the  
16 pharmacist relate to a condition for which the patient has first been  
17 seen by a physician.

18 (iv) Except for procedures or functions provided by a health  
19 care facility, a licensed clinic in which there is physician oversight,  
20 or a provider who contracts with a licensed health care plan with  
21 regard to the care or services provided to the enrollees of that  
22 health care service plan, require the procedures to be performed in  
23 accordance with a written, patient-specific protocol approved by  
24 the treating or supervising physician. Any change, adjustment, or  
25 modification of an approved preexisting treatment or drug therapy  
26 shall be provided in writing to the treating or supervising physician  
27 within 24 hours.

28 (6) Manufacture, measure, fit to the patient, or sell and repair  
29 dangerous devices or furnish instructions to the patient or the  
30 patient’s representative concerning the use of those devices.

31 (7) Provide consultation to patients and professional  
32 information, including clinical or pharmacological information,  
33 advice, or consultation to other health care professionals.

34 (8) (A) Furnish emergency contraception drug therapy in  
35 accordance with either of the following:

36 (i) Standardized procedures or protocols developed by the  
37 pharmacist and an authorized prescriber who is acting within his  
38 or her scope of practice.

39 (ii) Standardized procedures or protocols developed and  
40 approved by both the board and the Medical Board of California



1 in consultation with the American College of Obstetricians and  
2 Gynecologists, the California Pharmacist Association, and other  
3 appropriate entities. Both the board and the Medical Board of  
4 California shall have authority to ensure compliance with this  
5 clause, and both boards are specifically charged with the  
6 enforcement of this provision with respect to their respective  
7 licensees. Nothing in this clause shall be construed to expand the  
8 authority of a pharmacist to prescribe any prescription medication.

9 (B) Prior to performing a procedure authorized under this  
10 paragraph, a pharmacist shall complete a training program on  
11 emergency contraception that consists of at least one hour of  
12 approved continuing education on emergency contraception drug  
13 therapy.

14 (C) A pharmacist, pharmacist's employer, or pharmacist's  
15 agent may not directly charge a patient separate consultation fee  
16 for emergency contraception drug therapy services initiated  
17 pursuant to this paragraph, but may charge an administrative fee  
18 not to exceed ten dollars (\$10) above the retail cost of the drug.  
19 Upon an oral, telephonic, electronic, or written request from a  
20 patient or customer, a pharmacist or pharmacist's employee shall  
21 disclose the total retail price that a consumer would pay for  
22 emergency contraception drug therapy. As used in this  
23 subparagraph, total retail price includes providing the consumer  
24 with specific information regarding the price of the emergency  
25 contraception drugs and the price of the administrative fee  
26 charged. This limitation is not intended to interfere with other  
27 contractually agreed-upon terms between a pharmacist, a  
28 pharmacist's employer, or a pharmacist's agent, and a health care  
29 service plan or insurer. Patients who are insured or covered and  
30 receive a pharmacy benefit that covers the cost of emergency  
31 contraception shall not be required to pay an administrative fee.  
32 These patients shall be required to pay copayments pursuant to the  
33 terms and conditions of their coverage. The provisions of this  
34 subparagraph shall cease to be operative for dedicated emergency  
35 contraception drugs when these drugs are reclassified as  
36 over-the-counter products by the federal Food and Drug  
37 Administration.

38 (D) A pharmacist may not require a patient to provide  
39 individually identifiable medical information that is not specified  
40 in Section 1707.1 of Title 16 of the California Code of Regulations



1 before initiating emergency contraception drug therapy pursuant  
2 to this paragraph.

3 (b) (1) Prior to performing any procedure authorized by  
4 paragraph (4) of subdivision (a), a pharmacist shall have received  
5 appropriate training as prescribed in the policies and procedures  
6 of the licensed health care facility.

7 (2) Prior to performing any procedure authorized by paragraph  
8 (5) of subdivision (a), a pharmacist shall have either (A)  
9 successfully completed clinical residency training or (B)  
10 demonstrated clinical experience in direct patient care delivery.

11 (3) For each emergency contraception drug therapy initiated  
12 pursuant to paragraph (8) of subdivision (a), the pharmacist shall  
13 provide the recipient of the emergency contraception drugs with  
14 a standardized factsheet that includes, but is not limited to, the  
15 indications for use of the drug, the appropriate method for using  
16 the drug, the need for medical followup, and other appropriate  
17 information. The board shall develop this form in consultation  
18 with the State Department of Health Services, the American  
19 College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, the California  
20 Pharmacists Association, and other health care organizations. The  
21 provisions of this section do not preclude the use of existing  
22 publications developed by nationally recognized medical  
23 organizations.

24 (c) *Initiating or adjusting drugs or devices by a pharmacist*  
25 *under this section is an act of ordering or making a pharmaceutical*  
26 *agent available to the patient in accordance with approved*  
27 *policies, procedures, and protocol. A pharmacist who is*  
28 *authorized to initiate or adjust a controlled substance therapy*  
29 *pursuant to this section shall personally register with the federal*  
30 *Drug Enforcement Administration.*

31 (d) Nothing in this section shall affect the requirements of  
32 existing law relating to maintaining the confidentiality of medical  
33 records.

34 ~~(d)~~

35 (e) Nothing in this section shall affect the requirements of  
36 existing law relating to the licensing of a health care facility.

37 SEC. 3. Section 4060 of the Business and Professions Code  
38 is amended to read:

39 4060. No person shall possess any controlled substance,  
40 except that furnished to a person upon the prescription of a



1 physician, dentist, podiatrist, optometrist, or veterinarian, or  
2 furnished pursuant to a drug order issued by a certified  
3 nurse-midwife pursuant to Section 2746.51, a nurse practitioner  
4 pursuant to Section 2836.1, ~~or~~ a physician assistant pursuant to  
5 Section 3502.1, *or a pharmacist pursuant to Section 4052*. This  
6 section shall not apply to the possession of any controlled  
7 substance by a manufacturer, wholesaler, pharmacy, *pharmacist*,  
8 physician, podiatrist, dentist, optometrist, veterinarian, certified  
9 nurse-midwife, nurse practitioner, or physician assistant, when in  
10 stock in containers correctly labeled with the name and address of  
11 the supplier or producer.

12 Nothing in this section authorizes a certified nurse-midwife, a  
13 nurse practitioner, or a physician assistant to order his or her own  
14 stock of dangerous drugs and devices.

15 SEC. 4. Section 4061 of the Business and Professions Code  
16 is amended to read:

17 4061. (a) No manufacturer's sales representative shall  
18 distribute any dangerous drug or dangerous device as a  
19 complimentary sample without the written request of a physician,  
20 dentist, podiatrist, optometrist, *pharmacist*, or veterinarian.  
21 However, a certified nurse-midwife who functions pursuant to a  
22 standardized procedure or protocol described in Section 2746.51,  
23 a nurse practitioner who functions pursuant to a standardized  
24 procedure described in Section 2836.1, or protocol, ~~or~~ a physician  
25 assistant who functions pursuant to a protocol described in Section  
26 3502.1, *or a pharmacist who functions pursuant to a policy,*  
27 *procedure, or protocol pursuant to Section 4052*, may sign for the  
28 request and receipt of complimentary samples of a dangerous drug  
29 or dangerous device that has been identified in the standardized  
30 procedure, protocol, or practice agreement. Standardized  
31 procedures, protocols, and practice agreements shall include  
32 specific approval by a physician. A review process, consistent with  
33 the requirements of Section 2725 or 3502.1, of the complimentary  
34 samples requested and received by a nurse practitioner, certified  
35 nurse-midwife, ~~or~~ physician assistant, *or pharmacist* shall be  
36 defined within the standardized procedure, protocol, or practice  
37 agreement.

38 (b) Each written request shall contain the names and addresses  
39 of the supplier and the requester, the name and quantity of the  
40 specific dangerous drug desired, the name of the certified



1 nurse-midwife, nurse practitioner, ~~or~~ physician assistant, *or*  
2 *pharmacist* if applicable, receiving the samples pursuant to this  
3 section, the date of receipt, and the name and quantity of the  
4 dangerous drugs or dangerous devices provided. These records  
5 shall be preserved by the supplier with the records required by  
6 Section 4059.

7 (c) Nothing in this section is intended to expand the scope of  
8 practice of a certified nurse-midwife, nurse practitioner, ~~or~~  
9 physician assistant, *or pharmacist*.

10 SEC. 5. Section 4076 of the Business and Professions Code  
11 is amended to read:

12 4076. (a) A pharmacist shall not dispense any prescription  
13 except in a container that meets the requirements of state and  
14 federal law and is correctly labeled with all of the following:

15 (1) Except where the prescriber or the certified nurse-midwife  
16 who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure or protocol  
17 described in Section 2746.51, the nurse practitioner who functions  
18 pursuant to a standardized procedure described in Section 2836.1,  
19 or protocol, ~~or~~ the physician assistant who functions pursuant to  
20 Section 3502.1, *or the pharmacist who functions pursuant to a*  
21 *policy, procedure, or protocol pursuant to Section 4052* orders  
22 otherwise, either the manufacturer's trade name of the drug or the  
23 generic name and the name of the manufacturer. Commonly used  
24 abbreviations may be used. Preparations containing two or more  
25 active ingredients may be identified by the manufacturer's trade  
26 name or the commonly used name or the principal active  
27 ingredients.

28 (2) The directions for the use of the drug.

29 (3) The name of the patient or patients.

30 (4) The name of the prescriber ~~and~~ *or*, if applicable, the *name*  
31 *of the* certified nurse-midwife who functions pursuant to a  
32 standardized procedure or protocol described in Section 2746.51,  
33 the nurse practitioner who functions pursuant to a standardized  
34 procedure described in Section 2836.1, or protocol, ~~or~~ the  
35 physician assistant who functions pursuant to Section 3502.1, *or*  
36 *the pharmacist who functions pursuant to a policy, procedure, or*  
37 *protocol pursuant to Section 4052*.

38 (5) The date of issue.

39 (6) The name and address of the pharmacy, and prescription  
40 number or other means of identifying the prescription.



1 (7) The strength of the drug or drugs dispensed.

2 (8) The quantity of the drug or drugs dispensed.

3 (9) The expiration date of the effectiveness of the drug  
4 dispensed.

5 (10) The condition for which the drug was prescribed if  
6 requested by the patient and the condition is indicated on the  
7 prescription.

8 (11) (A) Commencing January 1, 2006, the physical  
9 description of the dispensed medication, including its color, shape,  
10 and any identification code that appears on the tablets or capsules,  
11 except as follows:

12 (i) Prescriptions dispensed by a veterinarian.

13 (ii) An exemption from the requirements of this paragraph  
14 shall be granted to a new drug for the first 120 days that the drug  
15 is on the market and for the 90 days during which the national  
16 reference file has no description on file.

17 (iii) Dispensed medications for which no physical description  
18 exists in any commercially available database.

19 (B) This paragraph applies to outpatient pharmacies only.

20 (C) The information required by this paragraph may be printed  
21 on an auxiliary label that is affixed to the prescription container.

22 (D) This paragraph shall not become operative if the board,  
23 prior to January 1, 2006, adopts regulations that mandate the same  
24 labeling requirements set forth in this paragraph.

25 (b) If a pharmacist dispenses a prescribed drug by means of a  
26 unit dose medication system, as defined by administrative  
27 regulation, for a patient in a skilled nursing, intermediate care, or  
28 other health care facility, the requirements of this section will be  
29 satisfied if the unit dose medication system contains the  
30 aforementioned information or the information is otherwise  
31 readily available at the time of drug administration.

32 (c) If a pharmacist dispenses a dangerous drug or device in a  
33 facility licensed pursuant to Section 1250 of the Health and Safety  
34 Code, it is not necessary to include on individual unit dose  
35 containers for a specific patient, the name of the certified  
36 nurse-midwife who functions pursuant to a standardized  
37 procedure or protocol described in Section 2746.51, the nurse  
38 practitioner who functions pursuant to a standardized procedure  
39 described in Section 2836.1, or protocol, ~~or~~ the physician assistant  
40 who functions pursuant to Section 3502.1, *or the pharmacist who*



1 *functions pursuant to a policy, procedure, or protocol pursuant to*  
2 *Section 4052.*

3 (d) If a pharmacist dispenses a prescription drug for use in a  
4 facility licensed pursuant to Section 1250 of the Health and Safety  
5 Code, it is not necessary to include the information required in  
6 paragraph (11) of subdivision (a) when the prescription drug is  
7 administered to a patient by a person licensed under the Medical  
8 Practice Act (Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 2000)), the  
9 Nursing Practice Act (Chapter 6 (commencing with Section  
10 2700)), or the Vocational Nursing Practice Act (Chapter 6.5  
11 (commencing with Section 2840)), who is acting within his or her  
12 scope of practice.

13 SEC. 6. Section 11150 of the Health and Safety Code is  
14 amended to read:

15 11150. No person other than a physician, dentist, podiatrist, or  
16 veterinarian, or pharmacist acting within the scope of a project  
17 authorized under Article 1 (commencing with Section 128125) of  
18 Chapter 3 of Part 3 of Division 107 *or within the scope of Section*  
19 *4052 of the Business and Professions Code*, a registered nurse  
20 acting within the scope of a project authorized under Article 1  
21 (commencing with Section 128125) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of  
22 Division 107, a certified nurse-midwife acting within the scope of  
23 Section 2746.51 of the Business and Professions Code, a nurse  
24 practitioner acting within the scope of Section 2836.1 of the  
25 Business and Professions Code, a physician assistant acting within  
26 the scope of a project authorized under Article 1 (commencing  
27 with Section 128125) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of Division 107 or  
28 Section 3502.1 of the Business and Professions Code, or an  
29 optometrist acting within the scope of Section 3041 of the  
30 Business and Professions Code, or an out-of-state prescriber  
31 acting pursuant to Section 4005 of the Business and Professions  
32 Code shall write or issue a prescription.

33 SEC. 7. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to  
34 Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because  
35 the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school  
36 district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or  
37 infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty  
38 for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of  
39 the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within



1 the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California  
2 Constitution.

O





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: AB 2682**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: NEGRETE MCLEOD**

**SPONSOR:**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: SUPPORT IF AMENDED**

**SUBJECT: WHOLESALERS**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Requires wholesalers to be licensed by the board. (B&P 4160)
- 2) Requires out-of-state distributors shipping drugs into California to be licensed. (B&P 4161)
- 3) Exempts out-of-state distributors shipping drugs only to licensed wholesalers in California from being licensed by California. (B&P 4161)

### This Bill:

- 1) Requires the board to adopt regulations governing the wholesaling of dangerous drugs and devices by anyone who is not a manufacturer or an "authorized distributor." (B&P 4160.1)
- 2) Requires that the regulations required above incorporate the same requirements established by the Prescription Drug Marketing Act (PDMA) and regulations adopted pursuant to the PDMA. (B&P 4160.1)
- 3) Requires all out-of-state wholesalers shipping dangerous drugs or dangerous devices into to be licensed by the California Board of Pharmacy. (B&P 4161.1)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** As of this writing, staff has not been able to contact the author's office. However, discussions with the bill's sponsor indicated similar concerns to those expressed by the board regarding the weaknesses in the existing wholesale distribution chain. An updated analysis will be provided at the hearing if staff can make contact with the author's office.

**2) Board of Pharmacy Legislation.** The board is sponsoring Senate Bill 1307 (Figueroa) which also requires all non-resident wholesalers to be licensed by the board and will be amended to take a range of other actions relating to the licensure and regulation of wholesalers including:

- a. Require a pedigree for all drug transactions as of January 1, 2007.
- b. Require all wholesalers to obtain a \$100,000 bond to secure administrative fines and penalties.
- c. Prohibit pharmacies from acting as a wholesaler.

- d. Increase fines for violations related to counterfeit drugs and key documentation requirements.

This legislation is the result of several years work by the board's enforcement committee on curbing counterfeits and drug diversion. Similar provisions are included in recommendations from the FDA and NABP.

**3) Problems in Wholesaling.** A great deal of attention has been focused of late on weaknesses in the current wholesale market. Both the Washington Post and the Wall Street Journal have devoted attention to the wholesale market and how current regulations make it vulnerable to counterfeit drugs. In addition, both the NABP (new model law) and the FDA (Task Force on Counterfeit Drugs) have made substantial recommendations on how to improve regulation in this area.

**4) Regulations.** The bill requires the board to regulate all wholesalers and to adopt regulations that mirror those included in the PDMA and related federal regulations. If the intent is to essentially incorporate all of the PDMA rules in California law, that could be done more easily by taking that action directly in the bill. Requiring the board to adopt regulations delays the process by at least one year, if not longer given the complexity of such regulations.

**5) Suggested Amendments.** The bill should be amended to reflect the board's proposal. That proposal has been developed in a long and considered process and represents the board's judgment regarding the best approach to solve these problems in California.

**6) History.**

- |         |   |
|---------|---|
| Mar. 18 | Referred to Coms. on HEALTH and B. & P.           |
| Feb. 22 | From printer. May be heard in committee March 23. |
| Feb. 20 | Read first time. To print.                        |

**ASSEMBLY BILL**

**No. 2682**

---

---

**Introduced by Assembly Member Negrete McLeod**

February 20, 2004

---

---

An act to amend Section 4161 of, and to add Sections 4160.1 and 4161.1 to, the Business and Professions Code, relating to pharmacy, and making an appropriation therefor.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2682, as introduced, Negrete McLeod. Pharmacy: out-of-state wholesalers.

The Pharmacy Act provides for licensing and regulation of wholesalers of prescription drugs and devices by the California State Board of Pharmacy. Existing law requires out-of-state wholesalers of prescription drugs and devices selling or distributing those drugs and devices in this state to obtain an out-of-state dangerous drugs and devices distributor's license from the board, unless they sell or distribute only through a licensed wholesaler. A violation of the Pharmacy Act is a crime.

This bill would require the board to adopt regulations governing any person engaged in the wholesale distribution of a dangerous drug or device and who is not the manufacturer or an authorized distributor of record of the dangerous drug or device, which regulations shall implement the same federal regulatory provisions applicable to wholesalers engaged in interstate commerce. The bill would require all out-of-state wholesalers selling or distributing prescription drugs or devices in this state to obtain an out-of-state dangerous drugs and devices distributor's license from the board. Because this bill would require additional persons to pay existing fees to the board to obtain a

license, it would result in the deposit of additional revenue in the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund, a continuously appropriated fund, and would thereby make an appropriation.

Because a violation of the Pharmacy Act is a crime, the bill would impose a state-mandated local program by revising the definition of a crime.

The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.

This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: yes. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: yes.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Section 4160.1 is added to the Business and  
2 Professions Code, to read:

3 4160.1. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the  
4 board shall adopt regulations governing any person engaged in the  
5 wholesale distribution of a dangerous drug or device and who is  
6 not the manufacturer or an authorized distributor of record of the  
7 dangerous drug or device. The regulations adopted by the board  
8 shall implement the same regulatory provisions applicable to  
9 wholesalers engaged in interstate commerce pursuant to the  
10 federal Prescription Drug Marketing Act (21 U.S.C. Sec. 353(e))  
11 and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto, as contained in 21  
12 C.F.R. Part 205, as amended from time to time.

13 SEC. 2. Section 4161 of the Business and Professions Code  
14 is amended to read:

15 4161. (a) No person shall act as an out-of-state manufacturer  
16 ~~or wholesaler~~ of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices doing  
17 business in this state who has not obtained an out-of-state  
18 dangerous drug or dangerous device distributor’s license from the  
19 board. ~~Persons~~ *Manufacturers* not located in this state selling or  
20 distributing dangerous drugs or dangerous devices in this state  
21 only through a licensed wholesaler are not required to be licensed  
22 as an out-of-state manufacturer ~~or wholesaler~~ or have an



1 out-of-state dangerous drug or dangerous device distributor's  
2 license.

3 (b) Applications for an out-of-state dangerous drug or  
4 dangerous device distributor's license *pursuant to this section*  
5 shall be made on a form furnished by the board. The board may  
6 require any information as the board deems is reasonably  
7 necessary to carry out the purposes of the section. The license shall  
8 be renewed annually.

9 (c) The Legislature, by enacting this section, does not intend a  
10 license issued to any out-of-state manufacturer ~~or wholesaler~~  
11 pursuant to this section to change or affect the tax liability imposed  
12 by Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 23501) of Part 11 of  
13 Division 2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code on any out-of-state  
14 manufacturer ~~or wholesaler~~.

15 (d) The Legislature, by enacting this section, does not intend a  
16 license issued to any out-of-state manufacturer ~~or wholesaler~~  
17 pursuant to this section to serve as any evidence that the  
18 out-of-state manufacturer or wholesaler is doing business within  
19 this state.

20 SEC. 3. Section 4161.1 is added to the Business and  
21 Professions Code, to read:

22 4161.1. (a) No person shall act as an out-of-state wholesaler  
23 of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices doing business in this  
24 state who has not obtained an out-of-state dangerous drug or  
25 dangerous device distributor's license from the board. This  
26 provision shall apply to any person, other than the manufacturer  
27 of a dangerous drug or device, who is engaged in the wholesale  
28 distribution of dangerous drugs or devices and who may be  
29 licensed by the state pursuant to 21 U.S.C. Sec. 353(e)(2)(A) and  
30 regulations adopted by the United States Secretary of Health and  
31 Human Services pursuant to 21 C.F.R. Part 205, and shall apply  
32 regardless of whether the out-of-state wholesaler maintains an  
33 office or any other facility in this state.

34 (b) Applications for an out-of-state dangerous drug or  
35 dangerous device distributor's license pursuant to this section shall  
36 be made on a form furnished by the board. The board may require  
37 any information as the board deems is reasonably necessary to  
38 carry out the purposes of the section. The license shall be renewed  
39 annually.



1 (c) The Legislature, by enacting this section, does not intend a  
2 license issued to any out-of-state wholesaler pursuant to this  
3 section to change or affect the tax liability imposed by Chapter 3  
4 (commencing with Section 23501) of Part 11 of Division 2 of the  
5 Revenue and Taxation Code on any out-of-state wholesaler.

6 (d) The Legislature, by enacting this section, does not intend a  
7 license issued to any out-of-state wholesaler pursuant to this  
8 section to serve as any evidence that the out-of-state wholesaler is  
9 doing business within this state.

10 SEC. 4. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to  
11 Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because  
12 the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school  
13 district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or  
14 infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty  
15 for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of  
16 the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within  
17 the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California  
18 Constitution.





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: SB 1149**

**VERSION: AS AMENDED MARCH 16, 2004**

**AUTHOR: ORTIZ**

**SPONSOR: AUTHOR**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: OPPOSE UNLESS AMENDED**

**SUBJECT: IMPORTATION**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Requires pharmacies operating in California (including non-resident pharmacies) to be licensed by the board. (B&P 4110)
- 2) Prohibits the importation of prescription drugs except by a manufacturer.

### This Bill:

- 1) Finds that prescription drugs are an essential part of health care delivery but that due to their high cost, many Californians face difficulty accessing the medications they need.
- 2) Finds that licensed Canadian pharmacies generally meet safety standards for the acquisition, and dispensing of prescription drugs that are as stringent as those in California.
- 3) Requires the Board to develop and disseminate information, including through an interactive website, identifies Canadian pharmacies that have established that they meet recognized standards for the safe acquisition, shipment, handling, and dispensing of prescription drugs to persons in California. (B&P 4001.2)
- 4) Provides that a Canadian pharmacy that meets recognized standards for the safe acquisition, handling, and dispensing of drugs shall mean a pharmacy which is located in Canada and which meets all of the following requirements:
  - a. Is licensed in the province in which it is located;
  - b. Is accredited or eligible for accreditation by the Internet and Mail Order Pharmacy Accreditation Commission and/or a member of the Canadian International Pharmacy Association; and
  - c. Meets the requirements for licensure as a California pharmacy if it were located in California.

(B&P 4001.2)
- 5) Requires the Board to collect, publish, and post on the interactive website it creates, information concerning out-of-country suppliers of prescription drugs that have been found to have violated recognized standards for the safe shipment, handling, and processing of prescription drugs.

(B&P 4001.3)

6) Provides that in carrying out the latter duty, the Board may rely on information made available by regulatory and law enforcement bodies and is not required to conduct its own surveillance activities or investigation. (B&P 4001.3)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The author's intent is to provide an additional means for consumers in California, particularly seniors, persons with disabilities, and low-income residents, to access affordable prescription drugs. According to the author, drugs are an indispensable component of health care delivery, yet millions of Californians face barriers to accessing the drugs they need to maintain their health due to their rising cost.

**2) Importation.** Existing federal law generally restricts the importation of prescription drugs to drug manufacturers. Federal law can permit the importation of prescription drugs by drug wholesalers and pharmacies if the Secretary of Health and Human Services (Secretary) issues a finding that such a practice would be safe. Such a finding has not been issued by the Secretary.

The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has for many years allowed individuals to purchase drugs abroad in limited amounts and bring them into the United States for personal use. Recent statements by FDA officials have reinforced that the FDA does not intend to prosecute individuals who import drugs for their own use. However, the FDA has taken legal action against some storefronts that assist consumers in ordering drugs from Canadian pharmacies at lower prices. The FDA has also taken legal action against entities that serve as middlemen between Canadian drug suppliers and those state and local governments that have sought to purchase Canadian drugs for their beneficiaries.

**3) Price Controls.** Consumers seek to purchase drugs from Canadian pharmacies to save money. Drug prices are lower in Canada because the Canadian government has a system to control drug prices. [For your information, attached is a recent article from the journal *Health Affairs* describes the price control methods used in Canada.]

**Branded** drugs can commonly be purchased from Canadian pharmacies at substantial discounts. However, US prices are generally lower for **generic** drugs.

**4) Affordability.** The board is sympathetic to the difficulty of those without drug insurance have affording the drugs they need and the impact of drug pricing on the affordability of insurance coverage for those who have it.

Much of the public debate regarding the importation of drugs from Canada has focused on the safety of imported drugs. This debate on safety masks the more basic affordability problem that underlies importation. Consumers are seeking Canadian drugs because of lower prices not because of problems with drug availability or because of the convenience of the Canadian pharmacies. In this circumstance, importation is an indirect method of imposing price controls on drugs. Despite this reality, little if any consideration has been articulated regarding the establishment of direct price controls. While proposing direct price controls would be politically challenging, such a debate would present a more straightforward discussion regarding the cost of and accessibility to prescription drugs. The board is not advocating any particular action in this respect, but rather encouraging a full and honest debate regarding the essential issue of drug pricing.

**5) Approved Pharmacies.** The bill requires the board to list on its web site Canadian pharmacies that are licensed in Canada, is accredited by the Internet and Mail Order Pharmacy Accreditation Commission, and would meet the requirements for licensure as a non-resident pharmacy. California law requires that pharmacies (both resident and non-resident) to be licensed by the board to protect the consumer. Those licenses

are issued for a fixed term to help ensure ongoing compliance with California law and are subject to the full spectrum of enforcement actions for violations of California law.

It would be untenable for the board to issue any official approval or listing of a Canadian pharmacy other than a full pharmacy license. The license mechanism provides the board with both the financial and legal resources required to conduct a license issuance process that would be absent in the "certification" process proposed by this bill. In addition, the board would have no ability to take enforcement action against the "certification" should a "certified" pharmacy fall out of compliance with the certification standards or violate California law.

**6) Licensing Foreign Locations.** It is unclear if the board has the requisite legal authority to issue a license to a pharmacy located in Canada. The licensure of non-resident pharmacies is premised on the relative consistency of pharmacy standards among the different states in the US and the ability of the appropriate licensing agency in each of those states to be the primary enforcer of those standards. The board does not currently have the knowledge and expertise to judge the nature and extent of pharmacy regulation by either the Canadian national government or the relevant provincial governments. The board would have to acquire that knowledge and expertise before making a judgment whether it is appropriate to license a Canadian pharmacy as a non-resident pharmacy.

**7) Resources.** The bill requires the board to take on a number of additional responsibilities for which it does not have the resources. The certification program would have to be developed from scratch as a new quasi-licensing program and the collection and regular update of prescription drug pricing information would be an entirely new activity. Drug pricing is notoriously variable based on the purchaser and the timing of the purchase, and the board would have to develop a methodology for establishing actual market prices. Both of these activities would require additional staff. Given the board's existing challenges meeting existing statutory obligations because of recent staff and budgetary cutbacks, additional personnel would be required. It is unlikely that such additional resources would be provided in the present fiscal environment.

**8) Minnesota.** The Web site provisions of this bill largely duplicate existing efforts made by the state of Minnesota. As indicated above, the bill would require the board to expend additional resources to duplicate an existing web page. Linking to the Minnesota Rx Connect Web site would be a faster and less expensive approach to providing California consumers this information.

**Suggested Amendments:** The bill should be amended to refer patients to pharmacies approved by Minnesota or other states currently operating Web sites directing patients to Canadian pharmacies. The bill should also be amended to require permission or waiver from the federal government prior to instituting this program.

## **9) Support and Opposition.**

Support:

AIDS Healthcare Foundation  
California Alliance for Retired Americans  
California Health Advocates  
California Labor Federation, AFL-CIO  
California Nurses Association  
Congress of California Seniors  
Consumer Federation of California  
Consumers Union  
Foundation for Taxpayer and Consumer Rights

Gray Panthers California  
Health Access California  
Older Women's League of California  
Senior Action Network  
Service Employees International Union

Oppose:

BIOCOM  
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company  
California Chamber of Commerce  
Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America

## 10) History.

Mar. 22	Hearing postponed by committee. Set for hearing April 12.
Mar. 16	Read second time. Amended. Re-referred to Com. on B. & P.
Mar. 15	From committee: Do pass as amended, but first amend, and re-refer to Com. on B. & P. (Ayes 8. Noes 2. Page 3060.)
Mar. 11	Set for hearing March 22 in B. & P. pending receipt.
Mar. 4	Withdrawn from committee. Re-referred to Coms. on H. & H.S. and B. & P.
Mar. 3	Withdrawn from committee. Re-referred to Com. on RLS.
Mar. 1	Set for hearing March 10 in H. & H. S. pending receipt.
Mar. 1	From committee with author's amendments. Read second time. Amended. Re-referred to committee.
Feb. 17	To Com. on B. & P.
Jan. 27	From print. May be acted upon on or after February 26.
Jan. 26	Introduced. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment. To print.

AMENDED IN SENATE MARCH 16, 2004

AMENDED IN SENATE MARCH 1, 2004

**SENATE BILL**

**No. 1149**

---

---

**Introduced by Senator Ortiz**

January 26, 2004

---

---

An act to add Sections 4001.2 and 4001.3 to the Business and Professions Code, relating to pharmacy.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 1149, as amended, Ortiz. Dangerous drugs: Canadian pharmacies: foreign suppliers.

Existing law, the Pharmacy Law, establishes the California State Board of Pharmacy and makes it responsible for licensing and regulating pharmacy practices, including the furnishing of dangerous drugs, as defined.

This bill would require the board to develop and disseminate information identifying pharmacies in Canada that meet recognized standards for the safe acquisition, shipment, handling, and dispensing of dangerous drugs to California residents. The bill would also require the board to collect, publish, and post on an Internet Web site information concerning suppliers of dangerous drugs that are located and operating outside of the United States that have violated safe shipment, handling, and processing standards.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: no.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. The Legislature finds all of the following:

2 (a) Prescription medications are an essential part of health care  
3 delivery and have contributed to increasing the life expectancy of  
4 patients and treating their diseases and conditions.

5 (b) Despite this, due to the high cost of prescription  
6 medications, many Californians, especially elderly, disabled, and  
7 low-income persons, face difficulty accessing the medications  
8 they need to maintain their health.

9 (c) As one means of accessing affordable prescription  
10 medications, increasing numbers of Californians are purchasing  
11 prescription medications from foreign countries, in many cases  
12 through an Internet Web site.

13 (d) California consumers currently have few ways of  
14 determining which outlets and suppliers of prescription  
15 medications in foreign countries are safe and reliable, particularly  
16 those offering their products through an Internet Web site.

17 (e) Canadian pharmacies that are licensed by the provinces in  
18 which they are located generally meet safety standards for the  
19 acquisition, distribution, and dispensing of prescription  
20 medications that are as stringent as those in California.

21 (f) In order to help ensure access to prescription medications,  
22 there is a need to provide consumers with information about safe  
23 and reliable Canadian pharmacies and about fraudulent and unsafe  
24 suppliers or outlets of prescription medications whose practices  
25 may potentially harm consumers, *and there is a need* to assist  
26 consumers in making informed choices for obtaining prescription  
27 medications for their health care needs.

28 SEC. 2. Section 4001.2 is added to the Business and  
29 Professions Code, to read:

30 4001.2. (a) The board shall develop and disseminate  
31 information identifying Canadian pharmacies that have  
32 established that they meet recognized standards for the safe  
33 acquisition, shipment, handling, and dispensing of dangerous  
34 drugs to persons in California. As part of this requirement, the  
35 board shall establish an interactive Internet Web site that links  
36 consumers to, or provides information about, Canadian  
37 pharmacies that the board has determined meet recognized



1 standards for the safe acquisition, shipment, handling, and  
2 dispensing of dangerous drugs to persons in California.

3 (b) For the purposes of this section, a Canadian pharmacy that  
4 meets recognized standards for the safe acquisition, shipment,  
5 handling, and dispensing of dangerous drugs means a pharmacy  
6 that is located in Canada and meets all of the following  
7 requirements:

8 (1) Is licensed by the province in which it is located.

9 (2) Is accredited or eligible for accreditation by the Internet and  
10 Mail Order Pharmacy Accreditation Commission or is a member  
11 of the Canadian International Pharmacy Association.

12 (3) ~~Would likely meet~~ *Meets* the requirements for licensure by  
13 the board as a pharmacy.

14 SEC. 3. Section 4001.3 is added to the Business and  
15 Professions Code, to read:

16 4001.3. (a) The board shall collect, publish, and post on an  
17 Internet Web site created pursuant to Section 4001.2, information  
18 concerning suppliers of dangerous drugs that are located and  
19 operating outside of the United States that have been found to have  
20 violated recognized standards for the safe shipment, handling, and  
21 processing of dangerous drugs.

22 (b) In carrying out this section, the board may rely on  
23 information made available by regulatory and law enforcement  
24 bodies, including, but not limited to, the federal Food and Drug  
25 Administration, the United States Customs Service, prescription  
26 drug regulatory bodies of foreign countries, the Attorney General,  
27 the United States Department of Justice, the boards of pharmacy  
28 of other states, and the National Association of Boards of  
29 Pharmacy.

30 (c) The board is not required to conduct surveillance activities  
31 or its own investigations in order to carry out the requirements of  
32 this section, but is authorized to engage in those activities to the  
33 extent its resources permit.



**Blank**



# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: SB 1159**

**VERSION: AS AMENDED MARCH 16, 2004**

**AUTHOR: VASCONCELLOS**

**SPONSOR: DRUG POLICY ALLIANCE**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: SUPPORT**

**SUBJECT: HYPODERMIC NEEDLES**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Requires the distribution of hypodermic needles and syringes to be regulated by the Board of Pharmacy. (B&P 4140)
- 2) Requires a prescription to obtain a hypodermic needle or syringe. (B&P 4142)
- 3) Exempts hypodermic needles and syringes for the administration of insulin and adrenaline from the prescription requirement. (B&P 4145)
- 4) Exempts hypodermic needles and syringes for use in animals from the prescription requirement. (B&P 4145)
- 5) Exempts hypodermic needles and syringes for industrial use from the prescription requirement. (B&P 4144)
- 6) Defines hypodermic needles and syringes used with illicit drugs as drug paraphernalia. (Health & Safety Code 11014.5)
- 7) Imposes misdemeanor penalties for the unlawful sale of drug paraphernalia. (Health & Safety Code 11364.7)

### This Bill:

- 1) Repeals the prescription requirement for hypodermic needles and syringes (needles) if:
  - a. The patient is known to the furnisher and has a legitimate medical need for the needles; or,
  - b. The patient is over 18 years of age and the pharmacy is part of a demonstration project. (B&P 4145)
- 2) Restricts the number of needles that may be provided by a pharmacy participating in a demonstration project to 10 in any single transaction. (B&P 4145)
- 3) Repeals the logbook requirement for furnishing needles. (B&P 4146)
- 4) Exempts needles obtained legitimately from the definition of drug paraphernalia. (H&S 11364)

5) Establishes the requirements of a demonstration project, from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2008, to evaluate the impact of allowing the furnishing of needles without a prescription.

6) Requires pharmacies participating in the demonstration project to:

- a. register with the local health department.
- b. provide patients with information on local drug treatment options, local testing options for HIV and hepatitis C, and local options for safe needle disposal.
- c. store needles in a location only accessible to authorized pharmacy personnel.
- d. provide either onsite needle disposal or mail back sharps disposal containers. (H&S 121285)

7) Prohibits the disposal of a needle on a playground, beach, park, or school. (B&P 4147)

8) Establishes a penalty of up to six months in jail and/or a fine of \$200 - \$2,000 for disposing of a needle on a playground, beach, park, or school. (B&P 4147)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The author seeks to increase access to hypodermic needles and syringes. The author points out numerous studies establishing the link between HIV transmission and intravenous drug use. These same studies indicate that the use of sterile syringes greatly reduces the transmission of HIV and other diseases among intravenous drug users. A bulletin supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services called for the use of a new, sterile syringe for each injection by drug users. A coalition of health organizations including the American Medical Association, National Association of Boards of Pharmacy, and the American Pharmaceutical Association recommends that states take action to make clean needles and syringes available to intravenous drug users.

**2) New York Model.** In May 2000, the New York State Legislature enacted Chapter 56 of the Laws of 2000, creating the Expanded Syringe Access Demonstration Program (ESAP), with the purpose of reducing the transmission of blood-borne diseases, including HIV and Hepatitis C. SB 1159 is nearly identical to the New York law, allowing for the sale or furnishing of up to 10 syringes per transaction to persons 18 years of age or older without a prescription if the pharmacy is registered with the local health department.

The New York Academy of Medicine, in consultation with the AIDS Advisory Council, evaluated the effects of the New York law and published the results of that evaluation in 2003. The evaluation found that:

- o Needle sharing among injection drug users has slightly declined since ESAP's inception.
- o More and more pharmacies and drug users are participating in the program, though greater awareness is needed.
- o Discarded needles or syringes have not been found in higher quantities on the street as a result of this program.
- o No increases in drug-related criminal arrests have occurred since this program began.
- o No increases in drug use or drug injections have been observed since ESAP began.

The Academy's report concluded that the program has great potential to prevent transmission of blood-borne diseases without any detrimental effects on syringe disposal, drug use or crime. Furthermore, the report recommended that the ESAP law

be adopted on a permanent basis. Governor Pataki recently extended the program, which was set to expire on March 31, 2003, through September 2007.

**3) Previous Legislation.** Assembly Bill 136 (Chapter 762, Statutes of 1999) removed potential criminal prosecution for clean needle exchange programs operated by public entities or the agents of public entities. Legislation in that same session that exempted needles distributed in a clean needle program operated by a public entity from the prescription requirement was rejected by the Governor.

In 2003, Senator John Vasconcellos introduced Senate Bill 774 which eliminated the prescription requirement for needles and syringes and instead required that they only be sold by a pharmacist. The bill also limited the quantity sold to 30 needles per purchase. That bill was supported by the board and vetoed by the Governor. The board supported SB 774. It is unknown at this time what position the new Governor may take on this legislation.

**4) Hypodermic Permits.** Currently any entity furnishing needles at retail must have either a pharmacy or hypodermic permit from the board. This bill would alter that allow the furnishing of needles by a the holder of a hypodermic permit to persons with a demonstrated medical need . However, the furnishing of needles without demonstrated medical need would have to occur in a pharmacy. Hypodermic permits would still be required to furnish needles for animal use (existing law exempts needles furnished for industrial use and this bill retains that exemption).

**5) Needles and Disease Transmission.** California is one of five states that prohibit the sale of sterile syringes without a prescription. Sharing dirty syringes is linked to 20% of all AIDS cases in California. The link between injection drug use and HIV is particularly strong for women and people of color. In California, 37% of cumulative AIDS cases among women, 24.3% of cases among African American men and women and 22.4% of cases among Latinas are directly attributable to syringe sharing. Additionally, as of 2001, an estimated 600,000 Californians were infected with hepatitis C, with an additional 5,000 new infections each year attributable to dirty syringes.

## 6) History

Mar. 16	Read second time. Amended. Re-referred to Com. on ENV. QUAL.
Mar. 15	From committee: Do pass as amended, but first amend, and re-refer to Com. on ENV. QUAL. (Ayes 8. Noes 2. Page 3060.)
Mar. 1	Set for hearing March 10.
Feb. 17	To Coms. on H. & H.S. and ENV. QUAL.
Feb. 3	From print. May be acted upon on or after March 4.
Feb. 2	Introduced. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment. To print.

## 7) Support and Opposition

### Support:

Drug Alliance Policy Network (main sponsor)  
AIDS Healthcare Foundation (co-sponsor)  
American Liver Foundation, San Diego Area Chapter (co-sponsor)  
California Medical Association (co-sponsor)  
California Nurses Association (co-sponsor)  
Health Officers Association of California (co-sponsor)  
San Francisco AIDS Foundation (co-sponsor)  
Southern California HIV Advocacy Coalition (co-sponsor)  
United Food & Commercial Workers International Union (co-sponsor)  
Walgreens (co-sponsor)  
California Retailers Association (co-sponsor)

AIDS Project Los Angeles  
Alameda County Board of Supervisors  
County Health Executives Association of California  
California National Organization for Women  
California Opioid Maintenance Providers  
California Pharmacists Association  
California Society of Addiction Medicine  
County Alcohol and Drug Program Administrators Association of California  
Sierra Club

Oppose:

California Narcotic Officers' Association  
Capitol Resource Institute

AMENDED IN SENATE MARCH 16, 2004

**SENATE BILL**

**No. 1159**

---

**Introduced by Senator Vasconcellos**

(Principal coauthors: Assembly Members Berg and Nation)

(Coauthors: Assembly Members Goldberg, Hancock, Jerome Horton,  
Laird, and Levine)

February 2, 2004

---

An act to amend ~~Section 4145~~ *Sections 4145 and 4147* of, and to repeal Section 4146 of, the Business and Professions Code, to amend Section 11364 of, and to add Chapter 13.5 (commencing with Section 121285) to Part 4 of Division 105 of, the Health and Safety Code, and to amend Sections 41770 and 41900 of, and to add Section 41803 to, the Public Resources Code, relating to hypodermic needles and syringes.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 1159, as amended, Vasconcellos. Hypodermic needles and syringes.

(1) Existing law regulates the sale, possession, and disposal of hypodermic needles and syringes. Under existing law, a prescription is required to purchase a hypodermic needle or syringe for human use, except to administer adrenaline or insulin.

This bill would authorize a licensed pharmacist, until December 31, 2008, to sell or furnish 10 or fewer hypodermic needles or syringes to a person for human use without a prescription if the pharmacy is registered with a local health department in the Disease Prevention Demonstration Project, which would be created by the bill to evaluate the long-term desirability of allowing licensed pharmacies to sell or

furnish nonprescription hypodermic needles or syringes to prevent the spread of blood-borne pathogens, including HIV and hepatitis C.

The bill would require local health departments to register pharmacies in the program and to cooperate with the Office of AIDS of the State Department of Health Services, thereby imposing a state-mandated local program. The bill would require the Office of AIDS of the State Department of Health Services, in conjunction with an advisory panel, to evaluate the effects of allowing the sale of hypodermic needles or syringes without prescription, and would require a report to be submitted to the Governor and the Legislature by January 15, 2008, subject to funding being available from federal or private sources. The demonstration program would terminate on December 31, 2008.

Alternatively, the bill would also authorize the sale or furnishing of hypodermic needles or syringes to a person for human use without a prescription if the person is known to the furnisher and has previously provided the furnisher with a prescription or other proof of a legitimate medical need.

*The bill would make it unlawful to discard or dispose a hypodermic needle or syringe upon the grounds of a playground, beach, park, or any public or private elementary, vocational, junior high, or high school. The bill would make a knowing violation of this prohibition a crime, thereby imposing a state-mandated local program.*

(2) Existing law requires a pharmacist to keep detailed records of nonprescription sales of hypodermic needles and syringes.

This bill would delete that requirement.

(3) Existing law prohibits the possession and sale of drug paraphernalia.

This bill, until December 31, 2008, would authorize a person to possess 10 or fewer hypodermic needles or syringes if acquired through an authorized source.

(4) Existing law requires a county or regional agency to prepare an integrated waste management plan based on submissions from cities and the county that includes a program element for the safe collection, recycling, treatment, and disposal of hazardous waste generated by households that should be separated from the solid waste stream.

This bill would authorize, as part of the update of the household waste element described above, a program to be identified for the safe collection, recycling, treatment, and disposal of household sharps



waste, defined to mean hypodermic needles, syringes, and lancets. The bill would enact other related provisions.

~~The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement, including the creation of a State Mandates Claims Fund to pay the costs of mandates that do not exceed \$1,000,000 statewide and other procedures for claims whose statewide costs exceed \$1,000,000.~~

~~This bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that the bill contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement for those costs shall be made pursuant to these statutory provisions.~~

*(5) The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state. Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement, including the creation of a State Mandates Claims Fund to pay the costs of mandates that do not exceed \$1,000,000 statewide and other procedures for claims whose statewide costs exceed \$1,000,000.*

*This bill would provide that with regard to certain mandates no reimbursement is required by this act for a specified reason.*

*With regard to any other mandates, this bill would provide that, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that the bill contains costs so mandated by the state, reimbursement for those costs shall be made pursuant to the statutory provisions noted above.*

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: yes.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

- 1 SECTION 1. Section 4145 of the Business and Professions
- 2 Code is amended to read:
- 3 4145. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a
- 4 pharmacist or physician may, without a prescription or a permit,
- 5 furnish hypodermic needles and syringes for human use, and a
- 6 person may, without a prescription or license, obtain hypodermic
- 7 needles and syringes from a pharmacist or physician for human
- 8 use, if one of the following requirements is met:



1 (1) The person is known to the furnisher and the furnisher has  
2 previously been provided a prescription or other proof of a  
3 legitimate medical need requiring a hypodermic needle or syringe  
4 to administer a medicine or treatment.

5 (2) For the period commencing January 1, 2005, and ending  
6 December 31, 2008, a pharmacist may furnish or sell 10 or fewer  
7 hypodermic needles or syringes at any one time to a person 18  
8 years of age or older if the pharmacist works for a pharmacy that  
9 is registered for the Disease Prevention Demonstration Project  
10 pursuant to Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 121350) of Part  
11 4 of Division 105 of the Health and Safety Code and the pharmacy  
12 complies with the provisions of that chapter.

13 (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a pharmacist,  
14 veterinarian, or person licensed pursuant to Section 4141 may,  
15 without a prescription or license, furnish hypodermic needles and  
16 syringes for use on animals, and a person may, without a  
17 prescription or license, obtain hypodermic needles and syringes  
18 from a pharmacist, veterinarian, or person licensed pursuant to  
19 Section 4141 for use on animals, providing that no needle or  
20 syringe shall be furnished to a person who is unknown to the  
21 furnisher and unable to properly establish his or her identity.

22 SEC. 2. Section 4146 of the Business and Professions Code  
23 is repealed.

24 SEC. 3. *Section 4147 of the Business and Professions Code is*  
25 *amended to read:*

26 4147. (a) *For the purposes of this section, "playground"*  
27 *means any park or outdoor recreational area specifically designed*  
28 *to be used by children that has play equipment installed or any*  
29 *similar facility located on public or private school grounds or*  
30 *county parks.*

31 (b) Any hypodermic needle or syringe that is to be disposed of,  
32 shall be contained, treated, and disposed of, pursuant to Part 14  
33 (commencing with Section 117600) of Division 104 of the Health  
34 and Safety Code.

35 (c) *It is unlawful to discard or dispose of a hypodermic needle*  
36 *or syringe upon the grounds of a playground, beach, park, or any*  
37 *public or private elementary, vocational, junior high, or high*  
38 *school.*

39 (d) *A person who knowingly violates subdivision (c) is guilty of*  
40 *a misdemeanor, and upon conviction shall be punished by a fine*



1 *of not less than two hundred dollars (\$200) and not more than two*  
2 *thousand dollars (\$2,000), or by imprisonment of up to six months,*  
3 *or by both that fine and imprisonment.*

4 *(e) Subdivision (c) does not apply to the containment,*  
5 *treatment, and disposal of medical sharps waste from medical care*  
6 *or first aid services rendered on school grounds, nor to the*  
7 *containment, treatment, and disposal of hypodermic needles or*  
8 *syringes used for instructional or educational purposes on school*  
9 *grounds.*

10 *SEC. 4.* Section 11364 of the Health and Safety Code is  
11 amended to read:

12 11364. (a) It is unlawful to possess an opium pipe or any  
13 device, contrivance, instrument, or paraphernalia used for  
14 unlawfully injecting or smoking (1) a controlled substance  
15 specified in subdivision (b), (c), or (e), or paragraph (1) of  
16 subdivision (f) of Section 11054, specified in paragraph (14), (15),  
17 or (20) of subdivision (d) of Section 11054, specified in  
18 subdivision (b) or (c) of Section 11055, or specified in paragraph  
19 (2) of subdivision (d) of Section 11055, or (2) a controlled  
20 substance which is a narcotic drug classified in Schedule III, IV,  
21 or V.

22 (b) This section shall not apply to hypodermic needles or  
23 syringes that have been containerized for safe disposal in a  
24 container that meets state and federal standards for disposal of  
25 sharps waste.

26 (c) For the period commencing January 1, 2005, and ending  
27 December 31, 2008, subdivision (a) shall not apply to the  
28 possession solely for personal use of 10 or fewer hypodermic  
29 needles or syringes if acquired from an authorized source.

30 ~~SEC. 4.~~

31 *SEC. 5.* Chapter 13.5 (commencing with Section 121285) is  
32 added to Part 4 of Division 105 of the Health and Safety Code, to  
33 read:

34

35 CHAPTER 13.5. DISEASE PREVENTION DEMONSTRATION PROJECT

36

37 121285. (a) The Disease Prevention Demonstration Project,  
38 a collaboration between pharmacies and local and state health  
39 officials, is hereby authorized for the purpose of evaluating the  
40 long-term desirability of allowing licensed pharmacists to furnish



1 or sell nonprescription hypodermic needles or syringes to prevent  
2 the spread of blood-borne pathogens, including HIV and hepatitis  
3 C.

4 (b) The Office of AIDS shall, subject to the availability of  
5 federal or private funds for these purposes, evaluate the effects of  
6 allowing pharmacists to furnish or sell a limited number of  
7 hypodermic needles or syringes without prescription, and provide  
8 a report to the Governor and the Legislature on or before January  
9 15, 2008. The report shall include, but need not be limited to, the  
10 effect of nonprescription hypodermic needle or syringe sale on all  
11 of the following:

12 (1) Hypodermic needle or syringe sharing practice among  
13 those who inject illegal drugs.

14 (2) Rates of disease infection caused by hypodermic needle or  
15 syringe sharing.

16 (3) Needlestick injuries to law enforcement officers and waste  
17 management employees.

18 (4) Drug crime or other crime in the vicinity of pharmacies.

19 (5) Safe or unsafe discard of used hypodermic needles or  
20 syringes.

21 (6) Rates of injection of illegal drugs.

22 (c) The Office of AIDS, subject to the availability of federal or  
23 private funds for this purpose, shall convene an uncompensated  
24 advisory panel comprised of all of the following: two or more  
25 specialists in the control of infectious diseases; one or more  
26 representatives of the California State Board of Pharmacy; one or  
27 more representatives of independent pharmacies; one or more  
28 representatives of chain pharmacy owners; one or more  
29 representatives of law enforcement executives, such as police  
30 chiefs and sheriffs; one or more representatives of rank and file law  
31 enforcement officers; a specialist in hazardous waste management  
32 from the State Department of Health Services; one or more  
33 representatives of rank and file waste haulers; one or more  
34 representatives of the waste management industry; and one or  
35 more representatives of local health officers.

36 (d) Local health departments shall be responsible for all of the  
37 following:

38 (1) Maintaining a list of all pharmacies within the local health  
39 department's jurisdiction that have registered under the Disease  
40 Prevention Demonstration Project.



1 (2) Providing pharmacies with written information that can be  
2 reproduced that is to be provided in writing or orally by the  
3 pharmacy at the time of furnishing or sale of nonprescription  
4 hypodermic needles or syringes, including all of the following:

5 (A) Local options for accessing drug treatment.

6 (B) Local options for accessing testing and treatment for HIV  
7 and hepatitis C.

8 (C) Local options for safe disposal of sharps waste, including,  
9 if available, the locations of authorized needle exchange  
10 programs, home-generated sharps consolidation points as defined  
11 in Section 117904, or medical waste generators for disposal  
12 pursuant to Section 118147.

13 (3) Cooperating with the Office of AIDS in the collection and  
14 analysis of data relative to the evaluation of the Disease Prevention  
15 Demonstration Project, as needed.

16 (e) In order to furnish or sell nonprescription hypodermic  
17 needles or syringes as part of the Disease Prevention  
18 Demonstration Project, a pharmacy shall do all of the following:

19 (1) Register with the local health department by providing a  
20 contact name and related information, and certifying that it will  
21 provide, at the time of furnishing or sale of hypodermic needles or  
22 syringes, written information or verbal counseling on all of the  
23 following:

24 (A) Local options for accessing drug treatment.

25 (B) Local options for accessing testing and treatment for HIV  
26 and hepatitis C.

27 (C) Local options for safe disposal of sharps waste, including,  
28 if available, the locations of authorized needle exchange  
29 programs, home-generated sharps consolidation points as defined  
30 in Section 117904, or medical waste generators for disposal  
31 pursuant to Section 118147.

32 (2) Store hypodermic needles and syringes so that they are  
33 available only to authorized personnel, and not openly available to  
34 customers.

35 (3) In order to provide for the safe disposal of hypodermic  
36 needles and syringes, a registered pharmacy shall provide one or  
37 more of the following options:

38 (A) An onsite safe hypodermic needle and syringe collection  
39 and disposal program.



1 (B) Furnish or make available for purchase mail-back sharps  
2 disposal containers authorized by the United States Postal Service  
3 that meet applicable state and federal requirements, and provide  
4 tracking forms to verify destruction at a certified disposal facility.

5 (C) Furnish or make available for purchase personal sharps  
6 disposal containers that meet state and federal standards for  
7 disposal of medical waste.

8 (f) As used in this chapter, “sharps waste” means hypodermic  
9 needles, syringes, and lancets.

10 ~~SEC. 5.~~

11 *SEC. 6.* Section 41770 of the Public Resources Code is  
12 amended to read:

13 41770. (a) Except as provided in subdivision (d), each  
14 countywide or regional agency integrated waste management  
15 plan, and the elements thereof, shall be reviewed, revised, if  
16 necessary, and submitted to the board every five years in  
17 accordance with the schedule set forth under Chapter 7  
18 (commencing with Section 41800).

19 (b) Any revisions to a countywide or regional agency  
20 integrated waste management plan, and the elements thereof, shall  
21 use a waste disposal characterization method that the board shall  
22 develop for the use of the city, county, city and county, or regional  
23 agency. The city, county, city and county, or regional agency shall  
24 conduct waste disposal characterization studies, as prescribed by  
25 the board, if it fails to meet the diversion requirements of Section  
26 41780, at the time of the five-year revision of the source reduction  
27 and recycling element.

28 (c) The board may review and revise its regulations governing  
29 the contents of revised source reduction and recycling elements to  
30 reduce duplications in one or more components of these revised  
31 elements.

32 (d) On and after January 1, 2005, when a county or regional  
33 agency revises its countywide or regional integrated waste  
34 management plan and its elements, the city and county household  
35 hazardous waste elements may be updated to include a program for  
36 the safe collection, treatment, and disposal of sharps waste  
37 generated by households. As used in this subdivision, “sharps  
38 waste” means hypodermic needles, syringes, and lancets.

39 ~~SEC. 6.~~



1     *SEC. 7.* Section 41803 is added to the Public Resources Code,  
2 to read:

3     41803. In addition to the provisions of Section 41802, any  
4 household hazardous waste plan submitted to the board after  
5 January 1, 2005, may include a program for the safe collection,  
6 treatment, and disposal of sharps waste generated by households  
7 that may include the following:

8     (a) The designation of authorized locations such as household  
9 hazardous waste collection facilities, designated hospitals and  
10 clinics, and fire stations, that will accept sharps waste.

11     (b) Efforts by the local agency to inform and encourage the  
12 public to return sharps waste to designated collection locations.

13     (c) Efforts by the local agency to inform and encourage the  
14 public to subscribe to mail-back programs authorized by the  
15 United States Postal Service.

16     (d) Expenditures for the safe collection, treatment, and  
17 disposal of sharps waste, consideration of the feasibility of  
18 offering low-cost mail-back programs for senior and low-income  
19 households.

20     As used in this section, “sharps waste” means hypodermic  
21 needles, syringes, and lancets.

22     ~~SEC. 7.~~

23     *SEC. 8.* Section 41900 of the Public Resources Code is  
24 amended to read:

25     41900. Each city and county shall demonstrate a funding  
26 source, or sources, available to pay for preparing, adopting, and  
27 implementing the element or plan, as required by this part,  
28 including fees imposed pursuant to Section 41901. Plans  
29 submitted after January 1, 2005, may also include the  
30 identification of funding sources for the collection, treatment, and  
31 disposal of sharps waste generated by households. As used in this  
32 section, “sharps waste” means hypodermic needles, syringes, and  
33 lancets.

34     ~~SEC. 8. Notwithstanding Section 17610 of the Government~~  
35 ~~Code, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that this~~  
36 ~~act contains costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to local~~  
37 ~~agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made pursuant~~  
38 ~~to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division 4 of Title~~  
39 ~~2 of the Government Code. If the statewide cost of the claim for~~  
40 ~~reimbursement does not exceed one million dollars (\$1,000,000);~~



1 ~~reimbursement shall be made from the State Mandates Claims~~  
2 ~~Fund.~~

3 *SEC. 9. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to*  
4 *Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution for*  
5 *certain costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school*  
6 *district because in that regard this act creates a new crime or*  
7 *infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty*  
8 *for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of*  
9 *the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within*  
10 *the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California*  
11 *Constitution.*

12 *However, notwithstanding Section 17610 of the Government*  
13 *Code, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that this*  
14 *act contains other costs mandated by the state, reimbursement to*  
15 *local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made*  
16 *pursuant to Part 7 (commencing with Section 17500) of Division*  
17 *4 of Title 2 of the Government Code. If the statewide cost of the*  
18 *claim for reimbursement does not exceed one million dollars*  
19 *(\$1,000,000), reimbursement shall be made from the State*  
20 *Mandates Claims Fund.*





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: SB 1333**

**VERSION: AS AMENDED MARCH 16, 2004**

**AUTHOR: PERATA**

**SPONSOR: AIDS HEALTHCARE FOUNDATION**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: NONE**

**SUBJECT: IMPORTATION BY PHARMACIES**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Establishes the Medi-Cal program, which is administered by the State Department of Health Services (DHS), under which qualified low-income persons receive health care services, including prescription drugs.
- 2) Establishes the AIDS Drug Assistance Program (ADAP) to provide drug treatments to persons infected with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).

### This Bill:

- 1) Allows DHS to reimburse pharmacies for drugs that are dispensed to Medi-Cal or ADAP beneficiaries that are purchased from a Canadian pharmacy.
- 2) Provides that the reimbursement rate paid to a pharmacy for a Canadian drug dispensed to a beneficiary shall be up to an undefined percentage below the otherwise applicable rate, but may not be more than 50 percent of the difference between the cost of acquiring the drug from a Canadian pharmacy and the wholesale price the pharmacy would have otherwise paid to a pharmaceutical wholesaler.
- 3) Provides that a drug shall not be eligible for the reimbursement rate provided by the bill if the drug price, after rebates from the manufacturer, is the same or lower than the lowest available Canadian price for the drug.
- 4) Provides that in order for a pharmacy to be reimbursed for a drug that it has acquired from a Canadian pharmacy, the Canadian pharmacy shall meet the requirements for a nonresident pharmacy as defined, and comply with all applicable Canadian licensing and registration requirements.
- 5) Provides that a pharmacy shall not be subject to any adverse action under state law solely because the pharmacy acted in accordance with the provisions of the bill.

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The author's intent in introducing SB 1333 is to provide an additional means of controlling drug expenditures in the Medi-Cal and ADAP, to help mitigate the need for substantial cuts in the two programs. According to information prepared for the author's office, national health care spending has increased 7 - 9 percent each year since 2000 and that 16 percent of the increase has been caused by prescription drug spending. According to the author, while the Medi-Cal federal and state

supplemental rebate programs have helped limit individual drug prices, overall drug spending in the program has increased by 55 percent over the past three fiscal years. The ADAP program continues to grow as well and is currently budgeted at \$212 million. The Governor's proposed 2004-05 budget proposes to cap enrollment in ADAP as a means of controlling growth in the program.

**2) Immunity Clause.** The bill prohibits the board, or any other state entity, from taking action against a pharmacy for importing Canadian drugs for these two programs based on California law. This state immunity clause effectively sanctions the importation of Canadian drugs for patients in these two programs if they are imported from licensed Canadian pharmacies. The language would not prohibit any entity from taking action against the pharmacy based on federal law. The board can take action against a pharmacy based on violations of federal law relating to dangerous drugs, controlled substances, or federal law relating to pharmacy (B&P 4301 (j) & (o)). The author's intent seems to be to prohibit state agencies from taking enforcement action against pharmacies for importing Canadian drugs for these programs, but the language may require some refinement to accomplish that objective.

**3) Appropriate Drugs.** Some drugs used in both the Medi-Cal and the ADAP programs are not well suited to mail service pharmacy. Most notably, this would include any injectable drugs. The author may want to consider restricting Canadian importation to those drugs well suited to delivery by mail.

**4) Pricing.** Pressure to allow importation of drugs from Canada is growing because of the high price of many prescription drugs in the United States. According to various sources, comparable drugs in Canada sell for 40 percent less than in the US on average, and can sometimes sell for 50 - 70 percent less because the Canadian government limits what drug companies can charge for prescription drugs.

**5) Federal Law.** The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA), currently makes it illegal to import drugs into the US that are not FDA-approved or manufactured and labeled in accordance with provisions of the Act. The Act also makes it illegal for any person other than the original manufacturer of a drug to reimport it back into the US, even if otherwise complies with the FDCA.

In 2000, Congress passed the Medicine Equity and Drug Safety Act to permit importation of prescription drugs by commercial importers. The Act added a new section to the FDCA allow drug wholesalers and pharmacists to import drugs in limited circumstances, but only if the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) certifies to Congress that importation will pose no additional risk to the public's health and safety and will result in a significant reduction in the cost of covered products. Both the current and previous Secretaries have refused to make this certification. However, Secretary Thompson recently testified to a Congressional committee that he would support allowing drugs to be reimported from Canada if Congress puts strict conditions on the practice.

**6) Personal Importation.** The FDA has adopted a personal importation policy which permits individuals and physicians to import up to a three-month supply of drugs for treatment of a patient's condition for which effective treatment may not be available domestically, which do not present an unreasonable risk, and for which there is no intent to market to US residents. In practice, the FDA generally has not prosecuted individuals who are importing drugs for their own use.

## **7) Support and Opposition**

Support:

AIDS Healthcare Foundation (sponsor)

American Federation of State, County, & Municipal Employees  
California Alliance for Retired Americans  
California Nurses Association  
Consumer Federation of California  
Consumers Union  
Health Access California  
Jericho  
Older Women's League of California  
Senior Action Network  
Service Employees International Union  
United Nurses Association of California/Union of Health Care Professionals  
Western Center on Law and Poverty

Oppose:

BIOCOM  
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company  
California Chamber of Commerce  
California Healthcare Institute  
Pfizer, Inc.  
Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America  
60 Plus Association

## **8) History.**

- Mar. 16 From committee with author's amendments. Read second time. Amended. Re-referred to committee.
- Mar. 15 Art. IV, Sec. 8(a), of Constitution dispensed with. Joint Rule 55 suspended.
- Mar. 11 Set for hearing March 24.
- Mar. 4 To Com. on H. & H.S.
- Feb. 19 From print. May be acted upon on or after March 20.
- Feb. 18 Introduced. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment. To print.

**Blank**

AMENDED IN SENATE MARCH 16, 2004

**SENATE BILL**

**No. 1333**

---

**Introduced by Senator Perata**

February 18, 2004

---

An act to add Section ~~14105.32~~ 120956 to the Health and Safety Code, ~~relating to Medi-Cal~~, and to add Section 14105.75 to the Welfare and Institutions Code, relating to prescription drugs.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 1333, as amended, Perata. ~~Medi-Cal: drug contracts: lowest price~~ Prescription drug reimbursement: pharmacy purchases from Canadian sources: Medi-Cal: AIDS Drug Assistance program.

**Existing**

(1) Existing law establishes the Medi-Cal program, which is administered by the State Department of Health Services and under which qualified low-income persons receive health care services, including prescription drugs. Existing law authorizes the department to enter into contracts with manufacturers of drugs on a bid or nonbid basis and requires the department to maintain a list of those drugs for which contracts have been executed. Existing law requires that contracts executed pursuant to this provision be for the manufacturer's best price. Existing law defines "best price" as the negotiated price, or the manufacturer's lowest price available to any class of trade organization or entity, including, but not limited to, wholesalers, retailers, hospitals, repackagers, providers, or governmental entities within the United States, that contracts with a manufacturer for a specified price for drugs, inclusive of cash discounts, free goods, volume discounts, rebates, and on- or off-invoice discounts or credits.

~~This bill would require, notwithstanding any other provision of law, that the department negotiate contracts with drug manufacturers for purposes of the Medi-Cal program that result in drug prices that are the same as or less than the lowest price given to any federal, state, or local government.~~

*Existing law provides that any pharmacy located outside of this state that delivers, in any manner, controlled substances, dangerous drugs, or dangerous devices into this state is considered a nonresident pharmacy and requires a nonresident pharmacy to register with the California State Board of Pharmacy and comply with all lawful directions of and requests for information from the state in which it is a resident.*

*Existing federal law requires any establishment within any foreign country engaged in the manufacture, preparation, propagation, compounding, or processing of a drug that is imported or offered for import into the United States to register with the federal Secretary of Health and Human Services, report a list of each drug introduced for commercial distribution, and provide required information and statements.*

*This bill would authorize, notwithstanding any other provision of law, the department to reimburse a pharmacy that provides to a Medi-Cal beneficiary a prescription drug that was purchased from a Canadian pharmacy. This bill would provide that reimbursement for that prescription drug may be in an amount up to an established percentage less than the most recent allowable drug product price, not to exceed 50% of the difference between the purchase price from the Canadian pharmacy and the purchase price the pharmacy would have paid to a pharmaceutical wholesaler.*

*(2) Existing law requires the Director of Health Services, to the extent that state and federal funds are appropriated in the Budget Act for this purpose, to establish a program, known as the AIDS Drug Assistance program (ADAP) to provide drug treatments to persons infected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). Existing law requires the director to establish a rate structure for reimbursement for the cost of each drug included in the program and requires that the rates be established at not less than the actual cost of the drug. Existing law requires the director to develop, maintain, and update a list of drugs provided under the program and authorizes the director to purchase a listed drug directly from the manufacturer and negotiate the most favorable bulk price for that drug.*



*This bill would authorize, notwithstanding any other provision of law, the department to reimburse, in the same manner described in (2) above, a pharmacy that has provided to a person eligible for benefits under ADAP a prescription drug that was purchased from a Canadian pharmacy.*

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: no.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 ~~SECTION 1. Section 14105.32 is added to the Welfare and~~  
2 ~~Institutions Code, to read:~~

3 ~~14105.32. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, for~~  
4 ~~purposes of this chapter the department shall negotiate contracts~~  
5 ~~with the manufacturers of drugs that result in drug prices that are~~  
6 ~~the same as or less than the lowest price given to any federal, state,~~  
7 ~~or local government.~~

8 SECTION 1. Section 120956 is added to the Health and Safety  
9 Code, to read:

10 120956. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the  
11 department may reimburse a pharmacy that provides to a person  
12 eligible for benefits under this chapter a prescription drug that was  
13 purchased from a Canadian pharmacy, and shall reimburse that  
14 pharmacy for those prescription drugs pursuant to this section.

15 (b) The reimbursement rate for a prescription drug described  
16 in subdivision (a) may be up to, but not exceeding, \_\_\_\_\_ percent  
17 less than the most recent allowable drug product price, but in no  
18 case shall this reduced reimbursement rate be more than 50  
19 percent of the difference between the purchase price from the  
20 Canadian pharmacy and the purchase price the pharmacy would  
21 have paid to a pharmaceutical wholesaler.

22 (c) Notwithstanding any other provision, a drug shall not be  
23 eligible for reimbursement under this section if the department  
24 finds that the drug price, after rebates from the drug's  
25 manufacturer, is the same as or lower than the lowest available  
26 Canadian price for the same drug.

27 (d) In order for a pharmacy to be reimbursed pursuant to this  
28 section, the Canadian pharmacy from which it purchases a  
29 prescription drug shall meet the requirements for a nonresident  
30 pharmacy as specified in Section 4112 of the Business and



1 *Professions Code, as appropriate, and comply with all lawful*  
2 *directions and licensing and registration requirements of the*  
3 *applicable Canadian regulatory and licensing agency or agencies.*

4 *(e) A pharmacy shall not be subject to any adverse action under*  
5 *state law solely because the pharmacy acted in accordance with*  
6 *this section.*

7 *SEC. 2. Section 14105.75 is added to the Welfare and*  
8 *Institutions Code, to read:*

9 *14105.75. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law,*  
10 *the department may reimburse a pharmacy that provides a*  
11 *prescription drug that was purchased from a Canadian pharmacy*  
12 *to a Medi-Cal beneficiary, and shall reimburse that pharmacy for*  
13 *those prescription drugs pursuant to this section.*

14 *(b) The reimbursement rate for a prescription drug described*  
15 *in subdivision (a) may be up to, but not exceeding, \_\_\_\_\_ percent*  
16 *less than the most recent allowable drug product price, but in no*  
17 *case shall this reduced reimbursement rate be more than 50*  
18 *percent of the difference between the purchase price from the*  
19 *Canadian pharmacy and the purchase price the pharmacy would*  
20 *have paid to a pharmaceutical wholesaler.*

21 *(c) Notwithstanding any other provision, a drug shall not be*  
22 *eligible for reimbursement under this section if the department*  
23 *finds that the drug price, after rebates from the drug's*  
24 *manufacturer, is the same as or lower than the lowest available*  
25 *Canadian price for the same drug.*

26 *(d) In order for a pharmacy to be reimbursed pursuant to this*  
27 *section, the Canadian pharmacy from which it purchases a*  
28 *prescription drug shall meet the requirements for a nonresident*  
29 *pharmacy as specified in Section 4112 of the Business and*  
30 *Professions Code, as appropriate, and comply with all lawful*  
31 *directions and licensing and registration requirements of the*  
32 *applicable Canadian regulatory and licensing agency or agencies.*

33 *(e) A pharmacy shall not be subject to any adverse action under*  
34 *state law solely because the pharmacy acted in accordance with*  
35 *this section.*

O





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: SB 1728**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: AANESTEAD**

**SPONSOR: AUTHOR**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: OPPOSE UNLESS AMENDED**

**SUBJECT: RIGHT OF ENTRY**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Permits Board of Pharmacy inspectors to inspect any premises where dangerous drugs or dangerous devices are compounded, prepared, furnished, dispensed or stored (including pharmacies and wholesalers) during business hours. (B&P 4008)
- 2) Requires that any records of acquisition or disposition of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices be open for inspection by the board during business hours. (B&P 4081)
- 3) Requires that all stock of dangerous drugs or dangerous devices be open for inspection during business hours. (B&P 4080)

### This Bill:

- 1) Requires 72 hours advance notice before a state agency enters private property. (Gov 11014.5)
- 2) Permits property owners to condition entry to the private property in the following manner, if notice of the conditions is made within 48 hours of the agency's intent to enter:
  - a. Delay entry for up to five days.
  - b. Require that the property owner accompany the state agency.
  - c. Restrict access to the private property to existing roads or other designated access points.(Gov 11014.5)
- 3) Requires state agencies entering private property to execute an entry permit that includes the following:
  - a. Requirement that the agency exercise reasonable precautions to avoid damage and protect persons and property.
  - b. Immunizes the property owner from liability resulting from any loss or damage to the property, or for any injuries or deaths caused by the agency's entry of the private property.
  - c. Inform the owner that they may file a claim with the State Board of Control to recover any loss or expense the property owner or its tenant may suffer due to the agency's entry of the property.

- d. Require the agency to indemnify the owner from any damage caused by the agency's entry of the property.

(Government 11014.5)

4) Requires any agency entering private property to do the following:

- a. Comply with any reasonable condition of entry established by the owner.
- b. Comply with any applicable environmental laws while on the property.
- c. Carry current, official photo identification and present it at the owner's request.
- d. Document the date and time of entry and departure of the property.
- e. Provide the owner with the name, title, business address, and business telephone number of each person entering the property.
- f. Notify the owner of the number of vehicles and the license plate number of each vehicle prior to entry.
- g. Obtain approval of the owner each time a vehicle other than an conventional automobile or truck enters the property.
- h. Provide a daily report to the owner of any activity that the agency surveyed or conducted on the property.
- i. Provide the owner a written report with all the findings of the survey or activity within 10 days of leaving the property.
- j. Provide the owner with a finalized report regarding any findings resulting from the entry.
- k. Confine its observations and investigations to the original purpose for which entry is sought.
- l. Provide the owner with reasonable compensation for any time the owner spends accompanying the agency on the property.
- m. Compensate the owner for any damage caused by the agency's entry.

(Government 11014.5)

5) Requires the owner to notify the agency of any violations of the new law within 48 hours and permits the owner to deny entry to the agency if the owner is not satisfied with the agency's response.

(Government 11014.5)

6) Exempts law enforcement agencies entering property to address an emergency situation related to a violent crime or threat to human life.

(Government 11014.5)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The author introduced this legislation based on experiences his constituents have had with state agencies entering their property. These constituents are generally large agricultural landowners dealing primarily with the state Department of Fish and Game.

**2) Inspections.** As currently drafted, the bill would prohibit the board to continue its practice of unannounced inspections. The board conducts these inspections both as routine compliance inspections and inspections related to the investigation of a complaint. The bill would effectively allow any inspection to be delayed for up to 8 days, with the potential for an indefinite delay if the property owner objected to the entry permit the bill requires. Such delays would pose unacceptable delays to the investigation of complaints and would effectively eliminate the board's routine inspection program. Both of these efforts are essential elements of the board's enforcement program.

The bill contains numerous provisions which would create unnecessary constraints on board inspections and investigations. However, the author's office indicated that it would be open to an amendment that would exclude the Board of Pharmacy from its restrictions. Many state agencies have contacted the author and are seeking similar

treatment. The author will be offering exemption amendments shortly and staff expects those amendments to eliminate any impact on the board's operations.

**3) Suggested Amendment.** The bill should be amended to exempt the Board of Pharmacy from its provisions.

**4) History.**

Mar. 17	Set for hearing April 13.
Mar. 11	To Com. on JUD.
Feb. 21	From print. May be acted upon on or after March 22.
Feb. 20	Introduced. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment. To print.

**Blank**

**Introduced by Senator Aanestad**

February 20, 2004

---

---

An act to add Sections 818.3 and 11014.5 to the Government Code, relating to property.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 1728, as introduced, Aanestad. Private property: state agency access.

Existing law provides that every person who, among other acts, willfully commits a trespass by refusing or failing to leave lands immediately upon being requested by the owner of the land is guilty of a misdemeanor.

This bill would prohibit a state agency from entering upon private property except with the consent of the property owner and pursuant to specified requirements, including that a state agency notify the owner of private property by telephone at least 72 hours prior to the agency's entering the property. The bill would define obtaining consent for this purpose as executing an entry permit with specified terms limiting the property owner's liability. The bill would provide that the owner, within 48 hours after receiving this notice, may notify the state agency of specified conditions on the agency's entry upon the property. This bill would further require the state agency, when it enters upon private property, to, among other things, comply with any reasonable condition of entry that the property owner may establish.

The bill would provide that its provisions do not apply to the entry upon private property by a law enforcement or other appropriate agency in response to an emergency situation involving a violent crime or an immediate threat to human life.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes.  
State-mandated local program: no.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Section 818.3 is added to the Government Code,  
2 to read:  
3 818.3. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a state  
4 agency may be liable for damages pursuant to Section 11014.5.  
5 SEC. 2. Section 11014.5 is added to the Government Code, to  
6 read:  
7 11014.5. (a) For purposes of this section, “state agency”  
8 includes the California State University, and any officer,  
9 employee, contractor, or agent of a state agency.  
10 (b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a state agency  
11 may not enter private property except pursuant to this section.  
12 (c) (1) A state agency shall notify the owner of private  
13 property by telephone at least 72 hours prior to the agency’s  
14 entering the property. The state agency may not enter the property  
15 without the owner’s consent, which shall be obtained after the  
16 notice required by this paragraph is given.  
17 (2) Within 48 hours after receiving notice pursuant to  
18 paragraph (1), the property owner may notify the state agency of  
19 any condition on the agency’s entry upon the property, which may  
20 include, but not be limited to, any of the following:  
21 (A) That entry upon the property be postponed for up to five  
22 days from the date requested by the agency.  
23 (B) That the property owner accompany the state agency when  
24 it enters the property.  
25 (C) That access to the property be limited to existing roads or  
26 other access points designated by the property owner.  
27 (3) For purposes of paragraph (1), a state agency shall obtain  
28 consent by executing an entry permit that does all of the following:  
29 (A) Requires the agency to exercise reasonable precautions to  
30 avoid damage and to protect persons and property.  
31 (B) Provides that the property owner assumes no liability for  
32 any loss or damage to property or injuries to or deaths of agents,  
33 contractors, or employees of the property owner caused by the  
34 agency’s exercise of privileges granted in the permit.



1 (C) Provides that nothing in the permit precludes the property  
2 owner from filing a claim with the State Board of Control for any  
3 loss or expense that the property owner or its tenant may suffer  
4 caused by or due to exercise by the agency of the privileges granted  
5 by the permit.

6 (D) Provides that the agency agrees to indemnify and hold the  
7 property owner harmless from any damage caused by the agency's  
8 activities authorized by the permit and to reimburse the property  
9 owner for any damage to roads and fences, or other property  
10 caused by the agency's activities that are authorized by the permit.

11 (d) A state agency shall do all of the following when entering  
12 private property:

13 (1) Comply with any reasonable condition of entry that the  
14 property owner may establish.

15 (2) Comply with all applicable environmental laws and  
16 regulations while conducting work on the property.

17 (3) Carry current official photo identification and present it at  
18 any time at the property owner's request.

19 (4) Document the date and time of entry upon and departure  
20 from the property.

21 (5) Provide the property owner with the name, title, business  
22 address, and business telephone number of each person entering  
23 the property prior to entrance.

24 (6) Notify the property owner of the number of vehicles and the  
25 license plate number of each vehicle prior to entrance.

26 (7) Obtain approval of the property owner each time a  
27 motorized vehicle other than a conventional truck or automobile  
28 enters the property.

29 (8) Provide a daily report to the property owner regarding any  
30 activity that the state agency surveyed or conducted on the  
31 property.

32 (9) Provide the property owner, within 10 days after the final  
33 departure from the property, a written report that includes the  
34 findings of any survey or activity conducted on the property.

35 (10) Provide the property owner with any report regarding any  
36 survey or activity conducted on the property that is finalized after  
37 the 10-day report under paragraph (9) is provided.

38 (11) Confine its observations, investigations, or other activity  
39 to the original purpose for which entry is sought.



1 (12) Provide the property owner reasonable compensation for  
2 any time the property owner spends accompanying the state  
3 agency on the property.

4 (13) Provide the property owner with compensation for any  
5 damages caused by the state agency's entry upon the property or  
6 by violation of this section.

7 (e) The property owner shall immediately notify the  
8 appropriate authority within the state agency if the state agency  
9 violates any of the requirements of this section. The state agency  
10 shall respond to the property owner's concerns within 48 hours,  
11 during which time the property owner may deny the state agency  
12 access to the property. If the property owner is not satisfied with  
13 the agency's response to his or her concerns, then the property  
14 owner may deny the state agency access to the property.

15 (f) This section shall not apply to the entry upon private  
16 property by a law enforcement or other appropriate agency in  
17 response to an emergency situation involving a violent crime or an  
18 immediate threat to human life.





# CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

## BILL ANALYSIS

---

**BILL NUMBER: SB 1735**

**VERSION: AS INTRODUCED**

**AUTHOR: FIGUEROA**

**SPONSOR: AUTHOR**

**RECOMMENDED POSITION: SUPPORT**

**SUBJECT: SPECIAL FUND AGENCIES**

---

### Existing Law:

- 1) Establishes the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund to provide for the support of the Board of Pharmacy. (B&P 4406)
- 2) Establishes fees, payable to the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund, for licensing activities undertaken by the board. (B&P 4400)
- 3) Requires revenue generated by board issued citations be deposited into the Pharmacy Board Contingent Fund. (B&P 125.9)
- 4) Requires all expenses of the board to be paid from revenue generated by the board. (B&P 4407)
- 5) Requires that any position in state government that is vacant for more than 6 months be eliminated. (Government 12439)

### This Bill:

- 1) Exempts special fund agencies within the Department of Consumer Affairs (including the board) from the 6 month rule. (Government 12439.5)
- 2) Requires that any position lost to the 6 month rule prior to January 1, 2004 by special fund agencies at the Department of Consumer Affairs be restored. (Government 12439.5)
- 3) Requires the Department of Consumer Affairs to provide the legislature with any staff or appointment vacancy information requested within 30 days. (Government 12439.5)
- 4) Exempts agencies within the Department of Consumer Affairs from the hiring freeze established by Executive Order D-70-03. (Government 12439.5)
- 5) Exempts agencies within the Department of Consumer Affairs from the elimination of vacant positions as required by Executive Order D-71-03. (Government 12439.5)

### Comment:

**1) Author's Intent.** The author seeks to minimize the impact of budget cutting efforts on consumer protection agencies that do not receive general fund revenue (i.e., tax revenue). Like the board, other boards and bureaus in the Department of Consumer

Affairs are funded by licensing fees that do not enter the state General Fund. Efforts needed to bring general fund revenue into balance with General Fund expenditures should not be applied to these special fund agencies. Savings realized by special fund agencies will not help reduce the General Fund deficit and will result in diminished consumer protection.

**2) Board Impact.** The board has lost 10 positions between the application of the 6 month rule and the elimination of vacant positions imposed by executive order. Furthermore, the board reduced its line item for board member reimbursement by \$11,000 to comply with the reduction targets established by the prior administration. Passage of this bill would likely restore all these lost positions.

**3) General Fund vs. Special Fund.** Most state government services are financed through the state General Fund which receives general state revenue from various taxes (including income tax and sales tax). Services provided from the General Fund include Medi-Cal, K-12 education, higher education (i.e., CSU and UC), debt service, prisons, and social services programs. When budget figures are cited, they refer mostly to General Fund spending and revenue. The recent deficit crisis in California government is a deficit in the General Fund.

Many government services are provided by other sources of revenue that are directed to specific activities. The licensing boards within the Department of Consumer Affairs are good examples of special fund agencies. Their activities are solely funded through licensing fees and fines. These agencies receive no General Fund revenue and their spending is not figured in the budget deficit figures reported in the media.

#### **4) History.**

Mar. 16	Set for hearing April 12.
Mar. 11	To Com. on B. & P.
Feb. 22	From print. May be acted upon on or after March 23.
Feb. 20	Introduced. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment. To print.

**Introduced by Senators Figueroa and Aanestad**  
(Coauthor: Assembly Member Correa)

February 20, 2004

---

---

An act to add Sections 12439.5 and 16321 to the Government Code, relating to state offices.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

SB 1735, as introduced, Figueroa. Boards: Department of Consumer Affairs.

(1) Existing law provides for the establishment and funding of various boards under the jurisdiction of the Department of Consumer Affairs, and establishes the Division of Investigation in the department.

Existing law requires, with certain exceptions, the Controller to abolish any state position that is vacant for 6 monthly pay periods. The Director of Finance may authorize the reestablishment of any positions abolished by the Controller pursuant to these provisions under specified conditions.

This bill would exempt from the provisions requiring the abolishment of vacant positions any position on any board under the jurisdiction of the Department of Consumer Affairs that is funded solely from non-General Fund sources, or in the Division of Investigation in the department. It would provide that any position on a board under the jurisdiction of the department, or in the division, that was abolished pursuant to these provisions prior to January 1, 2004, shall be reestablished by the Director of Consumer Affairs to the extent that non-General Fund moneys are available for that purpose. It would also require the Director of Consumer Affairs to provide to the Legislature information on all staff and appointment vacancies for boards under the

jurisdiction of the department, and the division, within 30 days of receiving the Legislature’s request for that information.

The bill would prohibit the Director of Finance from refusing to authorize the filling of a vacancy in any staff position on a board under the jurisdiction of that department or in the division unless the Director of Finance has made a finding based upon substantial evidence that there are insufficient non-General Fund resources to fill the position.

(2) Pursuant to existing law, the civil administration of the laws of the state is vested in the Governor, who is required to supervise the official conduct of all executive and ministerial officers and to see that all offices are filled and their duties performed.

This bill would specify that the provisions of specified executive orders of the Governor with respect to the hiring of state employees shall not apply to any board under the jurisdiction of the Department of Consumer Affairs nor to the Division of Investigation within the department.

(3) Existing law provides that moneys may be loaned from one state fund or account to other state funds or accounts, subject to specified conditions.

This bill would prohibit non-General Fund moneys deposited in any fund supporting a board under the jurisdiction of the Department of Consumer Affairs from being loaned to, or being used to secure a loan to, the General Fund. It would require the Director of Finance to provide a schedule for all loans of funds supporting boards under the jurisdiction of the Department of Consumer Affairs to the General Fund, which are required to be repaid in full.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes. State-mandated local program: no.

*The people of the State of California do enact as follows:*

1 SECTION 1. Section 12439.5 is added to the Government  
2 Code, to read:

3 12439.5. (a) Section 12439 shall not apply to any position on  
4 any board under the jurisdiction of the Department of Consumer  
5 Affairs that is funded solely from non-General Fund sources, or to  
6 the Division of Investigation within the department.

7 (b) (1) Any position on a board, or in the division, described  
8 in subdivision (a) that was abolished pursuant to Section 12439



1 prior to January 1, 2004, shall be reestablished to the extent that  
2 non-General Fund moneys are available for that purpose.

3 (2) The Director of Finance may not refuse to reestablish a  
4 position abolished as described in paragraph (1) or pursuant to his  
5 or her own action, or to authorize the filling of a vacancy in any  
6 staff position, on a board, or in the division, described in  
7 subdivision (a) unless the director has made a finding based upon  
8 substantial evidence that there are insufficient non-General Fund  
9 resources to fill the position.

10 (c) The Director of Consumer Affairs shall provide to the  
11 Legislature information on all staff and appointment vacancies for  
12 boards, and the division, described in subdivision (a), within 30  
13 days of receiving the Legislature's request for that information.

14 (d) The provisions of Executive Order D-70-03 and Executive  
15 Order D-71-03 shall not apply to any board under the jurisdiction  
16 of the Department of Consumer Affairs, nor to the Division of  
17 Investigation within the department.

18 SEC. 2. Section 16321 is added to the Government Code, to  
19 read:

20 16321. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, no  
21 non-General Fund moneys deposited in any fund or account  
22 supporting a board under the jurisdiction of the Department of  
23 Consumer Affairs may be loaned to, or used to secure a loan to, the  
24 General Fund.

25 (b) The Director of Finance shall provide a schedule for all  
26 loans of funds supporting boards under the jurisdiction of the  
27 Department of Consumer Affairs to the General Fund, which are  
28 required to be repaid in full.



**Blank**

Bill Number	Author	Summary
AB 262	Chan	Prohibits the exchange of prescriber information if the prescriber is on a do not sell list.
		Prohibits regulatory “gag clauses” in malpractice settlements.
		Imposes criminal penalty for fraudulent use of a professional license number.
AB 1853	Simitian	Prohibits the sale of dextromethorphan to minors without prescription.
		Requires the BOP to establish a website for approved Canadian pharmacies.
AB 1958	Frommer et al	Permits PERS to join drug purchasing pools with other public and private entities.
AB 1959	Chu et al	Permits specified legislators to view state drug purchasing contracts.
		Defines PBM and imposes a fiduciary responsibility on PBMs.
AB 2086	Lieber	Exempts government operated pharmacies from specified Medi-Cal provider enrollment procedures.
		Requires prescribers and pharmacies to include diagnosis on the prescription unless instructed otherwise by the patient.
		Permits hospitals to use automated drug delivery systems if licensed by the BOP and DHS.
AB 2326	Corbett	Declares legislative intent to develop an evidence based prescription drug program for California consumers.
AB 2560	Montanez	Expands the circumstances in which a nurse practitioner may prescribe drugs.
AB 2626	Plescia	Repeals the requirement that a supervising physician review and countersign prescriptions written by physician assistants.
		Clarifies pharmacists’ authority to order drugs and permits pharmacists to request and receive samples.
		Requires all out of state wholesalers to be licensed by the BOP and requires the BOP to adopt a pedigree requirement by regulation.
AB 2890	Horton	Sets pharmacy reimbursement for workers compensation claims at AWP-10% + the Medi-Cal dispensing fee.
AJR 61	Chu et al	Urges the Secretary of Health and Human Services to implement reimportation of drugs from Canada by pharmacies and wholesalers.
AJR 62	Chu et al	Urges the federal government to repeal the federal prohibition on Medicare negotiating drug prices with drug manufacturers.
SB 1144	Burton	Permits state agencies to purchase drugs from Canada.
		Requires the BOP to list internet sites selling prescription drugs that have violated recognized standards for good practice.
		Repeals the prescription requirement for hypodermic needles.
SB 1307	Figueroa	BOP sponsored bill to increase standards for wholesalers and establish a pedigree requirement.
		Permits pharmacies to import Canadian drugs for patients in the Medi-Cal and ADAP programs. Specifies payment mechanisms for those programs.
		Establishes felony penalties for counterfeiting drugs.
SB 1430	Speier	Requires Medi-Cal to distinguish between professional services and ingredient cost.
SB 1590	Dunn	Exempts disclosure of any personal information by a state agency if the individual is an employee, volunteer, officer, contractor or other agents of a reproductive health services facility.
		Prohibits state officials from entering private property unless 72 hours notice is provided and the officials comply with restrictions established by the property owner.

		Exempts DCA boards from the hiring freeze and restores positions lost in prior vacancy elimination actions. Prohibits loaning of DCA board special funds to the General Fund. Requires repayment schedules be established for any DCA special fund loans to the General Fund.
SB 1765	Sher	Restricts the gifts drug companies may give to health professionals.
SB 1792	Ashburn	Exempts prescriptions for skilled nursing patients from Medi-Cal rate cuts.
SB 1913	B&P Cmte.	Omnibus Bill.

# Memorandum

To: Legislation & Regulation Committee

Date: March 24, 2004

From: Paul Riches  
Chief of Legislation and Regulation

Subject: Regulations Update

## **Regulation Review**

The board submitted and had its regulation review reports approved by the administration in February. The administration also approved the board moving forward with the sterile compounding regulations which had been held in abeyance pending completion of the regulation review process. That rulemaking file was submitted to the Office of Administrative Law (OAL) on March 8, 2004. The board is still waiting for a signed fiscal impact form which is needed before the regulation can be approved.

## **Rulemaking Activity**

Staff published three rulemaking notices in February. The first notice consolidated a substantial number of non-controversial regulation changes in a single large filing to reduce the volume of paperwork required. This notice was published on February 13, 2004 and was noticed without a hearing and no interested party has requested a hearing. This package will be on the agenda for a board vote at the April 2004 board meeting. A copy of the noticed text, initial statement of reasons, and notice document are attached for your reference.

Staff published two remaining regulation proposals (PIC at two locations, elimination of the clerk/typist ratio) separately on February 20, 2004. Both of these proposals may have opposition, and they were notice separately to allow the board flexibility in disposing of these proposals. Both regulations were notice for a hearing at the April 2004 board meeting. A copy of the noticed text, initial statement of reasons, and notice document are attached for your reference.

With the publication of these three notices, most of the rulemaking backlog has been addressed. A regulation to update the board's pharmacy self-assessment form still remains to be taken up. This regulation will be acted on as staff resources permit. Staff will also compile a Section 100 rulemaking later this year to make technical and clean-up changes to our regulations in light of recent legislation.

## **Pending Regulations**

### **Section 1709.1 - Pharmacist-in-Charge at Two Locations**

Summary: This regulation will permit a pharmacist to serve as pharmacist-in-charge at two locations.

Status: Rulemaking Notice Published February 20, 2004.

### **Section 1710 – Hospital Central Fill**

Summary: This regulation will permit central refill operations for hospitals.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

### **Section 1711 – Patient Notification**

Summary: This regulation will clarify patient notification requirements in the event there is a medication error.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

### **Section 1717.1 – Common Electronic Files**

Summary: This regulation requires pharmacies using common electronic files to adopt policies ensuring patient confidentiality.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

### **Section 1717.4 – Authentication of Prescriptions**

Summary: This regulation will require pharmacists to ensure the authenticity of prescriptions.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

### **Section 1720 – Pharmacist License Process**

Summary: This regulation will require pharmacists to pay the licensing fee in a shorter time frame and require applicants to take the examination within one year of applying.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

### **Section 1721 – Pharmacist Exam**

Summary: This regulation will increase the penalties for cheating on the pharmacist licensure examination.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

### **Section 1724 – Passing Score**

Summary: This regulation will revise the methodology of determining the passing score on the pharmacist licensure examination to comply with changes made by Senate Bill 361.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

### **Sections 1749 & 1793 et seq. – Pharmacy Technicians**

Summary: This regulation conforms and clarifies regulations relating to pharmacy technicians to reflect changes made by Senate Bill 361.

Status: Rulemaking notice published February 13, 2004.

**Section 1751 – Sterile Compounding**

Summary: This regulation will establish guidelines for the compounding of sterile drug products.

Status: Submitted to OAL March 8, 2004.

**Section 1793.3 – “Clerk-Typist” Ratio**

Summary: This regulation will eliminate the clerk/typist ratio.

Status: Rulemaking Notice Published on February 20, 2004.

**Awaiting Notice**

**Section 1715 – Pharmacy Self Assessment**

Summary: This regulation will update the pharmacy self assessment form to reflect recent changes in pharmacy law.

Status: Informational Hearing Required

**Blank**

## **Board of Pharmacy**

### **Initial Statement of Reasons**

Subject Matter of Proposed Regulation: Hospital Central Fill, Patient Notification, Pharmacist Licensure, Pharmacy Technician Licensure, Fees, Common Electronic Files, and the Authenticity of Prescriptions

Sections Affected: 1710, 1711, 1717.1, 1717.4, 1720, 1721, 1723.1, 1724, 1749, 1793, 1793.1, 1793.2, 1793.4, 1793.5, 1793.6, and 1793.7

#### Specific Purpose of the Proposed Changes:

Proposed amendments to Section 1710 are designed to permit the filling of patient specific drug cassettes in a pharmacy located outside of the hospital in a manner analogous to that used by community pharmacies pursuant to Title 16, Section 1707.4 of the California Code of Regulations.

Proposed amendments to Section 1711 are designed to clarify when pharmacists must notify patients and prescribers of medication errors.

Proposed amendments to Section 1717.1 require pharmacies employing a common electronic prescription file to prevent unauthorized disclosure of confidential medical information and requires such pharmacies to develop written policies and procedures to ensure the confidentiality of private medical information.

Proposed amendment to Section 1717.4 requires pharmacists to ensure the integrity of a prescription.

Proposed amendments to Section 1720 requires applicants to submit their fee for licensure as a pharmacist within one year of passing the examination. The proposed amendments also require applicants to comply with requirements established by the administrators of the pharmacist licensure examination. Lastly, the time period allowed to take the examination is shortened to one year in conformity with the new examination requirements and shortens the time allowed to pay the fee for licensure to streamline board operations.

Proposed amendments to Section 1721 increases the penalty for dishonest conduct during examinations by prohibiting the applicant from retaking the examination for one year. The amendments also prohibit the issuance of a pharmacy technician license until the applicant is eligible to take the examination again.

Proposed amendments to Section 1723.1 eliminates references to the exemptee examination which is no longer required for licensure as an exemptee.

Proposed amendments to Section 1724 change the standard of passage for the pharmacist licensure examination.

Proposed amendments to Section 1749 are designed to eliminate obsolete fee provisions and to incorporate the fees for pharmacy technicians into this section.

Proposed amendments to Section 1793 eliminate obsolete language.

Proposed amendments to Section 1793.1 Section eliminate obsolete language and delete language that is incorporated elsewhere in a modest reorganization of pharmacy technician provisions.

Proposed amendments to Section 1793.2 eliminates language that is duplicative of language in existing statute.

Proposed repeal of Section 1793.4 eliminates provisions that are inconsistent with the qualifications for licensure as a pharmacy technician by Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003).

Proposed amendments to Section 1793.5 are designed to conform pharmacy technician application requirements to changes imposed by Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003) and to eliminate language that duplicates existing statutory provisions.

Proposed amendments to Section 1793.6 delete a requirement that training hours for pharmacy technicians be evenly split between theoretical and practical training.

Proposed amendments to Section 1793.7 eliminates language that that duplicates existing statutory provisions and to incorporate language deleted in other sections by this proposal as a modest reorganization of pharmacy technician provisions.

#### Factual Basis/Rationale

##### Section 1710

This proposal will increase the time hospital pharmacists can allocate to providing clinical and drug therapy management services by reducing the time that hospital pharmacists devote to dispensing activities. The proposal will also provide small, rural hospitals that do not have a full-time pharmacy service to increase patient safety and drug therapy management by subjecting medication orders to review by a pharmacist.

##### Section 1711

Existing regulations could be interpreted to require the redundant notification of patients and prescribers when a medication error occurs. The same regulations could also be interpreted to require patient notification of in a manner that inappropriately disrupts patient care. The proposed amendments preserve the patient notification requirement while providing practitioners with the flexibility to make that notification in the most appropriate and effective manner.

##### Section 1717.1

The proposed changes clearly establish a pharmacy's obligation to protect the confidentiality of patient medical information in common electronic prescription files. Such files provide patients with greater flexibility in the locations at which they can have their prescriptions filled but, absent adequate policies and procedures, could subject confidential patient information to unauthorized disclosure. The proposed language requires pharmacies to take affirmative steps to preserve patient privacy.

##### Section 1717.4

The proposed changes are designed to reduce the filling of fraudulent prescriptions. The question of a prescription's authenticity has been highlighted by the advent of electronic prescription systems, but the question of a prescription's authenticity is valid for all the different forms that a prescription may take. The proposed amendment would make the authenticity of a prescription and personal and professional obligation, thereby increasing the integrity of the prescribing process.

#### Section 1720

The proposed changes are designed to conform existing board processes to the examination changes established by Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003). The new examination is offered continuously thereby eliminating the need for application cut-off dates. The proposed amendments also shorten the period of time to take the examination after applying and the time allowed to pay the licensure fee after qualifying for a pharmacist license to streamline board operations.

#### Section 1721

The proposed changes increase the penalties for dishonest conduct related to the pharmacist licensure examination. The new examination will be offered continuously on a nationwide basis which will provide more opportunities for violations of exam security which will be balanced by the more severe penalties.

#### Section 1723.1

The proposed changes eliminate reference to the exemptee examination because the board no longer requires an exemptee applicant to pass an examination to receive a license.

#### Section 1724

The proposed changes are designed to reflect the methodology for establishing passing grades used by the pharmacist licensure examination in accordance with accepted testing standards.

#### Section 1749

The proposed changes eliminate obsolete fees and incorporate fees for licensure as a pharmacy technician. Previously, the fee for pharmacy interns was included in Section 1793.5.

#### Section 1793

The proposed changes are technical in nature and intended to make the section easier to read.

#### Section 1793.1

The proposed changes are technical in nature and reflect a modest reorganization of provisions related to pharmacy technicians.

#### Section 1793.2

The proposed changes eliminate language that duplicates provisions in existing statute.

#### Section 1793.4

This section is repealed because Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003) establishes the requirements for licensure as a pharmacy technician.

#### Section 1793.5

The proposed changes are designed to conform existing board processes to changes related to pharmacy technicians established by Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003).

#### Section 1793.6

The proposed changes are designed to provide greater flexibility to the design of pharmacy technician training programs. This flexibility will allow training programs to be composed of theoretical and practical training in proportions that best prepare pharmacy technician trainees. The change will also streamline the processing of pharmacy technician applications received from graduates of technician training programs.

#### Section 1793.7

The proposed changes are technical in nature and reflect a modest reorganization of provisions related to pharmacy technicians.

#### Underlying Data

None.

#### Business Impact

This regulation will not have a significant adverse economic impact on businesses. This initial determination is based on the absence of testimony indicating adverse economic impact regarding these rulemaking proposals at the informational hearings held by the board.

#### Specific Technologies or Equipment

This regulation does not mandate the use of specific technologies or equipment.

#### Consideration of Alternatives

No reasonable alternative to the regulation would be either more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed or would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposed regulation.

## TITLE 16. Board of Pharmacy

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board of Pharmacy is proposing to take the action described in the Informative Digest. Any person interested may present statements or arguments relevant to the action proposed in writing. Written comments, including those sent by mail, facsimile, or e-mail to the addresses listed under Contact Person in this Notice, must be received by the Board of Pharmacy at its office not later than 5:00 p.m. on March 29, 2004.

The board does not intend to hold a hearing in this matter. If any interested party wishes that a hearing be held, he or she must make the request in writing to the board. The request must be received in the board office not later than 5 p.m. on March 15, 2004.

The Board of Pharmacy, upon its own motion or at the instance of any interested party, may thereafter adopt the proposals substantially as described below or may modify such proposals if such modifications are sufficiently related to the original text. With the exception of technical or grammatical changes, the full text of any modified proposal will be available for 15 days prior to its adoption from the person designated in this Notice as contact person and will be mailed to those persons who submit written or oral testimony related to this proposal or who have requested notification of any changes to the proposal.

Authority and Reference: Pursuant to the authority vested by Sections 163.5, 851, 4005, 4007, 4038, 4075, 4114, 4115, and 4202 of the Business and Professions Code and to implement, interpret or make specific Sections 4005, 4007, 4019, 4027, 4029, 4038, 4040, 4050, 4051, 4052, 4071, 4072, 4075, 4112, 4114, 4115, 4116, 4117, 4120, 4125, 4196, 4200, 4202, 4400, 4401, and 4403 of the Business and Professions Code, Section 11150 et seq. of the Health and Safety Code, and Sections 56.10 and 56.11 of the Civil Code, the Board of Pharmacy is considering changes to Division 17 of Title 16 of the California Code of Regulations as follows:

### INFORMATIVE DIGEST/POLICY STATEMENT OVERVIEW

Section 163.5 of the Business and Professions Code authorizes specifies that delinquency fees for licenses issued by an agency within the Department of Consumer Affairs shall be fifty percent of the renewal fee.

Section 851 of the Business and Professions Code permits licensing boards within the Department of Consumer Affairs to require applicants to meet the standards of a private voluntary society or association.

Section 4005 of the Business and Professions Code authorizes the board to adopt rules and regulations for the protection of the public including the following:

- For the proper and more effective enforcement and administration of the Pharmacy Law
- Pertaining to the practice of pharmacy
- Pertaining to establishments wherein any drug or device is compounded, prepared, furnished, or dispensed
- Providing for standards of minimum equipment for establishments licensed under this chapter

Section 4007 prohibits the board from adopting a regulation requiring a pharmacist from performing any duty that does not require a pharmacist's training.

Section 4019 of the Business and Professions Code defines "order" and specifies the care settings in which orders may be used to dispense or administer dangerous drugs or dangerous devices.

Section 4027 of the Business and Professions Code defines "licensed health care facility."

Section 4029 of the Business and Professions Code defines "hospital pharmacy."

Section 4038 of the Business and Professions Code defines "pharmacy technician."

Section 4040 of the Business and Professions Code defines "prescription."

Section 4050 of the Business and Professions Code declares the practice of pharmacy to be a profession.

Section 4051 of the Business and Professions Code prohibits the practice of pharmacy without a license.

Section 4052 of the Business and Professions Code specifies those professional services that a pharmacist may provide.

Section 4071 of the Business and Professions Code permits prescribers to authorize their agents to transmit prescriptions.

Section 4072 of the Business and Professions Code permits specified healing arts licentiates to transmit prescriptions authorized by a prescriber in specified care settings.

Section 4075 of the Business and Professions Code permits the board to adopt regulations designed to prevent the unauthorized furnishing of drugs.

Section 4112 of the Business and Professions Code requires non-resident pharmacies to register with the Board of Pharmacy.

Section 4114 of the Business and Professions Code permits the board to adopt regulations governing the activities of pharmacy interns.

Section 4115 of the Business and Professions Code specifies the activities that may be performed by a pharmacy technician.

Section 4116 of the Business and Professions Code specifies who may enter a pharmacy and grants the board authority to adopt regulations requiring security measures in pharmacies.

Section 4117 of the Business and Professions Code restricts access to a hospital pharmacy to certain personnel.

Section 4120 of the Business and Professions Code requires drug wholesalers to obtain a license from the Board of Pharmacy and makes declarations regarding non-resident pharmacies.

Section 4125 of the Business and Professions Code requires pharmacies to develop and implement quality assurance programs to reduce medication errors.

Section 4196 of the Business and Professions Code requires veterinary food-animal drug retailers to be licensed by the board.

Section 4200 of the Business and Professions Code specifies the requirements to become licensed as a pharmacist.

Section 4202 of the Business and Professions Code specifies the requirements to become licensed as a pharmacy technician.

Section 4400 of the Business and Professions Code specifies the fees for various licenses issued by the Board of Pharmacy.

Section 4401 of the Business and Professions Code requires pharmacists to renew their licenses every two years.

Section 4403 of the Business and Professions Code prohibits the board from specifies the requirements to become licensed as a pharmacist.

Section 11150 et seq. of the Health and Safety Code regulates the use and distribution of controlled substances.

Section 56.10 of the Civil Code requires patient consent prior to the disclosure of confidential medical information and establishes specific exceptions to that consent requirement.

Section 56.11 of the Civil Code establishes minimum standards for valid consent to disclose confidential medical information.

#### 1. Amend Section 1710

This proposal would permit hospital pharmacies to contract with other pharmacies to perform the centralized filling of drug orders dispensed in individual patient cassettes.

#### 2. Amend Section 1711

This proposal would require a pharmacist must notify the patient or prescriber of a medication only when the patient took the drug or the error results in a clinically significant delay in therapy.

#### 3. Amend Section 1717.1

This proposal would require pharmacies employing a common electronic file for prescription information to adopt policies and procedures to ensure that confidential medical information is only disclosed as permitted by the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Civil Code Section 56 et

seq.).

4. Amend Section 1717.4

This proposal would require that any person who transmits, maintains or receives a prescription ensure the prescription's authenticity.

5. Amend Section 1720

This proposal shortens the time a pharmacist applicant has to pay the required fee for licensure and specifies that applicants are responsible for compliance with requirements established by the administrators of the pharmacist licensure examination. This proposal also requires applicants for the pharmacist licensure examination to take the examination within one year of being determined to be eligible.

6. Amend Section 1721

This proposal increases the penalties for cheating on the pharmacist licensure examination.

7. Amend Section 1723.1

This proposal eliminates reference to the exemptee examination which is no longer required for an exemptee license.

8. Amend Section 1724

This proposal revises the passing score on the pharmacist licensure exam to reflect changes made by Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003).

9. Amend Section 1749

This proposal would incorporate fee provisions for pharmacy technicians that are deleted from Section 1793.5 in this proposed rulemaking, conform the pharmacist application fee to changes in Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003), deletes an obsolete reference to medical device retailers, and makes a number of technical and clarifying changes.

10. Amend Section 1793

This proposal makes technical and clarifying changes to this section.

11. Amend Section 1793.1

This proposal eliminates language incorporated in Section 1793.7 by this proposal, deletes a provision that is unnecessary, and makes technical and clarifying changes.

12. Amend Section 1793.2

This proposal eliminates language that is duplicative of existing statute.

13. Repeal Section 1793.4

This proposal repeals this section as it is preempted by the passage of Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003) which specifies the qualifications for a pharmacy technician license in statute.

14. Amend Section 1793.5

This proposal amends the application requirements for a pharmacy technician to conform with changes made by Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003).

15. Amend Section 1793.6

This proposal amends pharmacy technician training program requirements to conform with changes made by Senate Bill 361 (Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003).

16. Amend Section 1793.7

This proposal eliminates provisions of the regulation that are duplicative of statutory provisions and incorporates a provision removed from Section 1793.1.

FISCAL IMPACT ESTIMATES

Fiscal Impact on Public Agencies Including Costs or Savings to State Agencies or Costs/Savings in Federal Funding to the State: None.

Nondiscretionary Costs/Savings to Local Agencies: None.

Local Mandate: None

Cost to Any Local Agency or School District for Which Government Code Section 17561 Requires Reimbursement: None

Business Impact:

The board has made an initial determination that the proposed regulatory action would have no significant statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business, including the ability of California businesses to compete with businesses in other states.

Impact on Jobs/New Businesses:

The Board of Pharmacy has determined that this regulatory proposal will not have a significant impact on the creation of jobs or new businesses or the elimination of jobs or existing businesses or the expansion of businesses in the State of California.

Cost Impact on Representative Private Person or Business:

The Board of Pharmacy is not aware of any cost impacts that a representative private person or business would necessarily incur in reasonable compliance with the proposed action.

Effect on Housing Costs: None

#### EFFECT ON SMALL BUSINESS

The Board of Pharmacy has determined that the proposed regulations would not adversely affect small businesses. The proposed regulations provide greater flexibility to pharmacies and streamline application processes for certain license classifications.

#### CONSIDERATION OF ALTERNATIVES

The Board of Pharmacy must determine that no reasonable alternative it considered to the regulation or that has otherwise been identified and brought to its attention would either be more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed or would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposal described in this Notice.

Any interested person may present statements or arguments orally or in writing relevant to the above determinations at the above-mentioned hearing.

#### INITIAL STATEMENT OF REASONS AND INFORMATION

The Board of Pharmacy has prepared an initial statement of the reasons for the proposed action and has available all the information upon which the proposal is based.

#### TEXT OF PROPOSAL

Copies of the exact language of the proposed regulations and of the initial statement of reasons, and all of the information upon which the proposal is based, may be obtained at the hearing or prior to the hearing upon request from the Board of Pharmacy at 400 R Street, Suite 4070, Sacramento, California 95814, or from the Board of Pharmacy website ([www.pharmacy.ca.gov](http://www.pharmacy.ca.gov)).

#### AVAILABILITY AND LOCATION OF THE FINAL STATEMENT OF REASONS AND RULEMAKING FILE

All the information upon which the proposed regulations are based is contained in the rulemaking file which is available for public inspection by contacting the person named below.

You may obtain a copy of the final statement of reasons once it has been prepared, by making a written request to the contact person named below or by accessing the website listed below.

#### CONTACT PERSON

Any inquiries or comments concerning the proposed rulemaking action may be addressed to:

Name: Paul Riches  
Address: 400 R Street, Suite 4070  
Sacramento, CA 95814  
Telephone No.: (916) 445-5014 x 4016  
Fax No.: (916) 327-6308  
E-Mail Address: Paul\_Riches@dca.ca.gov

The backup contact person is:

Name: Virginia Herold  
Address: 400 R Street, Suite 4070  
Sacramento, CA 95814  
Telephone No.: (916) 445-5014 x4005  
Fax No.: (916) 327-6308  
E-Mail Address: Virginia\_Herold@dca.ca.gov

Website Access: Materials regarding this proposal can be found at [www.pharmacy.ca.gov](http://www.pharmacy.ca.gov).

**Blank**

**Board of Pharmacy  
Proposed Amendments  
Title 16, Part 17**

**Amend Section 1710:**

1710. ~~Inpatient~~ Hospital Pharmacy.

(a) For purposes of Business and Professions Code Section 4111, an inpatient hospital pharmacy is a hospital pharmacy pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section 4029 which solely or predominantly furnishes drugs to inpatients of that hospital. A hospital pharmacy which predominantly furnishes drugs to inpatients of that hospital may furnish drugs to outpatients or employees of that hospital or to walk-in customers, provided that sales to walk-in customers do not exceed one (1) percent of all the pharmacy's prescriptions.

(b) A hospital pharmacy may process an order for filling patient cassettes by another pharmacy within this state, provided:

- (1) The pharmacy that is to fill the cassettes either has a contract with the ordering hospital pharmacy or has the same owner as the ordering inpatient hospital pharmacy.
- (2) The filled cassette is delivered directly from the filling pharmacy to the ordering hospital pharmacy.
- (3) Each cassette or container meets the requirements of Business and Professions Code section 4076.
- (4) Both pharmacies are responsible for ensuring that the order has been properly filled.
- (5) Both pharmacies shall maintain complete and accurate records of each cassette fill transaction, including the name of the pharmacist checking the cassettes at each pharmacy.
- (6) Prescription information shall be electronically transferred between the two pharmacies.

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 4005, 4029, 4111, 4118 and 4380, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1711:**

1711. Quality Assurance Programs.

(a) Each pharmacy shall establish or participate in an established quality assurance program which documents and assesses medication errors to determine cause and an appropriate response as part of a mission to improve the quality of pharmacy service and prevent errors.

(b) For purposes of this section, "medication error" means any variation from a prescription or drug order not authorized by the prescriber, as described in Section 1716. Medication error, as defined in the section, does not include any variation that is corrected prior to furnishing the drug to the patient or patient's agent or any variation allowed by law.

~~(c) Each quality assurance program shall be managed in accordance with written policies and procedures maintained in the pharmacy in an immediately retrievable form. Unless the pharmacist has already been notified of a medication error by the prescriber or the patient, the pharmacist shall immediately communicate to the patient and the prescriber the fact that a medication error has occurred and the steps required to avoid injury or mitigate the error.~~

(c) (1) Each quality assurance program shall be managed in accordance with written policies and procedures maintained in the pharmacy in an immediately retrievable form.

(2) When a pharmacist determines that a medication error has occurred, a pharmacist shall as soon as possible:

(A) Communicate to the patient or the patient's agent the fact that a medication error has occurred and the steps required to avoid injury or mitigate the error.

(B) Communicate to the prescriber the fact that a medication error has occurred.

(3) The communication requirement in paragraph (2) of this subdivision shall only apply to medication errors if the drug was administered to or by the patient, or if the medication error resulted in a clinically significant delay in therapy.

(4) If a pharmacist is notified of a prescription error by the patient, the patient's agent, or a prescriber, the pharmacist is not required to communicate with that individual as required in paragraph (2) of this subdivision.

(d) Each pharmacy shall use the findings of its quality assurance program to develop pharmacy systems and workflow processes designed to prevent medication errors. An investigation of each medication error shall commence as soon as is reasonably possible, but no later than 2 business days from the date the medication error is discovered. All medication errors discovered shall be subject to a quality assurance review.

(e) The primary purpose of the quality assurance review shall be to advance error prevention by analyzing, individually and collectively, investigative and other pertinent data collected in response to a medication error to assess the cause and any contributing factors such as system or process failures. A record of the quality assurance review shall be immediately retrievable in the pharmacy. The record shall contain at least the following:

1. the date, location, and participants in the quality assurance review;
2. the pertinent data and other information relating to the medication error(s) reviewed and documentation of any patient contact required by subdivision (c);
3. the findings and determinations generated by the quality assurance review; and,
4. recommend changes to pharmacy policy, procedure, systems, or processes, if any.

The pharmacy shall inform pharmacy personnel of changes to pharmacy policy, procedure, systems, or processes made as a result of recommendations generated in the quality assurance program.

(f) The record of the quality assurance review, as provided in subdivision (e) shall be immediately retrievable in the pharmacy for at least one year from the date the record was created.

(g) The pharmacy's compliance with this section will be considered by the board as a mitigating factor in the investigation and evaluation of a medication error.

(h) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent a pharmacy from contracting or otherwise arranging for the provision of personnel or other resources, by a third party or administrative offices, with such skill or expertise as the pharmacy believes to be necessary to satisfy the requirements of this section.

~~(i) This section shall become operative on January 14, 2002.~~

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code; and Section 2 of Chapter 677, Statutes of 2000. Reference: Section 4125, Business and Professions Code.

### **Amend Section 1717.1:**

1717.1. Common Electronic Files.

(a) For dangerous drugs other than controlled substances: Two or more pharmacies may establish and use a common electronic file to maintain required dispensing information. Pharmacies using

such a common file are not required to transfer prescriptions or information for dispensing purposes between or among pharmacies participating in the same common prescription file.

(b) For controlled substances: To the extent permitted by Federal law, two or more pharmacies may establish and use a common electronic file of prescriptions and dispensing information.

(c) All common electronic files must contain complete and accurate records of each prescription and refill dispensed.

(d) Common electronic files as authorized by this section shall not permit disclosure of confidential medical information except as authorized by the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Civil Code 56 et seq.).

(e) Pharmacies maintaining a common electronic file authorized by this section shall develop and implement written policies and procedures designed to prevent the unauthorized disclosure of confidential medical information.

Authority cited: Sections 4005, 4075 and 4114, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 4005, 4019, 4027, 4050, 4051, 4052, 4075, 4114, 4116 and 4117, Business and Professions Code and Sections 56.10 and 56.11 of the Civil Code.

#### **Amend Section 1717.4:**

##### 1717.4. Electronic Transmission of Prescriptions.

(a) Except as otherwise prohibited by law, prescriptions may be transmitted by electronic means from the prescriber to the pharmacy.

(b) An electronically transmitted prescription which meets the requirements of this regulation shall be deemed to be a prescription within the meaning of Business and Professions Code section 4040.

(c) An electronically transmitted prescription order shall include the name and address of the prescriber, a telephone number for oral confirmation, date of transmission and the identity of the recipient, as well as any other information required by federal or state law or regulations. The prescriber's address, license classification and federal registry number may be omitted if they are on file and readily retrievable in the receiving pharmacy.

(d) An "interim storage device" means an electronic file into which a prescription is entered for later retrieval by an authorized individual. Any interim storage device shall, in addition to the above information, record and maintain the date of entry and/or receipt of the prescription order, date of transmission from the interim storage device and identity of the recipient of such transmission. The interim storage device shall be maintained so as to ensure against unauthorized access and use of prescription information, including dispensing information.

(e) A pharmacy receiving an electronic image transmission prescription shall either receive the prescription in hard copy form or have the capacity to retrieve a hard copy facsimile of the prescription from the pharmacy's computer memory. Any hard copy of a prescription shall be maintained on paper of permanent quality.

(f) An electronically transmitted prescription shall be transmitted only to the pharmacy of the patient's choice. This requirement shall not apply to orders for medications to be administered in an acute care hospital.

(g) Electronic equipment for transmitting prescriptions (or electronic transmittal technology) shall not be supplied or used so as to violate or circumvent Business and Professions Code section 4000 et seq., Health and Safety Code section 11150 et seq., or any regulations of the board.

(h) Any person who transmits, maintains or receives any prescription or prescription refill, orally, in writing or electronically, shall ensure the security, integrity, authenticity, and

confidentiality of the prescription and any information contained therein.

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 4019, 4040, 4071, 4072 and 4075, Business and Professions Code; and Section 11150, et seq., Health and Safety Code.

**Amend Section 1720:**

1720. Application for Examination and ~~Registration~~ Licensure.

- (a) An application for ~~the pharmacist licensure~~ examination shall be submitted on the form provided by the ~~board~~ Board, and filed with the ~~board~~ Board at its office in Sacramento ~~at least (60) days before the date fixed for examination.~~
- (b) The fee required by section 1749, subdivision (d) ~~Section 1749(d)~~ shall be paid for each application for examination. The fee is nonrefundable.
- (c) An applicant who fails to pay the fee required by section 1749, subdivision (f) ~~Section 1749(f)~~ within ~~two years~~ one year after being notified by the ~~board~~ of his or her eligibility for a ~~certificate of registration license~~ as a pharmacist shall be deemed to have abandoned the application and must file a new application and meet all of the requirements which are in effect at the time of reapplication, ~~including retaking of the examination.~~
- (d) Each applicant shall be solely responsible for applying to and complying with the requirements imposed by the administrators of the North American Pharmacist Licensure Examination and the Multi-State Pharmacy Jurisprudence Examination for California for the administration of those examinations.
- (e) An applicant for examination whose eligibility is based on the provisions of Business and Professions Code Section 4200(a)(2)(b) and who ~~does not~~ fails to take the examination within five years one year of the date ~~the applicant is determined by the board to be eligible to take the examination of filing the application~~ shall be deemed to have abandoned the application and must file a new application in compliance with all of the requirements which are in effect at the time of reapplication.

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 4200, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1721:**

1721. Dishonest Conduct During Examination.

An applicant for ~~registration~~ examination as a pharmacist who engages in dishonest conduct during the examination shall not have ~~his or her~~ that examination graded, ~~and shall be denied the opportunity to take the examination at its next administration~~ not be approved to take the examination for twelve months from the date of the incident, and shall surrender his or her intern card until ~~such time as he or she takes the licensure~~ eligible to take the examination. The applicant may not be issued a pharmacy technician license until the applicant is again eligible to take the examination.

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 4200, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1723.1:**

1723.1. Confidentiality of Examination Questions.

~~Board of Pharmacy~~ Examination questions are confidential, ~~and any~~ Any applicant for any license, ~~permit or exemption certificate~~ issued by the ~~Board~~ board who removes all or part of any qualifying examination from the examination room or area, or who conveys or exposes all or part of any qualifying examination to any other person may be disqualified as a candidate for ~~the a~~ a license, ~~permit or exemption certificate~~ for which the applicant applies.

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections ~~4059-123~~ and ~~496 4200~~, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1724:**

1724. Passing Grade in Examination.

~~The pharmacist licensure examination consists of two sections, multiple choice and essay, both of which must be passed by achieving a score of 75 or more on each section. A candidate failing the multiple choice section shall be given a failing grade for the entire examination without regard to the performance on the essay section.~~

In order to pass the examination, an applicant shall be required to obtain a passing score as determined by a criterion-referenced method of establishing the passing point on each part of the examination.

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 4200, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1749 as follows:**

1749. Fee Schedule.

~~Effective July 1, 1999, the~~ The fees for the issuance and renewal of licenses, certificates, and permits, and the penalties to be assessed for failure to renew in accordance with Section 4400 of the Business and Professions Code are hereby fixed as follows:

- (a) The fee for the issuance of a permit to conduct a pharmacy is three hundred forty dollars (\$340). The fee for the annual renewal of said permit is one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175). The penalty for failure to renew is eighty-seven dollars and fifty cents (\$87.50).
- (b) The fee for the issuance of a temporary permit is one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175).
- ~~(c) The fee for processing remodeling plans and inspecting the remodeled area is one hundred thirty dollars (\$130).~~
- (c) The fee for the issuance of a pharmacy technician license shall be fifty dollars (\$50). The fee for the biennial renewal of a pharmacy technician license shall be fifty dollars (\$50). The penalty for failure to renew a pharmacy technician license is twenty-five dollars (\$25).
- (d) The fee for ~~an applicant for~~ application and examination as a pharmacist is one hundred fifty-five dollars (\$155).
- (e) The fee for regrading an examination is seventy-five dollars (\$75).

- (f) The fee for the issuance of an original ~~certificate of registration as a pharmacist~~ license is one hundred fifteen dollars (\$115).
- (g) The fee for the biennial renewal of a pharmacist's license is one hundred fifteen dollars (\$115). The penalty fee for failure to renew is fifty-seven dollars and fifty cents (\$57.50).
- (h) The fee for the issuance or renewal of a wholesaler's permit is five hundred fifty dollars (\$550). The penalty for failure to renew is one hundred fifty dollars (\$150).
- (i) The fee for the issuance or renewal of a hypodermic license is ninety dollars (\$90). The penalty for failure to renew is forty-five dollars (\$45).
- (j) The fees for a certificate of exemption under the provisions of sections 4053, 4054 and 4133 of the Business and Professions Code are as follows:
- (1) For the application and investigation ~~and examination~~ of the an-applicant, the fee is seventy-five dollars (\$75).
  - (2) For the issuance or renewal of an original certificate for an application approved by the board the fee is one hundred ten dollars (\$110). The penalty for failure to renew is fifty-five dollars (\$55).
- (k) The fee for the issuance or renewal of a license as an out-of-state manufacturer or wholesaler is five hundred fifty dollars (\$550). The penalty for failure to renew is one hundred fifty dollars (\$150).
- (l) The fee for registration as an intern pharmacist or extension of the registration is sixty-five dollars (\$65). The fee for transfer of intern hours or verification of licensure to another state is ten dollars (\$10).
- (m) The fee for the reissuance of any permit, license, certificate or renewal thereof, which has been lost, or destroyed or must be reissued because of name change, is thirty dollars (\$30). The fee for the reissuance of any permit, license, or certificate, or renewal thereof, which must be reissued because of change in the information, other than name change, is sixty dollars (\$60).
- (n) The fee for registration and annual renewal of providers of continuing education is one hundred dollars (\$100). The penalty for failure to renew is fifty dollars (\$50).
- (o) The fee for evaluation of continuing education courses for accreditation is forty dollars (\$40) for each hour of accreditation requested.
- (p) The fee for evaluation of an application submitted by a graduate of a foreign college of pharmacy or college of pharmacy not recognized by the board is one hundred sixty-five dollars (\$165).
- (q) The fee for the issuance of a clinic permit is three hundred forty dollars (\$340). The fee for the annual renewal of said permit is one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175). The penalty for failure to renew is eighty-seven dollars and fifty cents (\$87.50).
- ~~(r) The fee for the issuance of a permit for a medical device retailer is three hundred forty dollars (\$340). The fee for the annual renewal of said permit is one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175). The penalty for failure to renew is eighty-seven dollars and fifty cents (\$87.50).~~
- ~~(s) The fee for the issuance of a permit for a warehouse of a medical device retailer is one hundred seventy dollars (\$170). The fee for the annual renewal of said permit is eighty-seven dollars and fifty cents (\$87.50). The penalty for failure to renew is forty-three dollars and seventy-five cents (\$43.75).~~

Authority cited: Sections 163.5 and 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 163.5, 4005, 4110, 4112(h), 4120, ~~4130~~, 4196, 4200(c), 4400(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h), (i), (j), (k), (l), (m), (n), (o), (q), (r), (s), (t), (u), (v), (w), 4401 and 4403, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1793:**

1793. Definitions.

“Pharmacy technician” means an individual who, under the direct supervision and control of a ~~registered~~ pharmacist, performs packaging, manipulative, repetitive, or other nondiscretionary tasks related to the processing of a prescription in a ~~licensed~~ pharmacy, but who does not perform duties restricted to a ~~registered~~ pharmacist under section 1793.1.

Authority cited: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.  
Reference: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1793.1 as follows:**

1793.1. Duties of a ~~Registered~~ Pharmacist.

Only a ~~registered~~ pharmacist, or an intern pharmacist acting under the supervision of a ~~registered~~ pharmacist, may:

- (a) Receive a new prescription order orally from a prescriber or other person authorized by law.
- (b) Consult with a patient or his or her agent regarding a prescription, either prior to or after dispensing, or regarding any medical information contained in a patient medication record system or patient chart.
- (c) Identify, evaluate and interpret a prescription.
- (d) Interpret the clinical data in a patient medication record system or patient chart.
- (e) Consult with any prescriber, nurse or other health care professional or authorized agent thereof.
- (f) Supervise the packaging of drugs and check the packaging procedure and product upon completion.
- (g) ~~Be responsible for all activities of pharmacy technicians to ensure that all such activities are performed completely, safely and without risk of harm to patients.~~
- (h) ~~Perform any other duty which federal or state law or regulation authorizes only a registered pharmacist to perform.~~
- (i) Perform all functions which require professional judgment.

Authority cited: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.  
Reference: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1793.2 as follows:**

1793.2. Duties of a Pharmacy Technician.

~~Pharmacy technicians may perform packaging, manipulative, repetitive, or other nondiscretionary tasks, while assisting, and while under the direct supervision and control of, a registered pharmacist.~~

“Nondiscretionary tasks” as used in Business and Professions Code section 4115, include:

- (a) removing the drug or drugs from stock;

- (b) counting, pouring, or mixing pharmaceuticals;
- (c) placing the product into a container;
- (d) affixing the label or labels to the container;
- (e) packaging and repackaging.

Authority cited: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.  
 Reference: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.

**Repeal Section 1793.4:**

1793.4. Qualifications for Registration as a Pharmacy Technician.

~~Except for the preparation of prescriptions for an inpatient of a hospital or for an inmate of a correctional facility, no person shall act as a pharmacy technician without first being registered with the board. The board shall issue a certificate of registration to an applicant who has met any of the following requirements:~~

- ~~(a) Has obtained at least an associate of arts degree in one or more fields of study directly related to the duties performed by a pharmacy technician. Directly related fields of study include: health sciences, biological sciences, physical sciences, or natural sciences.~~
- ~~(b) Has successfully completed a training course specified by the board.~~
- ~~(c) Is eligible to take the board's pharmacist licensure examination.~~
- ~~(d) Has at least one year's experience, to include a minimum of 1,500 hours, performing the tasks specified in section 1793.2 while employed or utilized as a pharmacy technician to assist in the preparation of prescriptions for an inpatient of a hospital, for an inmate of a correctional facility, or other experience deemed equivalent by the board.~~
- ~~(e) A person possesses "experience deemed equivalent by the board" within the meaning of subdivision (d), if he or she has at least 1,500 hours of experience performing the duties specified in section 1793.3 in a pharmacy in the last three years, or has been employed for at least 1,500 hours as a pharmacy technician in another state or by the federal government.~~

Authority cited: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.  
 Reference: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1793.5:**

1793.5. Pharmacy Technician Application. ~~for Registration.~~

The application for ~~registration~~ (Form 17A-5 Rev. 9/94) as a pharmacy technician license required by this section is available from the Board of Pharmacy upon request.

- (a) Each application for registration as a pharmacy technician shall include:
  - (1) Information sufficient to identify the applicant.
  - (2) A description of the applicant's qualifications ~~qualifying experience or education~~, and supporting documentation for those qualifications ~~that experience or education~~. ~~Examples of supporting documentation shall include: a certificate of completion issued by the training course provider showing the date of issuance and the number of theoretical and practical hours completed, transcripts, or an experience affidavit (Form 17A-6 or 17A-9 Rev. 9/94) signed by the pharmacist having direct knowledge of the applicant's experience.~~

(3) A criminal background check that will require submission of fingerprints in a manner specified by the board ~~two completed fingerprint cards~~ and the fee authorized in Penal Code section 11105(e). In addition, a signed statement whether the applicant has ever been convicted of or pled no contest to a violation of any law of a foreign country, the United States, any state, or local ordinance.

~~(4) The registration fee shall be fifty dollars (\$50) effective July 1, 1995.~~

(b) The applicant shall sign the application under penalty of perjury and shall submit it to the Board of Pharmacy.

(c) The board shall notify the applicant within 30 days ~~whether if an~~ the application is ~~complete or~~ deficient; and what is needed to correct the deficiency. Once the application is complete, the board will notify the applicant within 60 days of a license permit decision.

(d) ~~Upon review and approval of the application, the board shall issue a certificate of registration as a pharmacy technician for at least one year.~~ Before expiration of the a pharmacy technician license initial certificate of registration, a pharmacy technician must renew ~~the~~ that license by payment of the fee specified in Section 1749, subdivision (c). ~~registration certificate with the board. Effective July 1, 1995, the fee is fifty dollars (\$50) and the penalty for failure to renew is twenty five dollars (\$25).~~

Authority cited: Sections 163.5, 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 163.5, 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1793.6 as follows:**

1793.6. Training Courses Specified by the Board.

A course of training that meets the requirements of Business and Professions Code section 4202 (a)(2) 1793.4(b) is:

(a) Any pharmacy technician training program accredited by the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists,

(b) Any pharmacy technician training program provided by a branch of the federal armed services for which the applicant possesses a certificate of completion, or

(c) Any other course that provides a training period of at least 240 hours of ~~theoretical and practical instruction covering at least the following;~~ ~~provided that at least 120 of these hours are in theoretical instruction in a curriculum that provides:~~

(1) Knowledge and understanding of different pharmacy practice settings.

(2) Knowledge and understanding of the duties and responsibilities of a pharmacy technician in relationship to other pharmacy personnel and knowledge of standards and ethics, laws and regulations governing the practice of pharmacy.

(3) Knowledge and ability to identify and employ pharmaceutical and medical terms, abbreviations and symbols commonly used in prescribing, dispensing and record keeping of medications.

(4) Knowledge of and the ability to carry out calculations required for common dosage determination, employing both the metric and apothecary systems.

(5) Knowledge and understanding of the identification of drugs, drug dosages, routes of administration, dosage forms and storage requirements.

(6) Knowledge of and ability to perform the manipulative and record-keeping functions involved in and related to dispensing prescriptions.

(7) Knowledge of and ability to perform procedures and techniques relating to manufacturing, packaging, and labeling of drug products.

Authority cited: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.  
Reference: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.

**Amend Section 1793.7 as follows:**

1793.7. Requirements for Pharmacies Employing Pharmacy Technicians.

~~(a) Any pharmacy which employs a pharmacy technician shall do so in compliance with applicable federal and state laws and regulations governing pharmacy.~~

~~(b)~~

(a) Any function performed by a pharmacy technician in connection with the dispensing of a prescription, including repackaging from bulk and storage of pharmaceuticals, must be verified and documented in writing by a pharmacist. Except for the preparation of prescriptions for an inpatient of a hospital and for an inmate of a correctional facility, the pharmacist shall indicate verification of the prescription by initialing the prescription label before the medication is provided to the patient.

~~(c)~~

(b) Pharmacy technicians must work under the direct supervision of a registered pharmacist and in such a relationship that the supervising pharmacist is on the premises at all times and is fully aware of all activities involved in the preparation and dispensing of medications, including the maintenance of appropriate records.

~~Except for the preparation of prescriptions for an inpatient of a hospital and for an inmate of a correctional facility, a pharmacy technician may perform the duties, as specified in subdivision 1793.2, only under the immediate, personal supervision and control of a registered pharmacist and within the pharmacist's view.~~

~~(d)~~

(c) A pharmacy technician must wear identification clearly identifying him or her as a pharmacy technician.

~~(e)~~

(d) Any pharmacy employing or using a pharmacy technician shall develop a job description and written policies and procedures adequate to ensure compliance with the provisions of Article 11 12 of this Chapter, and shall maintain, for at least three years from the time of making, records adequate to establish compliance with these sections and written policies and procedures.

(e) A pharmacist shall be responsible for all activities of pharmacy technicians to ensure that all such activities are performed completely, safely and without risk of harm to patients.

(f) For the preparation of a prescription for an inpatient of a licensed health facility and for a patient of a licensed home health agency, the ratio shall not be less than one pharmacist on duty for a total of two pharmacy technicians on duty. Pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 4115(g)(1), this ratio shall not apply to the preparation of a prescription for an inmate of a correctional facility of the Department of the Youth Authority or the Department of Corrections, or for a person receiving treatment in a facility operated by the State Department of Mental Health, the State Department of Developmental Services, or the Department of Veterans Affairs.

Authority cited: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.  
Reference: Sections 4005, 4007, 4038, 4115 and 4202, Business and Professions Code.

## **Board of Pharmacy**

### **Initial Statement of Reasons**

Subject Matter of Proposed Regulation: Pharmacist-In-Charge

Sections Affected: 1709.1

#### Specific Purpose of the Proposed Changes:

The Board of Pharmacy has proposed this amendment to Section 1709.1 to further clarify the role of the pharmacist-in-charge and to permit a pharmacist to serve as pharmacist-in-charge at two pharmacies.

#### Factual Basis/Rationale

The Pharmacy Law (Business and Professions Code Section 4000 et seq.) requires that each pharmacy designate a “pharmacist-in-charge” as a condition of the pharmacy license. The Pharmacy Law also specifies that the pharmacist-in-charge is responsible for assuring the operation of the pharmacy in compliance with state and federal laws governing pharmacies (Business and Professions Code Section 4113). However, existing board regulations do not require pharmacies to provide the pharmacist-in-charge with the authority needed to fulfill this statutory mandate. This proposed regulation would fill that void.

Existing Board of Pharmacy regulations (Section 1709.1) limit a pharmacist to acting as pharmacist-in-charge at a single pharmacy. The Board of Pharmacy has concluded that this regulation is overly restrictive and that a pharmacist could competently serve as a pharmacist-in-charge at two pharmacies in the same area. In the Board of Pharmacy’s judgment, two pharmacies located in reasonable proximity could be safely managed by a single pharmacist-in-charge. The Board of Pharmacy also concluded that the pharmacist should have the freedom to accept the designation as a pharmacist-in-charge without coercion and should be free from the threat of termination for that decision.

#### Underlying Data

None.

#### Business Impact

This regulation will not have a significant adverse economic impact on businesses. This initial determination is based on the absence of testimony indicating adverse economic impact regarding these rulemaking proposals at the informational hearings held by the board.

#### Specific Technologies or Equipment

This regulation does not mandate the use of specific technologies or equipment.

## Consideration of Alternatives

No reasonable alternative to the regulation would be either more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed or would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposed regulation.

## **TITLE 16. Board of Pharmacy**

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board of Pharmacy is proposing to take the action described in the Informative Digest. Any person interested may present statements or arguments relevant to the action proposed in writing. Written comments, including those sent by mail, facsimile, or e-mail to the addresses listed under Contact Person in this Notice, must be received by the Board of Pharmacy at its office not later than 5:00 p.m. on April 5, 2004.

Any person interested may present statements or arguments orally or in writing relevant to the action proposed at a hearing to be held at the Department of Consumer Affairs, 400 R Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 at 1:30 p.m. on April 21, 2004.

The Board of Pharmacy, upon its own motion or at the instance of any interested party, may thereafter adopt the proposals substantially as described below or may modify such proposals if such modifications are sufficiently related to the original text. With the exception of technical or grammatical changes, the full text of any modified proposal will be available for 15 days prior to its adoption from the person designated in this Notice as contact person and will be mailed to those persons who submit written or oral testimony related to this proposal or who have requested notification of any changes to the proposal.

Authority and Reference: Pursuant to the authority vested by Section 4005 of the Business and Professions Code and to implement, interpret or make specific Sections 4081, 4113, 4305, 4330, 4331 and 4332 of the Business and Professions Code the Board of Pharmacy is considering changes to Division 17 of Title 16 of the California Code of Regulations as follows:

### INFORMATIVE DIGEST/POLICY STATEMENT OVERVIEW

Section 4005 of the Business and Professions Code grants the Board of Pharmacy authority to adopt regulations relating to the practice of pharmacy.

Section 4081 of the Business and Professions Code specifies that the pharmacy owner and the pharmacist-in-charge are jointly responsible for maintaining records relating to the acquisition and disposition of dangerous drugs and dangerous devices and maintaining a current inventory of dangerous drugs and dangerous devices for three years. This section also specifies that both the pharmacy owner and the pharmacist-in-charge are jointly responsible for making these records available to authorized officers of the law.

Section 4113 of the Business and Professions Code requires each pharmacy to designate a pharmacist as "pharmacist-in-charge" and to notify the Board of Pharmacy of that designation within 30 days. This section also specifies that the pharmacist-in-charge is responsible for the pharmacy's compliance with state and federal law. This section also requires each pharmacy to notify the board within 30 days when a pharmacist ceases to be the pharmacist-in-charge.

Section 4305 of the Business and Professions Code specifies that failure to notify the Board of Pharmacy of the termination of a pharmacist-in-charge within 30 days is grounds for disciplinary action. This section also specifies a pharmacy that willfully fails to notify the board of the termination of a pharmacist-in-charge and permits the continued operation of the pharmacy without

a pharmacist-in-charge is subject to summary suspension or revocation of the pharmacy license. This section also specifies that a pharmacist's failure to notify the board of their hiring or firing as pharmacist-in-charge within 30 days is grounds for disciplinary action.

Section 4330 specifies that a pharmacy that fails to designate a pharmacist-in-charge is guilty of a misdemeanor. This section also specifies that a non-pharmacist owner of a pharmacy who interferes with a pharmacist-in-charge's efforts to lawfully operate a pharmacy is guilty of a misdemeanor.

Section 1709.1 of Title 16 of the California Code of Regulations does the following:

1. Requires the pharmacist-in-charge to be employed at the pharmacy and be responsible for its daily operation.
2. Prohibits a pharmacist from acting pharmacist-in-charge at a more than one pharmacy.
3. Prohibits a pharmacist from acting as a pharmacist-in-charge in a pharmacy and a wholesaler, medical device retailer, or veterinary food-animal drug retailer.
4. Permits a pharmacy to designate an interim pharmacist-in-charge who does not work at that pharmacy.
5. Prohibits an interim pharmacist-in-charge to serve for more than 120 days.

This notice proposed to amend Section 1709.1 as follows:

1. Require a pharmacy owner to vest the pharmacist-in-charge with sufficient authority to allow the pharmacist-in-charge to comply with the law.
2. Permit a pharmacist to serve as pharmacist-in-charge at two pharmacies located within 50 miles of each other.
3. Permit a pharmacist to decline to serve as pharmacist-in-charge at a second pharmacy under specified circumstances.
4. Prohibit a pharmacy from disciplining a pharmacist who declines to serve as a pharmacist-in-charge at a second pharmacy.

The Board of Pharmacy has proposed this amendment to Section 1709.1 to further clarify the role of the pharmacist-in-charge and to permit a pharmacist to serve as pharmacist-in-charge at two pharmacies.

#### FISCAL IMPACT ESTIMATES

Fiscal Impact on Public Agencies Including Costs or Savings to State Agencies or Costs/Savings in Federal Funding to the State: None.

Nondiscretionary Costs/Savings to Local Agencies: None.

Local Mandate: None

Cost to Any Local Agency or School District for Which Government Code Section 17561 Requires Reimbursement: None

Business Impact:

The board has made an initial determination that the proposed regulatory action

would have no significant statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business, including the ability of California businesses to compete with businesses in other states.

Impact on Jobs/New Businesses:

The Board of Pharmacy has determined that this regulatory proposal will not have a significant impact on the creation of jobs or new businesses or the elimination of jobs or existing businesses or the expansion of businesses in the State of California.

Cost Impact on Representative Private Person or Business:

The Board of Pharmacy is not aware of any cost impacts that a representative private person or business would necessarily incur in reasonable compliance with the proposed action.

Effect on Housing Costs: None

EEFFECT ON SMALL BUSINESS

The Board of Pharmacy has determined that the proposed regulations would not adversely affect small businesses. The Board of Pharmacy made this determination because the proposed regulation would provide pharmacies with more flexibility when designating the pharmacist-in-charge.

CONSIDERATION OF ALTERNATIVES

The Board of Pharmacy must determine that no reasonable alternative it considered to the regulation or that has otherwise been identified and brought to its attention would either be more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed or would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposal described in this Notice.

Any interested person may present statements or arguments orally or in writing relevant to the above determinations at the above-mentioned hearing.

INITIAL STATEMENT OF REASONS AND INFORMATION

The Board of Pharmacy has prepared an initial statement of the reasons for the proposed action and has available all the information upon which the proposal is based.

TEXT OF PROPOSAL

Copies of the exact language of the proposed regulations and of the initial statement of reasons, and all of the information upon which the proposal is based, may be obtained at the hearing or prior to the hearing upon request from the Board of Pharmacy at 400 R Street, Suite 4070, Sacramento, California 95814, or from the Board of Pharmacy website

([www.pharmacy.ca.gov](http://www.pharmacy.ca.gov)).

AVAILABILITY AND LOCATION OF THE FINAL STATEMENT OF REASONS AND RULEMAKING FILE

All the information upon which the proposed regulations are based is contained in the rulemaking file which is available for public inspection by contacting the person named below.

You may obtain a copy of the final statement of reasons once it has been prepared, by making a written request to the contact person named below or by accessing the website listed below.

CONTACT PERSON

Any inquiries or comments concerning the proposed rulemaking action may be addressed to:

Name:	Paul Riches
Address:	400 R Street, Suite 4070 Sacramento, CA 95814
Telephone No.:	(916) 445-5014 x 4016
Fax No.:	(916) 327-6308
E-Mail Address:	Paul_Riches@dca.ca.gov

The backup contact person is:

Name:	Virginia Herold
Address:	400 R Street, Suite 4070 Sacramento, CA 95814
Telephone No.:	(916) 445-5014 x4005
Fax No.:	(916) 327-6308
E-Mail Address:	Virginia_Herold@dca.ca.gov

Website Access: Materials regarding this proposal can be found at [www.pharmacy.ca.gov](http://www.pharmacy.ca.gov).

**Board of Pharmacy  
Pharmacist-In-Charge  
Amendments to Title 16, Section 1709.1**

**§1709.1. Designation of ~~Pharmacist in Charge.~~ Pharmacist-In-Charge.**

(a) The pharmacist-in-charge of a pharmacy shall be employed at that location and shall have responsibility for the daily operation of the pharmacy.

(b) The pharmacy owner shall vest the pharmacist-in-charge with adequate authority to assure compliance with the laws governing the operation of a pharmacy.

(c) No pharmacist shall be the pharmacist-in-charge of more than two pharmacies. If a pharmacist serves as pharmacist-in-charge at two pharmacies, those pharmacies shall not be separated by a driving distance of more than 50 miles. ~~one pharmacy, except that a pharmacist may serve as a pharmacist-in-charge for two pharmacies if (1) the pharmacist-in-charge is the only pharmacist at each pharmacy and (2) the pharmacies do not have overlapping hours of business.~~

(d) No pharmacist shall be the pharmacist-in-charge of a pharmacy while concurrently serving as the ~~exemptee-in-charge~~ sole pharmacist for a wholesaler, ~~a medical device retailer~~ or a veterinary food-animal drug retailer.

(e) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), A a pharmacy may, ~~on an interim basis,~~ designate as the ~~interim pharmacist in charge~~ any registered pharmacist who is an employee, officer or administrator of the pharmacy or the entity which owns the pharmacy and who is actively involved in the management of the pharmacy on a daily basis as the pharmacist-in-charge for a period not to exceed 120 days. ~~or in the practice of pharmacy at the pharmacy involved.~~ The pharmacy, or the entity which owns the pharmacy, shall be prepared during normal business hours to provide a representative of the board with documentation of the involvement of ~~a the~~ the interim-pharmacist-in-charge designated pursuant to this subdivision with the pharmacy and efforts to obtain and designate a permanent pharmacist-in-charge.

~~The interim basis shall not exceed 120 days.~~

(f) A pharmacist may refuse to act as a pharmacist-in-charge at a second pharmacy if the pharmacist determines, in the exercise of his or her professional judgment, that assuming responsibility for a second pharmacy would interfere with the effective performance of the pharmacist's responsibilities under the Pharmacy Law. A pharmacist who refuses to become pharmacist-in-charge at a second pharmacy shall notify the pharmacy owner in writing of his or her determination, specifying the circumstances of concern that have led to that determination.

(g) A person employing a pharmacist may not discharge, discipline, or otherwise discriminate against any pharmacist in the terms and conditions of employment for exercising or attempting to exercise in good faith the right established pursuant to this paragraph.

Authority cited: Section 4005, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 4081, 4113, 4305, and 4330, ~~4331 and 4332~~, Business and Professions Code.

**Blank**

## **Board of Pharmacy**

### **Initial Statement of Reasons**

Subject Matter of Proposed Regulation: Ancillary Personnel

Sections Affected: 1793.3

#### Specific Purpose of the Proposed Changes:

The Board of Pharmacy has proposed amendments to Section 1793.3 to provide pharmacies with greater staffing flexibility.

#### Factual Basis/Rationale

The rapid growth in prescription drug coverage over the last ten years has resulted in greater pharmacy workload associated with resolving third party payment conflicts and with increased prescription volume associated with the increased drug coverage. Existing regulations that limit the number of unlicensed ancillary personnel who are primarily employed to resolve such third party payment issues was adopted in 1992 prior to the growth in third party coverage and to handle the data entry workload associated with increased prescription volume. Removing the restriction on ancillary personnel will provide pharmacies with the staffing flexibility needed to provide more efficient service to customers without undermining consumer safety. Increased use of unlicensed ancillary personnel can free the pharmacist to focus on that work requiring a pharmacist's license.

#### Underlying Data

Excerpt from Trends and Indicators In The Changing Health Care Marketplace, 2002 published by the Kaiser Family Foundation.

“Consumers Face Higher Costs As Health Plans Seek to Control Drug Spending” an *Issue Brief* published by the Center for Studying Health System Change.

#### Business Impact

This regulation will not have a significant adverse economic impact on businesses. This initial determination is based on the absence of testimony indicating adverse economic impact regarding these rulemaking proposals at the informational hearings held by the board.

#### Specific Technologies or Equipment

This regulation does not mandate the use of specific technologies or equipment.

#### Consideration of Alternatives

No reasonable alternative to the regulation would be either more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed or would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposed regulation.

**Blank**

## TITLE 16. Board of Pharmacy

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board of Pharmacy is proposing to take the action described in the Informative Digest. Any person interested may present statements or arguments relevant to the action proposed in writing. Written comments, including those sent by mail, facsimile, or e-mail to the addresses listed under Contact Person in this Notice, must be received by the Board of Pharmacy at its office not later than 5:00 p.m. on April 5, 2004.

Any person interested may present statements or arguments orally or in writing relevant to the action proposed at a hearing to be held at the Department of Consumer Affairs, 400 R Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 at 2:00 p.m. on April 21, 2004.

The Board of Pharmacy, upon its own motion or at the instance of any interested party, may thereafter adopt the proposals substantially as described below or may modify such proposals if such modifications are sufficiently related to the original text. With the exception of technical or grammatical changes, the full text of any modified proposal will be available for 15 days prior to its adoption from the person designated in this Notice as contact person and will be mailed to those persons who submit written or oral testimony related to this proposal or who have requested notification of any changes to the proposal.

Authority and Reference: Pursuant to the authority vested by Sections of the Business and Professions Code Sections 4005 and 4007 and to implement, interpret or make specific Sections 4005 and 4007 of the Business and Professions Code, the Board of Pharmacy is considering changes to Division 17 of Title 16 of the California Code of Regulations as follows:

### INFORMATIVE DIGEST/POLICY STATEMENT OVERVIEW

Business and Professions Code Section 4005 authorizes the Board of Pharmacy to adopt regulations relating to the practice of pharmacy.

Business and Professions Code Section 4007 permits the Board of Pharmacy to adopt regulations relating to the supervision of ancillary personnel by a pharmacist.

Section 1793.3 allows a pharmacist to supervise a single unlicensed individual who can enter information into the pharmacy computer or prepare labels for dispensed prescriptions.

The proposed amendment to Section 1793.3 would permit a pharmacist to supervise that number of unlicensed individuals who enter information into the pharmacy computer or prepare labels that the pharmacist feels is appropriate. The proposed amendment also prohibits an employer from taking disciplinary action against the pharmacist for exercising their judgment regarding the number of unlicensed personnel to be employed in the pharmacy.

The Board of Pharmacy seeks to provide pharmacies greater flexibility in staffing to more effectively provide service to its customers.

### FISCAL IMPACT ESTIMATES

Fiscal Impact on Public Agencies Including Costs or Savings to State Agencies or Costs/Savings in Federal Funding to the State: None.

Nondiscretionary Costs/Savings to Local Agencies: None.

Local Mandate: None

Cost to Any Local Agency or School District for Which Government Code Section 17561 Requires Reimbursement: None

Business Impact:

The board has made an initial determination that the proposed regulatory action would have no significant statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business, including the ability of California businesses to compete with businesses in other states.

Impact on Jobs/New Businesses:

The Board of Pharmacy has determined that this regulatory proposal will not have a significant impact on the creation of jobs or new businesses or the elimination of jobs or existing businesses or the expansion of businesses in the State of California.

Cost Impact on Representative Private Person or Business:

The Board of Pharmacy is not aware of any cost impacts that a representative private person or business would necessarily incur in reasonable compliance with the proposed action.

Effect on Housing Costs: None

## EFFECT ON SMALL BUSINESS

The Board of Pharmacy has determined that the proposed regulations would not adversely affect small businesses. The Board of Pharmacy has made this determination because the proposed regulation would provide pharmacies with greater flexibility in pharmacy staffing.

## CONSIDERATION OF ALTERNATIVES

The Board of Pharmacy must determine that no reasonable alternative it considered to the regulation or that has otherwise been identified and brought to its attention would either be more effective in carrying out the purpose for which the action is proposed or would be as effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposal described in this Notice.

Any interested person may present statements or arguments orally or in writing relevant to the above determinations at the above-mentioned hearing.

## INITIAL STATEMENT OF REASONS AND INFORMATION

The Board of Pharmacy has prepared an initial statement of the reasons for the proposed action and has available all the information upon which the proposal is based.

## TEXT OF PROPOSAL

Copies of the exact language of the proposed regulations and of the initial statement of reasons, and all of the information upon which the proposal is based, may be obtained at the hearing or prior to the hearing upon request from the Board of Pharmacy at 400 R Street, Suite 4070, Sacramento, California 95814, or from the Board of Pharmacy website ([www.pharmacy.ca.gov](http://www.pharmacy.ca.gov)).

## AVAILABILITY AND LOCATION OF THE FINAL STATEMENT OF REASONS AND RULEMAKING FILE

All the information upon which the proposed regulations are based is contained in the rulemaking file which is available for public inspection by contacting the person named below.

You may obtain a copy of the final statement of reasons once it has been prepared, by making a written request to the contact person named below or by accessing the website listed below.

## CONTACT PERSON

Any inquiries or comments concerning the proposed rulemaking action may be addressed to:

Name:	Paul Riches
Address:	400 R Street, Suite 4070 Sacramento, CA 95814
Telephone No.:	(916) 445-5014 x 4016
Fax No.:	(916) 327-6308
E-Mail Address:	Paul_Riches@dca.ca.gov

The backup contact person is:

Name:	Virginia Herold
Address:	400 R Street, Suite 4070 Sacramento, CA 95814
Telephone No.:	(916) 445-5014 x4005
Fax No.:	(916) 327-6308
E-Mail Address:	Virginia_Herold@dca.ca.gov

Website Access: Materials regarding this proposal can be found at [www.pharmacy.ca.gov](http://www.pharmacy.ca.gov).

**Blank**

**Board of Pharmacy  
Ancillary Personnel  
Title 16, Section 1793.3**

**§1793.3. Other Non-Licensed Pharmacy Personnel.**

(a) In addition to employing a pharmacy technician to perform the tasks specified in section 1793.2, a pharmacy may employ a non-licensed person to type a prescription label or otherwise enter prescription information into a computer record system, but the responsibility for the accuracy of the prescription information and the prescription as dispensed lies with the registered pharmacist who initials the prescription or prescription record. At the direction of the registered pharmacist, a non-licensed person may also request and receive refill authorization. ~~There shall be no more than one non-licensed person, other than a pharmacy technician, performing the tasks specified in this section for each registered pharmacist on duty.~~

(b) A pharmacist may supervise the number of non-licensed personnel performing the duties specified in subdivision (a) that the pharmacist determines, in the exercise of his or her professional judgment, does not interfere with the effective performance of the pharmacist's responsibilities under the Pharmacy Law.

(c) A pharmacist who, exercising his or her professional judgment pursuant to subdivision (b), refuses to supervise the number of non-licensed personnel scheduled by the pharmacy, shall notify the pharmacist-in-charge in writing of his or her determination, specifying the circumstances of concern with respect to the pharmacy or the non-licensed personnel that have led to the determination, within a reasonable period, but not to exceed 24 hours, after the posting of the relevant schedule.

(d) No entity employing a pharmacist may discharge, discipline, or otherwise discriminate against any pharmacist in the terms and conditions of employment for exercising or attempting to exercise in good faith the right established pursuant to this section.

Authority cited: Sections 4005 and 4007, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 4005 and 4007, Business and Professions Code.

**Blank**

**Legislation and Regulation Committee**  
**Strategic Plan Update for March 2004**

<b>Goal 3:</b>	<b>Advocate legislation and promulgate regulations that advance the vision and mission of the Board of Pharmacy.</b>
<b>Outcome:</b>	<b>Improve the health and safety of Californians.</b>

<b>Objective 3.1:</b>	<b>Annually identify and respond with legislative changes to keep pharmacy laws current and consistent with the board's mission.</b>
<b>Measure:</b>	<b>100 percent successful enactment of promoted legislative changes</b>
<b>Tasks:</b>	<ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>1. Secure extension of board's sunset date.  <b>Completed 9/25/03 - Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003 (SB 361)</b></li> <li>2. Sponsor legislation to strengthen and update licensing requirements for pharmacy technicians.  <b>Completed 9/25/03 - Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003 (SB 361)</b></li> <li>3. Sponsor legislation to add enforcement options for non-compliance issues.  <b>Completed 9/25/03 - Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003 (SB 361)</b></li> <li>4. Sponsor legislation to update pharmacy law to standardize terminology regarding cancellation of licenses, waiving pharmacy law requirements during declared emergencies.  <b>Completed 9/25/03 - Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003 (SB 361)</b></li> <li>5. Advocate the board's role and its positions regarding pharmacists' care and dispensing of dangerous drugs and devices.  <u><b>Advocacy:</b></u> AB 1196, SB 151, SB 175, SB 361, SB 490, SB 545, SB 774  <u><b>Technical Assistance:</b></u> AB 262, AB 746, AB 1196, AB 1957, AB 2125, SB 151, SB 175, SB 292, SB 361, SB 490, SB 545, SB 774, SB 907, SB 1149</li> <li>6. Sponsor clean-up language to B &amp; P Code section 4312.  <b>Completed 9/25/03 - Chapter 539, Statutes of 2003 (SB 361)</b></li> <li>7. Sponsor public meetings 4 times a year to solicit comments on areas needing legislative changes.  <b>Public meetings held on March 27, 2003 and September 11, 2003.</b>  <b>Public meeting scheduled for March 30, 2004.</b></li> <li>8. Sponsor legislation to strengthen consumer protections in wholesale transactions.  <b>January 2004 - Board approved draft legislation.</b>  <b>February 2004 - SB 1307 introduced.</b></li> <li>9. Sponsor legislation to address licensing issues related to the UC Davis Veterinary Medical Teaching Hospital.</li> </ol>

July 2003 – Board approves draft language.

**Objective 3.2:** **Annually identify and respond with regulatory changes to keep pharmacy regulations current and consistent with the board's mission.**

**Measure:** **Percentage successful enactment of promoted regulatory changes**

**Tasks:**

1. Strengthen standards for compounding sterile injectable drug products.  
**In process. Rulemaking approved by board in October 2003.  
February 2004 – Rulemaking Submitted to OAL**
2. Authorize the executive officer the authority to issue citations and fines.  
**Completed. Regulation effective October 11, 2003.**
3. Eliminate the clerk typist ratio.  
**September 2003 - Informational hearing held.  
February 2004 – Rulemaking Notice Published.**
4. Allow pharmacists to be pharmacist-in-charge of two locations simultaneously.  
**September 2003 - Informational hearing held.  
February 2004 - Rulemaking Notice Published.**
5. Update pharmacy self-assessment form.
6. Allow central filling by hospital pharmacies.  
**September 2003 - Informational hearing held.  
February 2004 – Rulemaking Notice Published.**
7. Revise regulations concerning electronic prescribing to conform to AB 2245, and require that the pharmacist confirm the authenticity of any electronic prescription in which there is an uncertainty or ambiguity.  
**September 2003 - Informational hearing held.  
February 2004 – Rulemaking Notice Published.**
8. Modify patient notification provision of the quality assurance regulation to require notification only if the error results in the medication being administered to the patient or a clinically significant delay in therapy.  
**July 2003 – Informational hearing held.  
February 2004 – Rulemaking Notice Published.**
9. Require pharmacies using a common electronic file to adopt policies to ensure confidentiality of patient information.  
**September 2003 – Informational hearing held.  
February 2004 – Rulemaking Notice Published.**
10. Update pharmacy technician regulations to conform to SB 361.  
**September 2003 – Informational hearing held.  
February 2004 – Rulemaking Notice Published.**
11. Update pharmacist licensure regulations to conform to SB 361.

	<p><b>September 2003 – Informational hearing held.</b>  <b>February 2004 – Rulemaking Notice Published.</b></p> <p>12. Complete a Section 100 filing to clean up regulations in conformity with recent legislation.</p>
--	---

<b>Objective 3.3:</b>	<b>Review 5 areas of pharmacy law for relevancy, currency and value for consumer protection by June 30, 2005.</b>
<b>Measure:</b>	<b>Number of areas of pharmacy law reviewed</b>
<b>Tasks:</b>	<ol style="list-style-type: none"> <li>1. Evaluate electronic prescribing laws involving controlled substances.</li> <li>2. Evaluate the prescribing and dispensing of veterinary drugs.  <b>Completed – Chapter 250, Statutes of 2003 (SB 175)</b></li> <li>3. Evaluate group dispensing by prescribers.  <b>August 2003 - Draft legislation developed in concert with the Medical Board. Awaiting board action.</b></li> <li>4. Evaluate pharmacist intern statutes and regulations.  <b>December 2003 – Draft legislation and regulations prepared and presented to the Licensing Committee.</b>  <b>January 2004 – Draft legislation and regulations approved by the board.</b>  <b>February 2004 – Rulemaking noticed on approved regulations.</b>  <b>March 2004 – Statutory provisions introduced in SB 1913.</b></li> </ol>